
  
 

James Ellis 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services  

 

 
This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper 

 
  

 
 
 
MEETING : DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
VENUE : COUNCIL CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD 
DATE : WEDNESDAY 19 JUNE 2024 
TIME : 7.00 PM 
 

PLEASE NOTE TIME AND VENUE 
This meeting will be live streamed on the Council’s Youtube page: 
https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict  
 
MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE 
Councillor S Watson (Chair) 
Councillors R Buckmaster, V Burt, R Carter, S Copley, I Devonshire, 
J Dunlop, Y Estop, G Hill, A Holt, S Marlow and T Stowe 
 
Substitutes 

 
(Note:  Substitution arrangements must be notified by the absent Member 
to the Committee Chairman or the Executive Member for Planning and 
Growth, who, in turn, will notify the Committee service at least 7 hours 
before commencement of the meeting.) 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: PETER MANNINGS 
01279 502174 

PETER.MANNINGS@EASTHERTS.GOV.UK 
 

Conservative Group: Councillors S Bull and T Deffley 
Green: Councillors M Connolly and V Smith 
Liberal Democrat: Councillor M Adams  
Labour: Councillor C Redfern 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, sub-
committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the Authority, with a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to be considered or 
being considered at a meeting:

• must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting;

• must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 
meeting;

• must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered or 
not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism Act 
2011; 

• if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending 
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 
28 days;

• must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes place.

Public Attendance

East Herts Council welcomes public attendance at its meetings and 
meetings will continue to be live streamed and
webcasted. For further information, please email
democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk or call the Council on 01279
655261 and ask to speak to Democratic Services. 

The Council operates a paperless policy in respect of agendas at 
committee meetings and the Council will no longer be providing spare 
copies of Agendas for the Public at Committee Meetings.  The mod.gov 
app is available to download for free from app stores for electronic 
devices. You can use the mod.gov app to access, annotate and keep all 
committee paperwork on your mobile device.
Visit https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/35542/Political-
Structure for details.



 

 
 
 

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its 
Committees using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you think are 
suitable, which may include social media of any kind, such as tweeting, 
blogging or Facebook.  However, oral reporting or commentary is 
prohibited.  If you have any questions about this please contact 
Democratic Services (members of the press should contact the Press 
Office).  Please note that the Chairman of the meeting has the discretion 
to halt any recording for a number of reasons, including disruption 
caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.  
Anyone filming a meeting should focus only on those actively 
participating and be sensitive to the rights of minors, vulnerable adults 
and those members of the public who have not consented to being 
filmed.



 

AGENDA 
  
1. Appointment of Vice-Chair for 2024/25  
  
2. Apologies  

 
 To receive apologies for absence. 

  
3. Chairman's Announcements  
  
4. Declarations of Interest  

 
 To receive any Members' declarations of interest. 

  
5. Minutes - 10 April 2024 (Pages 6 - 13) 

 
 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

Wednesday 10 April 2024. 
  

6. Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee (Pages 14 - 16) 
  

(A) 3/23/2108/FUL - Erection of 60 residential units (Use Class C3) with 
creation of access, car parking, landscaping, amenity and open space, 
substation, pedestrian/cycle paths and associated development. 
Provision of footbridge across the River Beane at Land at Walkern 
Road, Watton-at-Stone, Hertfordshire 
(Pages 17 - 82) 

 
 Recommended for Approval 

  
(B) 3/24/0490/HH - External Air Source Heat Pump unit at the property at 

18B Bengeo Street, Hertford, Hertfordshire, SG14 3ES 
(Pages 83 - 91) 

 
 Recommended for Approval 

  
7. Items for Reporting and Noting (Pages 92 - 184) 

 
 (A) Appeals against refusal of Planning Permission/ non-determination. 



 

 
(B) Planning Appeals Lodged. 
 
(C) Planning Appeals: Inquiry and Informal Hearing Dates. 
 
(D) Planning Statistics. 
  

8. Urgent Business  
 

 To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of 
the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration and is not 
likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information. 
 

 



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

  MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD ON WEDNESDAY 
10 APRIL 2024, AT 7.00 PM 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor Y Estop (Chairman) 
  Councillors I Devonshire, J Dunlop, G Hill, 

A Holt, S Marlow, T Stowe and S Watson 
   
 ALSO PRESENT:  

 
  Councillors D Andrews, S Bull, N Clements, 

V Glover-Ward and C Redfern 
   
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 
  Jackie Bruce - Section 106 

Programme 
Manager 

  Neil Button - Team Leader 
(Strategic 
Applications - 
Development 
Management) 

  Rani Ghattoura - Planning Lawyer 
  Scott Hackner - Principal Planning 

Officer 
  David Lamb - Principal Planning 

Officer 
  Peter Mannings - Committee Support 

Officer 
  Sara Saunders - Head of Planning 

and Building 
Control 

 
 ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

  Mr Armstrong - Hertfordshire County 
Council 

  
376   APOLOGIES  

 
 

 Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillors R 
Buckmaster, V Burt, R Carter and S Copley. It was noted 
that Councillor M Connolly was substituting for Councillor 
R Carter and Councillor M Adams was substituting for 
Councillor S Copley. 
 

 

 
377   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
 

 The Chairman welcomed and introduced the Officers 
present at the meeting. There were no Chairman’s 
announcements. 
 

 

 
378   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 

 Councillor Connolly declared a personal interest in outline 
application 3/19/0790/OUT, on the grounds that she was 
a Member of Hertford Town Council, and she had been 
present at a meeting in September 2023 when Archers 
Spring was discussed. She had commented on the 
application at that meeting, but this had not influenced 
her in the determination of this application today. 
 
 
 

 

 
379   MINUTES - 7 FEBRUARY 2024  

 
 

 Councillor Devonshire proposed and Councillor Stowe, a 
motion that the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 
February 2024 be confirmed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman, subject to the addition to 
condition 13 in respect of details to be submitted 
regarding bin locations. 
 

 

Page 7



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 
motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED – that the Minutes of the meeting 
held on 7 February 2024, be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman, subject 
to the addition to condition 13 in respect of details 
to be submitted regarding bin locations. 

  
380   3/19/0790/OUT - OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR UP TO 342 

RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS (OF A RANGE OF SIZE AND TYPE) 
TOGETHER WITH ASSOCIATED ACCESS, PARKING, PUBLIC 
OPEN SPACE AND AMENITY SPACE.  ACCESS AND SCALE TO 
BE DETERMINED (LAYOUT, APPEARANCE AND LANDSCAPING 
RESERVED FOR FUTURE DETERMINATION) AT (HERT3) 
ARCHERS SPRING, LAND NORTH OF WELWYN ROAD, 
HERTFORD   
 

 

 The Chairman advised that at 3:30 pm this afternoon, 
Democratic Services had received an email from the 
applicant’s agent in relation to Mr Springer and Mr Parr jointly 
addressing the committee for 6 minutes regarding outline 
application 3/19/0790/OUT. 
 
As per the Council constitution, paragraph 6.4.2 sets out that 
all speaking requests must be made by 5pm two working days 
prior to the meeting. 
 
Then Chairman said that under the constitution, the 
committee can depart as it sees fit from the speaking 
arrangements on certain applications, in accordance with 
paragraph 6.4.5 of the constitution. The committee could 
agree to depart from the speaking arrangements and 
would need to vote on this. 
 
Councillor Estop proposed and Councillor Connolly Hill 
seconded, a motion that in accordance with paragraph 
6.4.5 of the constitution, the committee agree to depart 
from the speaking arrangements of the Development 

  

Page 8



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

Management Committee, to allow Mr Springer and Mr 
Parr to jointly address the committee for 6 minutes 
regarding outline application 3/19/0790/OUT. 
 
After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 
motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED – that in accordance with paragraph 
6.4.5 of the constitution, the committee agree to 
depart from the speaking arrangements of the 
Development Management Committee, to allow Mr 
Springer and Mr Parr to jointly address the 
committee for 6 minutes in respect of outline 
application 3/19/0790/OUT. 

 
The Head of Planning and Building Control recommended 
that in respect of outline application 3/19/0790/OUT, 
outline planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions set out at the end of the report. 
 
The planning case officer set out details of the outline 
application and summarised in detail the heads of terms 
of the section 106 legal agreement. He said that access 
and scale were to be determined only as part of this 
application, and layout, appearance and landscaping were 
reserved for future determination. 
 
Mr Leaf and Mr Mitchell addressed the committee in 
objection to the application. Mr Springer addressed the 
Committee as the applicant’s agent. Councillor Clements 
addressed the committee as the local ward Member. 
 
At 7:45 pm, Councillor Watson proposed and Councillor 
Hill seconded, a motion for an adjournment for 5 minutes 
to facilitate the remote attendance of an Officer from 
Hertfordshire County Council highways. After being put to 
the meeting and a vote taken, this motion was declared 
CARRIED.  
 

Page 9



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

RESOLVED – that the meeting be adjourned for 5 
minutes to facilitate the remote attendance of an 
Officer from Hertfordshire County Council 
highways. 

 
Mr Armstrong addressed the Committee from 
Hertfordshire County Council and answered questions 
from Members. Planning Officers and the Section 106 
Officer answered questions from the Committee. 
 
Councillor Stowe proposed and Councillor Hill seconded, a 
motion that outline application 3/19/0790/OUT be 
granted planning permission, subject to a section 106 
legal agreement and subject to the conditions set out at 
the end of the report and subject to the following 
additions to conditions: 
 
• Pedestrian crossings will be constructed. 
• Works be carried out and completed in respect of 

bus stops (conditions 15 and 17). 
• Condition requiring the details of a green corridor. 
• Officers identify a way of referring to heights above 

ordinance survey datum. 
• Clarification of the allocation of section 106 funds. 
 
After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 
motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED – that outline application 
3/19/0790/OUT be granted planning permission, 
subject to a section 106 legal agreement and 
subject to the conditions set out at the end of the 
report and subject to the following additions to 
conditions: 
 
• Pedestrian crossings will be constructed. 
• Works be carried out and completed in 

respect of bus stops (conditions 15 and 17). 

Page 10



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

• Condition requiring the details of a green 
corridor. 

• Officers identify a way of referring to heights 
above ordinance survey datum. 

• Clarification of the allocation of section 106 
funds. 

 
At 9:04 pm, Councillor Estop proposed and Councillor Hill 
seconded, a motion for an adjournment for 10 minutes. 
After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 
motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED – that the meeting be adjourned for 
10 minutes. 

  
381   3/23/0681/FUL- CHANGE OF USE OF LAND AND THE 

ERECTION OF 9 DWELLINGS, WITH ASSOCIATED 
LANDSCAPING, VEHICULAR ACCESS AND PARKING AT LAND 
AT THORLEY HOUSE, THORLEY STREET, THORLEY, BISHOP'S 
STORTFORD   
 

 

 The Head of Planning and Building Control recommended 
that in respect of application 3/23/0681/FUL, planning 
permission be granted subject to the conditions set out at 
the end of the report. 
 
The planning case officer set out details of the 
application. Mr Firth addressed the committee as the 
applicant’s agent. Planning Officers and the Section 106 
Officer answered questions from the committee. 
 
The Committee Support Officer reminded the Chairman of 
paragraphs 3.16 and 3.17 of the council procedure rules 
and the need to resolve to continue the meeting beyond 
10 pm. 
 
Councillor Watson proposed and Councillor Devonshire 
seconded, a motion that application 3/23/0681/FUL be 
granted planning permission, subject to the satisfactory 

 

Page 11



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

conclusion of a section 106 legal agreement and subject 
to the conditions set out at the end of the report and 
subject to the following amendments to conditions: 
 
• Stopping up the existing access 
• Condition 14 being less deterring. 
 
After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 
motion was declared CARRIED. 
 

RESOLVED – that application 3/23/0681/FUL be 
granted planning permission, subject to the 
satisfactory conclusion of a section 106 legal 
agreement and subject to conditions set out at the 
end of the report and subject to the following 
amendments to conditions: 

 
• Stopping up the existing access 
• Condition 14 being less deterring. 

  
382   ITEMS FOR REPORTING AND NOTING  

 
 

 RESOLVED – that the following reports be noted: 
 
(A) Appeals against refusal of planning permission 

/ non-determination; 
 
(B) Planning Appeals lodged; 

 
(C) Planning Appeals: Inquiry and Informal 

Hearing Dates; and 
 
(D) Planning Statistics. 

 

 

 
383   URGENT BUSINESS  

 
 

 There was no urgent business. 
 

 

The meeting closed at 9.58 pm 

Page 12



DM  DM 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Chairman ............................................................ 
 
Date  ............................................................ 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

 
  

East Herts Council Report  
 
Development Management Committee 
 
Date of Meeting:  19 June 2024 
 
Report by:   Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building  
   Control 
 
Report title:  Planning Applications for Consideration by the 
    Committee 
 
Ward(s) affected: All 

       
 
Summary 
 
• This report is to enable planning and related applications and 

unauthorised development matters to be considered and 
determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out for 
each agenda item. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE:  
 
A recommendation is detailed separately for each application 
and determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out 
for each agenda item. 
 
1.0 Proposal(s) 

 
1.1 The proposals are set out in detail in the individual reports. 

 
2.0 Background 
 
2.1 The background in relation to each planning application and 

enforcement matter included in this agenda is set out in the 
individual reports. 

 
3.0  Reason(s) 
 
3.1 No. 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 

 
  

4.0  Options 
 
4.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 
 

5.0  Risks 
 
5.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 
 

6.0  Implications/Consultations 
 
6.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 
 
Community Safety 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Data Protection 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Equalities 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Environmental Sustainability 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Financial 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Health and Safety 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Human Resources 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Human Rights 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
Legal 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 

Page 15



 

 
  

 
Specific Wards 
As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are appropriate. 
 
7.0  Background papers, appendices and other relevant 

material 
 
7.1  The papers which comprise each application/ unauthorised 

development file.  In addition, the East of England Plan, 
Hertfordshire County Council’s Minerals and Waste documents, 
the East Hertfordshire Local Plan and, where appropriate, the 
saved policies from the Hertfordshire County Structure Plan, 
 comprise background papers where the provisions of the 
Development Plan are material planning issues. 

 
 
7.2 Display of Plans  
 
7.3 Plans for consideration at this meeting are available online.  An Officer 

will be present from 6.30 pm to advise on any plans relating to 
schemes on strategic sites.  A selection of plans will be displayed 
electronically at the meeting.  Members are reminded that those 
displayed do not constitute the full range of plans submitted for each 
matter and they should ensure they view the full range of plans online 
prior to the meeting. 

 
7.4 All of the plans and associated documents on any of the planning 

applications included in the agenda can be viewed at: 
https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/ 

 
Contact Member Councillor Vicky Glover-Ward, Executive Member 

for Planning and Growth 
vicky.glover-ward@eastherts.gov.uk 

 
Contact Officer   Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building 

Control, Tel: 01992 531656 
  sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk  
 
Report Author  Peter Mannings, Democratic Services Officer,  
   Tel: 01279 502174 

 peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 16

https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/
mailto:jan.goodeve@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk


 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 19 JUNE 2024 

 
Application 
Number 

3/23/2108/FUL 

Proposal Erection of 60 residential units (Use Class C3) with creation 
of access, car parking, landscaping, amenity and open space, 
substation, pedestrian/cycle paths and associated 
development. Provision of footbridge across the River Beane 

Location Land at Walkern Road, Watton-at-Stone, Hertfordshire 
Parish Watton-at-Stone 
Ward Watton-at-Stone 

 
Date of Registration of 
Application 

06th November 2023 

Target Determination Date 26th April 2024 
Case Officer Amit Patel 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement and subject to the conditions set out at the end of the report. 
 
1.0 Summary of Proposal and Main Issues 
 
1.1 The application seeks the erection of 60 residential units (Use Class C3) 

with creation of access, car parking, landscaping, amenity and open 
space, substation, pedestrian/cycle paths and associated development. 
It further proposed the provision of a footbridge across the River 
Beane. 

 
1.2 The site forms part of the development strategy in the East Herts 

District Plan 2018 as detailed in policies DPS1, DPS2 and DPS3 and part 
of the allocated site within Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (2023) 
WAS3 which is defined as Village 1 within the village hierarchy.  

 
1.3 The application site comprises undeveloped land to the south of the 

A602 on the northern edge of Watton-at-Stone and measures circa 
3.69 hectares in area. The site is cut in two by the River Beane, with 
the northern part for residential development and the southern part 
remaining as Green Space. The southern part of the site is within the 
Green Belt with the northern part having been removed from the Green 
Belt by the Neighbourhood Plan, which redrew the Green Belt boundary 
to accommodate development within the northern part of the site. The 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6a



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

site falls within Flood Zone 2, 3 and 3b but this is concentrated either 
side of the River Beane.   

 
1.4 The proposed scheme will result in 60 new homes, comprising 42 

houses and 18 apartments. The development will include a range of 
unit types with the following mix:  

 
6 x 1-beds,  
14 x 2-beds,  
16 x 3-beds and  
24 x 4-beds.  

 
The apartments are split over 3 separate blocks, with 6 apartments in 
each, arranged around the area of central open space. Of the 60 
homes, 40% will be affordable housing. This equates to a total of 24 
units, comprising 18 Affordable Rented units and 6 Shared Ownership 
units. A breakdown of the proposed tenure split is provided within the 
Affordable Housing Statement. All the proposed dwellings are 2 storeys. 
Where garages are provided these are single storey. The scheme has a 
density of 25 dwellings/ha which is considered appropriate in this 
context.  

 
1.5 The development has been designed to accommodate 4 x character 

areas including ‘The Landscaped Frontage’, ‘The green Corridor’, ‘The 
Mews’ and ‘The Park Edge’. The individual plots and buildings have 
been designed to respond to their respective character area. 
 

1.6 The application is supported with the following documents: 
 
• Drawings (prepared by DHA and Exterior Architecture)  
• Design and Access Statement including Landscape Character 

Assessment (prepared by DHA)  
• Affordable Housing Statement (prepared by Fairview New Homes 

Ltd)  
• Planning Statement (prepared by Fairview New Homes Ltd) 
• Statement of Community Involvement (prepared by Cavendish)  
• Ecological Appraisal (prepared by Ecology Solutions) 
• Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment (prepared by Ecology Solutions) 
• Tree Survey and Impact Assessment (prepared by Keen 

Consultants)  
• Tree Constraints Plan (prepared by Keen Consultants)  
• Tree Protection Plan (prepared by Keen Consultants)  
• Noise Assessment (prepared by Anderson Acoustics)  

Page 18



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

• Transport Assessment and Travel Plan (prepared by KMC Transport 
Planning)  

• Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy 
(prepared by Create Consulting Engineers)  

• Air Quality (prepared by Anderson Acoustics)  
• Geotechnical Report (prepared by CGL)  
• Sustainability and Energy Statement (prepared by Abbey 

Consultants)  
• Archaeology Assessment (prepared by RPS) 
• Circular Economy Statement (prepared by THINK) 
• Whole Life Carbon Assessment (prepared by THINK) 
• Planning Noise Assessment 

 
Further details were provided following a round of consultee comments, 
namely the design of the bridge and natural surveillance relating to 
design of the buildings. The additional details were provided on the 5th 
April and included a full set of drawings and the following reports: 

 
• Fire and Rescue Strategy 
• Sub Station 
• Garage 
• Cycle and Bin Store 
• Pedestrian Access Audit 
• Bridge Ramp Impact 
• Landscape strategy 
• Bridge Evolution Document Final 
• Design and Access Statement Addendum 

 
1.7 The main issues for consideration are: 

 
• Principle of development 
• Viability and Infrastructure Delivery  
• Affordable housing provision and mix of housing  
• Housing Delivery 
• Good design/Landscape character 
• Impact on Heritage Assets 
• Access, Highways and transport  
• Sustainability / water management 
• Trees, Ecology and Biodiversity  
• Amenity/Pollution 
• Healthy and Safe Communities 

 
2.0 Site Description 

Page 19



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 
2.1 The whole of the application site was formerly within the Green Belt, 

pre-adoption of the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan. However, 
the northeastern part of the site was released to enable the site to be 
allocated within the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (2023) policy 
WAS3. The site is referred to WAS3 within the Neighbourhood Plan. 
The policy map for WAS3 shows the northeastern part of the site has 
been removed from the Green Belt to accommodate the dwellings.  The 
southwestern part of the site remains within the Green Belt. The site 
also falls within an Area of Archaeological Significance No 128. The site 
historically has been in agricultural use.  

 
2.2 The application site lies in open countryside, amongst other agricultural 

fields, with residential development to the south. Hedgerows lie to the 
north, east, west and east of the site, whilst agricultural land. Beyond 
the northern boundary is A602 and to the east is Walkern Road. At the 
southwestern corner the River Beane follows the boundary.   

 
2.3 The nearest dwellings adjoin the land to the south. There are no other 

constraints on the site. 
 
3.0 Design Evolution 
 
3.1 The National Design Guide (2021) advises in paragraph 16 thereof that 

an expressed ‘story’ for the design concept is akin to producing well 
designed places and buildings. This ‘story’ should inform and address 
all ten characteristics:  

 
1. Context – enhances the surroundings.  
2. Identity – attractive and distinctive.  
3. Built form – a coherent pattern of development.  
4. Movement – accessible and easy to move around.  
5. Nature – enhanced and optimised.  
6. Public spaces – safe, social and inclusive.  
7. Uses – mixed and integrated.  
8. Homes and buildings – functional, healthy and sustainable.  
9. Resources – efficient and resilient.  
10. Lifespan 

 
3.2 The evolution of the design concept was formed through the initial site 

allocation within the Neighbourhood Process and pre-application and 
then a full consultation exercise on Master Planning before the 
application was submitted. The applicants have submitted a Statement 

Page 20



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

of Community Involvement which sets out the steps they took to inform 
all the local community and stakeholders, to ensure high quality design 
is seen throughout the development. Emphasis is placed on how the 
site will integrate into its wider setting through a series of pedestrian 
and cycle connections and a new bridge and prioritises pedestrian and 
cycle movement above the use of vehicles.  

 
3.3 A Hertfordshire Design Review (DR) was held on 5th October 2023, 

following the above, to discuss the emerging design of the proposed 
development and Design Review comments on the masterplan 
aspirations. 

 
3.4 It is considered that the policy WAS 3 in the Watton-at-Stone adheres 

to these principles and has created a narrative and story. 
 
3.5 As such, EHDC officers welcome the scheme as a matter of principle 

underpinned by the significant public benefits it would deliver in terms 
of housing and district-wide and county-level contributions to 
infrastructure. 

 
4.0 Planning History 
 
4.1 There is no relevant planning history for the site. 
 
5.0 Main Policy Issues 
 
5.1 These relate to the relevant policies in the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2023 (NPPF), the adopted East Herts District Plan 2018 
(DP), and the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Area Plan (Adopted Dec 
2023) (NP).  

 
5.2 The Written Ministerial Statement published on 24 May 2021 is also 

relevant which sets out the minimum requirements a housing unit must 
meet to qualify as a First Home 

 
Main Issue NPPF DP policy  NP policy 
Principle of 
Development 

Chapters 5, 
11 

INT1, DES1, DES2, 
DPS1, DPS2, 
DPS3, DPS4, 
DEL1, DEL2, HOU1, 
HOU2, HOU3, HOU7 

WAS 2,  
WAS 3 

Delivery of Housing Chapter 5 HOU1, 
HOU2,  

WAS 1,  
WAS 3, 

Page 21



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

HOU3, 
HOU7, 
HOU8 

WAS 7, 
WAS 8 

Scale and Design 
Quality 

Chapters 
8,11 and 12. 

HERT3, DES1, DES2, 
DES3, DES4, 
DES5, 
HA1 

WAS 3 
WAS 6 

Transport Chapter 9 TRA1, 
TRA2,  
TRA3 
CFLR3 

WAS 3 
WAS 9, 
WAS 10 

Heritage Assets Chapter 16 HA1, 
HA3 

WAS 3 
WAS 21 
WAS 23 

Sustainability and 
Climate Change 

Chapters 2, 
14  

CC1, CC2, 
WAT4 

WAS 3 
WAS 20 

Trees Ecology and 
Biodiversity 

Chapter 15 DES2, 
NE1, 
NE2, NE3, 
NE4 

WAS 19 
 

Flood Risk and 
Drainage 

Chapter 14 CC1, NE4, WAT1, 
WAT2, 
WAT3, 
WAT4, 
WAT5, 
WAT6 

WAS 3 
 

Contamination Chapter 15 EQ1  
Neighbour Amenity Chapter 12 DES2, DES3, DES4, 

DES5, EQ2, EQ3, EQ4  
 

WAS 6 

Viability and Delivery 
of Infrastructure 

Chapters 2, 4 DEL1, 
DEL2, 
CFLR1, 
CFLR3, 
CFLR7, 
CFLR9, 
CFLR10 

WAS 2 
WAS 3 

 
 
 
 
5.3 Equality Act 2010 
 

Page 22



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 Section 149 of the Equality Act (2010) confirms that a Public Sector 

Equality Duty (PSED) came into force in April 2011 and requires the 
Council to consider the equality impacts on all protected groups when 
exercising its functions. In the case of planning, equalities 
considerations are factored into the planning process at various stages. 
The first stage relates to the adoption of planning policies (national, 
strategic and local) and any relevant supplementary guidance. The 
policies and guidance referenced in the committee report and this 
updated report have all been subject to an equalities impact 
assessment (EqIA) therefore, the planning policy framework is 
considered to meet the first stage in the process. Officers have duly 
considered the equalities impacts on protected groups in the context of 
the development proposals, subject to this planning application which is 
set out in Section 8 of this report. 

 
 Other relevant issues are referred to in the ‘Consideration of Relevant 

Issues’ section below. 
 
5.4 Other relevant Policy Considerations include the adopted, 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (Affordable Housing and Section 106 
Agreements/Planning Obligations) and the Equality Act are referred to 
in the ‘Consideration of Relevant Issues’ section below. 

 
6.0 Summary of Consultee Responses 
 
6.1 HCC Highway Authority recommends that the development is 

acceptable subject to condition. Extensive negotiations have taken 
place with the applicant to get to this position. 

 
ACCESS ARRANGEMENTS: 
 
A new vehicle access is proposed onto Walkern Road, at 5.5 metres 
wide and 6 metre kerb radii. 2 metre wide footways are shown on the 
submitted plans on both sides of the access, with pedestrian 
dropped kerbs and tactile paving over the access. Vehicle tracking 
exercise has been undertaken as well as visibility display which are 
shown on the submitted drawings and conditioned. The speed limit is 
to be reduced to 40mph and additional features to help the reduction of 
the speed limit gateway feature and speed activated signage which is 
included on plan reference 21850 300 Rev B, and is conditioned. A gate 
access was originally proposed but this has been removed as part of 
the engagement with the highways. 
 

Page 23



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

TRIP GENERATION / WIDER IMPACT ON NETWORK 
 
This is an allocated site and policy WAS3 of the neighbourhood plan 
covers the allocation. As part of the East Herts Local Plan preparations 
and the Neighbourhood plan traffic modelling had already taken place. 
 
The applicant has also undertaken a TRICS assessment in chapter 5 of 
the TA. This shows there is expected to be 30 vehicle trips in the 
busiest weekday peak hour (8-9am) and a total of 273 vehicle trips per 
weekday. 
 
Off site highway works and sustainable transport contributions are 
sought through conditions and Section 106 but the increase in traffic is 
not considered severe. 
 
OFF-SITE HIGHWAY WORK / SUSTAINABLE AND ACCESSIBLE TRAVEL 
 
Tactile paving to be installed over the Lammas Road junction, to ensure 
sight impaired residents and visitors can access the centre of Watton at 
Stone. 
 
Raised Kassel kerbing to be installed at the nearest south-east bound 
bus stop along the main High Street, It is noted the north-west bound 
stop already has such kerbing and a shelter. 
 
Together these works will provide a good quality pedestrian route from 
the site access to Watton at Stone centre and bus stops. 
 
INTERNAL LAYOUT 
 
150 parking spaces are proposed, which is in line with East Herts 
parking standards. There could be some more information regarding 
internal layout between the different surfaces and crossings. In 
addition, the paths do narrow down from 2m to 1.5, or 1.25m. 
However, due to the overall benefits of the scheme this could be 
acceptable. 
 
Cycle parking is to be provided and a cycle route/s will be provided to 
link Walkern Road with High Street. Section 278 will allow for the 
delivery of this. New footpaths will be provided linking the residential 
site to the bridge and further on to the allocated site WAS4. 
 
TRAVEL PLAN 

Page 24



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

 
A Travel Plan has been submitted and a condition has been 
recommended. 
 
Section 106 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION 
 
Section 278 works are to be delivered as part of the works agreed with 
the highways. 
 
Section 106 contributions are also required in the sum of: 
 
- 0.45*267 = 120 car trips to be changed from car to sustainable 
modes in the long term. 
- 120*£3030 = £363,600 
 
25% of the combined Section 278 works valuation (i.e. £111,500) is a 
suitable reduction to apply to the headlines Section 106 figure of 
£363,600, recognising these works will have some degree of wider 
public highway benefit. That reduces the figure down to £252,100 due 
to the degree of benefits to the existing users. 
 
Much of this contribution would be earmarked for bus service 
improvements, in particular to help meet an existing demand for an 
earlier school day departure from Ware, and contribute towards 
additional evening 907 journeys via Watton-at-Stone. 
 
An overall ‘Bus Service and Accessibility Contribution’ of £252,100 index 
linked by CPT from December 2023 to cover bus service improvements 
and LCWIP development is considered appropriate and CIL compliant. 

 
6.2 HCC Historic Environment Unit have commented that there are 

currently negotiations with the applicant going ahead. No comments 
can be provided yet as these are still on going. 

 
6.3 EHDC Landscape Advisor recommend that additional information 

submitted is required as the landscape proposals refer to being 
indicative. 

 
6.4 Herts Ecology have been consulted. Initially they required further 

information. The applicants have provided the additional details and it 
is considered that this information is acceptable and recommend 
condition relating to Ecological Mitigation Strategy. 

 
Page 25



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
6.5 EHDC Environmental Health (Noise): Had initially commented that the 

application had provided insufficient information from a noise 
perspective. Further details and clarifications have been provided by the 
applicant and now consider that the sub station noise will not have an 
unacceptable impact upon nearby neighbours and therefore the 
recommended conditions are suggested relating to internal noise, 
external amenity noise, air source heat pump noise, substation noise, 
hours of work, neighbour consultation, dust, waste management and 
lighting are recommended. 

 
6.6 The Conservation and Urban Design Team advise the updated 

information now addresses the previous concerns and therefore have 
no objection to the proposal. 

 
6.7 The previous comments related to the natural surveillance, especially 

plots 1, 2, 3, 4, 8, 9, 13, 29, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57,59, 60, etc which were 
considered to not have suitable window layout to give the opportunity 
to provide natural surveillance over the driveways etc.  

 
6.8 Another concern raised was the corner units and especially the 

prominent ones provided limited visual interest. With regards to the 
street scene, it was considered plots 53 to 60 lacked architectural 
interest. It was considered that the previous design was nondescriptive 
and a better understanding to the context and design was needed. 

 
6.9 As stated above the applicants have now amended the scheme and 

addressed the points above by adding side windows to the plots 
requiring more natural surveillance. There has also been the 
redesigning of the corner units which now provide a break up of the 
corner elevations, with windows and detailing such as gables. In 
regards to the street scene, the applicants have mixed the unit types to 
give a better reflection of a varied house types and addition of porches 
and detailing to the façade, such as window headers etc. 

 
6.10 Environmental Services (Waste). The initial comments stated that 

tracking diagrams are needed for a 12.1m vehicle. The applicants have 
provided these additional details and the Waste Team have now 
commented that there are no issues with the vehicle tracking and 
turning areas to be kept clear of parked vehicles also bin pull distances 
from bin stores should be taken into account. 

 
6.11 Environmental Health (Air and Contamination): have not raised any 

objection or requested any conditions and informatives. 
Page 26



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 
6.12 Growth and Infrastructure: The proposal is for 60 dwellings and 

therefore contributions towards Childcare, education, Library, Youth 
Services, Waste and Recycling, Waste and Transfer, Fire and Rescue 
and Monitoring Fees are required. 

 
6.13 Active Travel England: No comment. 
 
6.14 Thames Water: Had initially said that surface water drainage should 

follow a sequential approach and contact developers’ services. No 
additional comments to add. 

 
6.15 Affinity Water: have raised no objections subject to conditions relating 

to excavations, contamination during construction and surface water 
drainage, water efficiency and infrastructure connections. 

 
6.16 Environment Agency: Initially the Environment Agency were holding an 

objection due to no information provided on flood modelling and no 
bridge drawings. These details have been provided and they have no 
objection to amending the condition wording to allow residential 
development to go ahead of the bridge. 

 
6.17 Canal and River Trust: The development falls outside of the statutory 

requirements to comment. 
 
6.18 NHS: the development will have an impact on NHS services and 

therefore a contribution of £106.380 is required to mitigate this. 
 
6.19 East Herts Section 106: Contributions towards indoor and outdoor 

sports and leisure, allotments, community centre etc are required. The 
full details are available online.  

 
6.20 Environment Agency: The additional information satisfies the previous 

objection and therefore recommend conditions regarding a Landscape 
and Ecological Management Plan, Flood Risk Management, which has 
been added. 

 
6.21 Waste and Mineral: The Waste and Minerals Team have reviewed the 

application and recommend a condition regarding Site Waste 
Management. 

 
6.22 East of England Ambulance: They have commented that due to the 

nature of the development there will be some impact upon their 
Page 27



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

services and therefore a contribution of £22,996 is required to mitigate 
this, however, due to the funding of the NHS, as it is funded through 
the tax system, this would not be CIL compliant. 

 
6.23 Housing Development and Strategy: 24 affordable dwellings to be 

provided. Shared ownership is unacceptable. No tenure plan and 
applicants should enter into a nomination agreement and owned and 
managed by registered provider.  

 
6.24 Fire and Rescue: Have commented that a condition is required to 

secure hydrants and no cost to the council or fire and rescue. 
 
6.25 Cadent Gas: No objection but add an informative 
 
6.26 HCC Archaeology: Following geophysical surveys trial trenches were 

dug on site. Following the digging of the trial trenches it was found that 
there are no significant archaeological remains. In light of this it is 
unlikely that there will be an impact on heritage assets of 
archaeological interest and recommend no conditions or informatives. 

 
7.0 Town/Parish Council Representations 
 
7.1 Watton-at-Stone Parish Council. The Parish Council have commented 

the following. Those grounds will be summarised below: 
 

• Broadly speaking the application follows the Neighbourhood Plan; 
• The delivery of the foot bridge is paramount and required by policy 

WAS3; 
• Gated entrance is not acceptable; 
• Traffic measures; 
• Construction Management needs to be controlled with the size of 

vehicles and construction times. 
• Removal of the trees is not acceptable and developers should look 

for a better solution; 
• No sustainable measures are shown; 
• Digital infrastructure is required; 
• Design of houses does not accord with the Neighbourhood Plan. 
• Better landscaping and planting required; 
• Community benefits should be delivered through Section 106. 
 
The additional plans have been reviewed and the following comments 
remain: 
 

Page 28



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

• Footbridge is a shame that there are steps, more design thought 
with EA required in conjunction with the Wetland Meadow; 

• Wetland Meadow design will help with flooding; 
• Traffic Calming measures needs more thought; 
• Landscape needs more detail; 
• Section 106 needs to be delivered especially the 3G football pitch 

 
8.0 Summary of Other Representations 
 
8.1 In the first round of consultation 12 responses have been received 

objecting to the proposal. It should be noted that multiple people from 
the same address made representations: 
 
• The development should integrate bird and bat boxes: 
• Not sufficient information regarding car parking; 
• Insufficient details on landscaping south of the river and bridge; 
• Highway safety concerns with the proposed access; 
• Safety of pedestrians is a concern: 
• Ecology impacts through the river being polluted affecting wildlife 

drinking water; 
• Noise and disturbance from the sub station; 
• Health risks from the substation not mentioned; 
 

8.2 Second round of consultation, 11 comments were received, these 
raised the following issues. Just like above multiple parties from the 
same address made representation: 

 
• Unsustainable access to the Highway; 
• Bird and Bat boxes are required as part of the Neighbourhood 

Plan; 
• Highway safety and construction traffic distruptions. 
• Traffic calming measures are going to cause highway safety 

concerns; 
• Noise disturbance from the new road layout; 
• Loss of privacy from new pedestrian access; 
• Road layout will impact deliveries; 
• Bridge access will not be fully inclusive; 
• Route improvements are needed; 

 
9.0 Consideration of Issues 
 

Principle of development 
 

Page 29



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
9.1 The overall development strategy in the East Herts District Plan 2018 is 

summarised in adopted Policy DPS1 which identifies the need to deliver 
new housing growth, with 18,458 new homes required over the plan 
period 2011-2033 (839 new homes per year) to meet identified needs. 
Policy DPS2 of the District Plan (DP) sets out the Council's development 
strategy for East Hertfordshire. Sites that are considered urban 
extensions form part of the development hierarchy for delivering the 
needs of the District. 

 
9.2 The site is located to the north of the village and on an allocated site 

within the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (WASNP) (2017 – 
2033) (adopted Dec 2023). The Neighbourhood Plan forms a part of 
the Development Plan for East Herts and therefore, full weight must be 
given to the policies set out therein. In particular, significant weight 
must be afforded to the adherence with Policy WAS3 which comprises 
the site allocation policy in the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 
9.3 Policy WAS 3 of the WASNP states that “Development of this site will be 

supported, provided that it complies with the general design policies, 
the Watton-at-Stone Design Code, and other policies in this 
Neighbourhood Plan and meets all the following specific criteria: 

 
a)  Given the site area and the target of 30 units per hectare, this site 

is suitable for 60 homes. 
b)  A physical boundary for the village and Green Belt should be 

created to form the western edge of the site with appropriate 
planting of native species, including field boundary trees, to create 
a clearly recognisable and permanent new boundary. 

c)  The frontage and set-back of the development along Walkern Road 
should follow the line of existing housing to the south. The space 
between Walkern Road and the housing must be landscaped and 
not be dominated by parking. 

d)  At the entrance of the site on Walkern Road, a scheme to reduce 
traffic speed is essential. A pedestrian/cyclist crossing point, as 
part of the circular path, to link to the opposite open green space 
and a new linking footpath along Walkern Road towards the village 
centre are also required. 

e)  Buildings should not be over 2 storeys in height or 2.5 storeys 
where this aligns with the Design Code exceptions. 

f)  The view on arrival into the village (Protected View 7, see Policy 
WAS 18) means that the design must ensure that the new 
buildings do not break the horizon line (the line formed by the 

Page 30



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

heights of existing buildings) of the village and also that the 
buildings and landscape add interest in the foreground of the view. 

g)  The site lies in an area of Archaeological Significance where District 
Plan Policy HA3 applies. 

h)  A mix of house types should be included, and consideration given 
to ensuring positive facades are achieved overlooking public and 
communal space and that the development as a whole is 
welcoming with a well-proportioned hierarchy of streets and 
spaces. 

i)  An efficient, effective and well-maintained SuDs system should be 
designed and implemented to ensure no polluting run-off flows into 
the River Beane and to provide a multi-functional recreational 
space, with high ecological value, overlooked by the new homes. 

j)  The public spaces should have well-designed, implemented and 
maintained landscaping and tree planting which provide structure, 
interest and character. Paths and green corridors will connect to 
existing green areas beyond the development site. 

k)  The development must include a connecting footpath that links 
from the entrance of the site to a new pedestrian/cycle bridge 
across the River Beane, as part of the wider circular path around 
the village (see Policy WAS 10). 

l)  In accordance with East Herts District Plan Policy VILL1 III. The 
Neighbourhood Plan is accommodating additional development to 
the policy requirement, which will deliver community benefits. 
Specifically, this development will be linked (by way of negative 
conditions and/or Section 106 obligations) to a new 
pedestrian/cycle bridge over the River Beane, across the field to 
the Stevenage Road to connect with the pedestrian access to 
Moorymead Close and the railway station provided through site 
WAS 4 Stevenage Road (see Policy WAS 10). The new 
pedestrian/cycle bridge must be designed and constructed to the 
satisfaction of the Environment Agency.  

m)  The Environment Agency’s approval of the bridge design must be 
secured before any development takes place on this site and a 
management plan to ensure the upkeep for the bridge and 
pedestrian/cycle path must be agreed before any part of the 
development is first occupied.  

n) The provision of public amenity greenspace (which will remain in 
the Green Belt) will provide a buffer between the housing 
development and the River Beane. The greenspace will include 
public pedestrian/cycle access over the footbridge that will cross 
the river and link to the new circular path (see criterion l). The 

Page 31



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

space could also be combined with SuDs to make the best use of 
land. 

 
9.4 As part of the delivery of the site, a public footpath and bridge are to 

be delivered from the site, connecting the site to Stevenage Road 
across the River Beane. Parts of the site that will accommodate the 
bridge and public footpath are still within the Green Belt and therefore, 
these parts of the development will be assessed accordingly. Policy 
GBR1 states that developments in the Green Belt: 

 
I. Planning applications within the Green Belt, as defined on the 

Policies Map, will be considered in line with the provisions of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

II. The villages of Hertford Heath, Stanstead Abbotts and St 
Margarets, and Watton-at-Stone will be encouraged to consider 
whether it is appropriate through the formulation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan to accommodate additional development 
especially where it contributes to wider sustainability objectives 
and the delivery of community benefits. Where such proposals 
would involve changes to Green Belt boundaries, the District 
Council will consider making these amendments either through the 
next Review of the District Plan or through a separate Site 
Allocations Development Plan Document if necessary. 

  
9.5 Although the northeastern parcel of land (which contains all of the 

housing and main access) has been removed from the Green Belt the 
part of the site which contains the proposed bridge and footpath, in the 
south-western parcel has not. The NPPF states in paragraph 154 that 
“A local planning authority should regard the construction of new 
buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt”. The bridge comprises a 
‘new building’ and would therefore be considered “inappropriate 
development” in terms of the overall type of development. The 
proposed bridge would not fall within any exception in paragraph 154 
parts a to g. 

 
9.6 Notwithstanding the sub-categories set out in paragraph 154, 

paragraph 155 allows for exceptions for some forms of development 
within the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it. Although the 
bridge comprises a form of development under exception c of 
paragraph 155 which constitutes “local transport infrastructure which 
can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt location”, the bridge 
would not preserve the openness of the Green Belt and therefore, some 

Page 32



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

harm to the openness of the Green Belt would occur as a result of this 
part of the development.  

 
9.7 The public footpath connecting the housing development with the High 

Street (excluding the bridge) would not harm the openness of the 
Green Belt and would not be inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt. In light of these factors, officers conclude that the development of 
the bridge would not fall within any exception under paragraphs 154 or 
155 and would therefore comprise inappropriate development which 
the NPPF (paragraph 152) states will only be approved in very special 
circumstances. 

 
9.8 The bridge has been defined as a necessary (sustainable travel) route 

for pedestrians and cyclists to connect the wider circular path around 
the village and in accordance with policy WAS10. Although there would 
be harm through the scale and size in terms of spatial and visual 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt it is considered that the 
wider public benefit of the bridge is considered to provide a “Very 
Special Circumstance” which would allow a better connection to the 
wider village and overall strategy for the village as a whole. Further 
weight is attached to the provision of the bridge as part of the footpath 
connecting the development with the High Street which is a policy 
requirement under WAS10 and WAS3 (the site allocation policy criteria 
(k) in the Neighbourhood Plan.   

 
9.9 In conclusion, it is considered that very special circumstances can be 

demonstrated which indicate that the proposed bridge (despite it being 
inappropriate development in Green Belt terms), is acceptable in 
planning terms and would be in accordance with the Green Belt policy 
guidelines and the District Plan policy GBR1. 

 
9.10 In addition to the above, Policy VILL1 is also relevant. Part VII is the 

most relevant as there is a made neighbourhood plan for the area. 
Policy VILL 1 states: 

 
VII. All development should: 

 
(a)  Relate well to the village in terms of location, layout and 

connectivity;  
(b)  Be of a scale appropriate to the size of the village having regard to 

the potential cumulative impact of development in the locality;  

Page 33



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

(c)  Be well designed and in keeping with the character of the village; 
(d) Not represent the loss of a significant open space or gap 
important to the form and/or setting of the village;  

(e)  Not represent an extension of ribbon development or an addition 
to an isolated group of buildings;  

(f)  Not unacceptably block important views or vistas and/or detract 
from the openness of the countryside;  

(g)  Not be significantly detrimental to the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers. 

 
9.11 In conclusion, the submission of the application has been brought 

forward as part of the Neighbourhood Planning process for Watton-at-
Stone which is supported under Policy WAS3 of the Watton-at-Stone 
Neighbourhood Plan. Therefore, subject to adherence with the criteria 
set out in VILL1 of the East Herts District Plan (2018) and Policy WAS3 
of the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan, in addition to the other 
relevant policies set out in the Development Plan (comprising the 
Neighbourhood Plan and District Plan) and NPPF policy guidance, the 
principle of development is considered to be acceptable. 

 
The Masterplan Framework  

 
9.9 Policy DES1 of the DP requires that all significant proposals will be 

required to prepare a Masterplan setting out the quantum and 
distribution of land uses, sustainable high quality design and layout 
principles, necessary infrastructure, the relationship between the site 
and adjacent land uses, landscape and heritage assets and other 
relevant matters. The Masterplan has been prepared collaboratively 
with the Council, town and parish councils and other relevant 
stakeholders and has gone through   a rigorous design review and the 
pre-planning application appraisal. 

 
9.10 The Masterplan Framework was developed in consultation with officers 

though pre-application discussions. A Steering Group was set up and 
comprised officers, local ward Members and representatives from 
Hertford Town Council, town and other relevant stakeholders.  

 
9.11 The Masterplan Framework sets out key master planning principles that 

the site. The application broadly follows the Master Plan in that it will 
provide 60 homes and a development edge that will protect the wider 
area and connectivity from the site to the village of Watton-at-Stone. 
The Masterplan Framework addresses sustainable credentials and the 
pedestrian routes throughout the site. The proposed plans submitted 

Page 34



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

with the Planning Application reflect the general layout, 
connections/access points, provision of open spaces, density and block 
structure of the adopted Masterplan Framework.  The Masterplan 
Framework generally conforms with the Neighbourhood Plan policy 
WAS3.  

 
9.12 The Masterplan Framework forms a material planning consideration in 

the assessment of the submitted planning application. As the submitted 
application plans broadly conform with the Adopted Masterplan, the 
proposed development complies with the District Plan Policy DES1 
requirements. The Adopted Masterplan Framework is therefore afforded 
positive weight in the planning balance. 

 
Housing Delivery 

 
9.12 The overall development strategy for the District, as summarised 

above, identifies the need to deliver 18,458 new homes over the plan 
period 2011- 2033 (839 new homes per year) to meet identified unmet 
needs. Policy DPS2 of the DP seeks to deliver homes in sustainable 
locations, including Village 1 such as Watton-at-Stone allocated to 
deliver a maximum of 60 homes on this site. 

 
9.13  The NPPF requires local planning authorities to be able to demonstrate 

that they have identified the sites on which the first 5 years of housing 
will be supplied – a 5 year housing land supply (5YHLS).  EHDC is 
currently able to demonstrate a minimum five-year land supply position 
of 5.57 years against the identified requirement of 5,560 dwellings 
across the five-year period 2023-2028 which has been reported on 4 
March 2024. The NPPF also allows for “Affordability ratios” to be taken 
into account and an Addendum to the March Statement was produced 
in April which the council can now demonstrate a 5.95 YHLS and 
therefore the 'tilted balance' is not engaged in the decision-making 
process as per paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF. In this context, the 
policies are not considered out of date referred to in this report.  

 
9.14 As such, it is considered that the proposed scheme would deliver 

significant public benefits by contributing to housing supply consistent 
with Policy DPS1, VILL1 and WAS 3 site allocation for large scale 
residential development within the village of Watton-at-Stone in 
accordance with Policies DPS1, DPS2, WAS3 of the DP and WASNP. The 
provision of housing is afforded significant positive weight in the 
planning balance. 

 
Page 35



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
Viability and Infrastructure Delivery including Affordable Housing 
Provision and Mix of Housing 
 
9.15 Policy HOU3 recognises housing affordability as a significant issue in 

the district and seeks up to 40% of new homes on larger developments 
of 15 or more units to be affordable. The policy also states that a mix 
of affordable housing tenure types is sought on a case by case basis. 
Affordable housing should also be of similar design quality to private 
housing and integrated evenly throughout the site. 

 
9.16 The applicant has agreed to the proposed planning obligations sought 

by both the Hertfordshire County Council and East Herts District Council 
Planning Obligations. A draft Section 106 has been submitted by the 
applicant which confirms this and will be agreed between the parties 
prior to the Decision being sent. 

 
9.17 The provision of affordable housing is high priority in order to ensure 

significant public benefits that contribute to the housing supply in the 
District. Securing financial contributions for other benefits and 
mitigations to ensure the scheme is acceptable in planning terms as set 
out in the Heads of Terms also require careful consideration in the 
round. 

 
9.18 The District Plan policy requirement is a tenure split of 75% affordable 

rent; 25% affordable home ownership, which is being delivered on site. 
Broadly, the proposals comply with the District Plan policy HOU3 in 
terms of the amount of affordable housing (as a % of the 
development) and the tenure split. There is a conflict between the 
housing mix requirements of the WASNP and the District wide Housing 
needs evidence which the Council’s Housing Officers are informed by in 
producing their comments. This has resulted in concerns being raised 
by the Council’s Housing Officer. The Council’s Housing Officer advises 
that greatest need is for three and four bed houses, (flats are not the 
most suitable dwelling type for most households in need of two beds 
and there has been a significant over provision of new build two bed 
flats for affordable rent). The applicant considers that the provision of 
smaller units is acceptable and the resulting affordable housing mix has 
been arrived at following engagement through the Neighbourhood 
Planning process which resulted in the formation of the WASNP Policy 
WAS7. The Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan Policy WAS7 requires 
that priority for smaller Affordable Housing for those in housing need, 
one and two bedroomed is recognised in the housing mix. The policy 
was accepted under examination of the local needs evidence as part of 

Page 36



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

the Neighbourhood Planning process. Officers consider that this 
evidence is at odds with the current housing needs evidence (produced 
at District level) and therefore, officers need to give very careful 
consideration to the weighting given to the respective policies and 
evidence in coming to a view on the proposals. It is also a major factor 
that the Watton-at-Stone neighbourhood plan is more up to date (given 
its adoption in December 2023) than the District Plan and so regard 
needs to be given to this in determining the weight given to the 
respective policies.   

 
9.19 The Housing officer raises concern about the type of affordable housing 

provided, given the proposed affordable housing provisions are skewed 
towards providing smaller house types. The Housing Officer suggests 
this is not meeting the needs for affordable housing in the District. 
However, the applicant has confirmed that the level of affordable 
housing is 40% and this is policy compliant. The type of dwellings to be 
provided for affordable housing are generally flatted type units. The 
Housing Officer considers that this is unacceptable (in terms of the 
District Plan requirements) as the need and demand for the type of 
units are in excess of what the council require (which is for larger 
homes). However, the overall mix that is provided by the appellant is a 
mixture of 12 x 1 and 2 bed flats and 6 x 3 and 4 bed houses which 
meets the requirements of the Neighbourhood Plan Policy WAS7 (to 
give priority to smaller affordable dwellings). The following mix is 
proposed: 

 
Affordable Rent 
4 x 1B Flats  
4 x 2B (3 persons) WC Flats  
4 x 2B (4 persons) Flats  
4 x 3B Houses  
2 x 4B Houses  
Total: 18 Units 
 
Shared Ownership 
2 x 1B Flats  
4 x 2B Flats  
Total: 6 Units  
Overall Total:24 Units (40%) 

 
9.20 Policy WAS7 in the WASNP provides some basis for the proposed mix. 

The preamble to the policy in paragraph 6.34 of the WASNP states 
that: 

Page 37



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 

The Housing Needs Register has the following information for Watton-
at-Stone”: All Applicants who have indicated Watton-at-Stone as a 
preferred location: 
 
1 bed – 191  
2 bed – 126  
3 bed – 44  
4 bed – 13 
 
Applicants who have 75+ points on the Housing Needs Register and 
indicated Watton-atStone as a preferred location: 
 
1 bed – 75  
2 bed – 76  
3 bed – 31  
4 bed – 11 

 
9.21 In coming to a view on the proposed affordable housing mix, officers 

consider that fuller weight should be given to the WASNP Policy WAS7 
which clearly supports the provision of smaller affordable units, 
including flats in addition to the overall compliance with the affordable 
housing tenure split and quantum which meets both District and 
WASNP policy requirements. This indicates that in this particular case, 
given the policy circumstances, it is acceptable (on balance) to deviate 
from the District wide type policy guidance. If the overall housing mix 
was determined by the DMC to be non-compliant with the latest District 
wide evidence, it is officer’s recommendation that it could not 
substantiate a reason for refusal (on this ground) given the absence of 
harm and that the WASNP is an up-to-date part of the Development 
Plan which supports provision of smaller affordable units (for this 
development).  

 
9.22 The Council, and the developers are finalising the final draft Section 

106 Agreement. 
 
9.23 Although the overall mix may not be acceptable to the Housing Officer, 

the Council Planning Officers consider that the provision of the 
affordable housing at 40% and the mix from a range of 1 bed to 4 bed 
dwellings tips the balance in planning terms and is considered 
acceptable subject to the Section 106 agreement on this clause and the 
other obligations that will be provided by the applicant. 

 
Page 38



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

Overall Housing Mix 
 
9.24 Policy HOU1 states that “On new housing developments of 5 or more 

gross additional dwellings, an appropriate mix of housing tenures, types 
and sizes will be expected in order to create mixed and balanced 
communities”.   

 
9.25 Policy WAS7 of the WASNP seeks the following, in regards to housing 

mix: 
 

WAS 7 Housing Mix  
I. Housing mix, as regards tenure, types and sizes, should be in 

accordance with current and future local housing need and housing 
market assessments. The priority for smaller Affordable Housing 
for those in housing need, one and two bedroomed, should be 
recognised in the housing mix.  

II. Affordable housing for sale or First Homes should be provided in 
accordance with current government guidance or the local policy 
position set by East Herts Council. 

 
9.26 As mentioned previously the proposal seeks to provide a mix of 1 bed 

to 4 bed dwellings on the site and it is considered that this reflects the 
need within the neighbourhood plan and the East Herts District. 

 
9.27 Policy HOU7 requires provision on major sites of units which meet the 

changing needs of residents or society over their lifetime, and as such 
90% of homes should comply with the M4(2) (accessible and 
adaptable) accessibility standards in the Building Regulations and 10% 
should meet M4(3) (wheelchair user dwellings). A condition is 
recommended to secure this. 

 
9.28 It is considered that the quantum of housing proposed by the scheme 

would deliver significant public benefits offering a range of housing 
types and tenures and therefore this attributes significant positive 
weight in the planning balance in accordance with Policy HOU1 and 
HOU7 of the DP and policy WAS7 of the WASNP. 

 
Good design/Landscape character 
 
9.29 Policy DES2 states that “development proposals must demonstrate how 

they conserve, enhance or strengthen the character and distinctive 
features of the district’s landscape”. Policy DES4 requires development 
to be of a “high standard of design and layout to reflect and promote 

Page 39



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

local distinctiveness” and should amongst other criteria “respect or 
improving upon the character of the site and the surrounding area, in 
terms of its scale, height, massing (volume, shape), orientation, siting, 
layout, density, building materials (colour, texture), landscaping, 
environmental assets, and design features”. 

 
9.30 Part of the Master Plan of the site was to create a design code for the 

site. Section 5 of the WASNP covers the desires of good design through 
developing the site in accordance with the constraints of the site and 
the context within the village. 

 
9.31 The proposal includes various house types including detached, semi-

detached, terraced dwellings and maisonettes which are two storey in 
height. The varied typologies would help to promote a varied 
community and would break up the built form to provide visual interest. 

 
9.32 The development includes 2 storey dwellings with the larger detached 

and semi-detached properties on the outer ring and centrally the 
terrace properties. These heights are considered appropriate for a 
residential area. The dwellings would front the highway to create active 
frontages and natural surveillance to public areas. In addition, the 
density of the development is 25 dwellings per hectare (dph) which 
allows the more natural transition between the village and the wider 
open countryside. It is considered that the proposal complies with parts 
a, c, e and h of policy WAS3 of the WASNP and the general policy DES4 
of the East Herts District Plan (2018) with regards to design. 

 
9.33 With regards to materials, a Materials and Character Plan has been 

submitted. It shows that there will be a mixture of brick finish at 
ground floor with tile hung above or high-level tile hung design to the 
gable. The street scene drawings show that this will be mixed within 
each street and therefore will provide a visual interest. However, 
materials have not been defined and therefore a suitable condition is 
recommended. 

 
9.34 As part of policy WAS3, part f seeks to protect views of the village and 

therefore policy WAS18 of the WASNP is relevant. Policy WAS18 states 
that: 

 
I.  Eight important views and vistas are identified on the Policies Map 

(Figure 6) and listed below: 
 

Page 40



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

• V1: From Road Bridge to St Andrew and St Mary Church 
(south eastern approach) 

• V2: From church of St Andrew and St Mary (eastward) 
• V3: From Nigel Poulton Community Hall to church of St 

Andrew and St Mary (southward) 
• V4: From Church Lane before the railway bridge (southward) 
• V5: From Watton Road railway bridge (north eastward) 
• V6: From entrance to village on Stevenage Road (south 

eastward) 
• V7: From far side of Walkern Road bridge (southward) 
• V8: From Mill Lane to The Lammas (northward) 

 
II.  Development proposals in the Parish that are identified as having 

an impact on the identified important views should include an 
assessment of the impact of the development on the key views 
and vistas, where appropriate. 

 
9.35 V7 is the relevant view for this development. The site is on sloping 

land, whereby the entrance to the south is on lower level compared to 
the northern part, which is approximately 1.5m to 2m difference. The 
proposal will be for two storey houses and therefore will be visible from 
the V7 vantage point. The application is supported by a Landscape 
Strategy and Tree Constraint plan. The Landscape Strategy and Tree 
Constraint plan seek to retain the existing trees on the northern and 
southern boundary and enhance this. The Landscape Officer has 
commented that there is not sufficient information in regard to number 
of trees, species etc. However, it is considered that subject to a 
condition that this strategy would be acceptable and in accordance with 
policy WAS3, part f, WAS18 and policies DES3 and DES4 of the East 
Herts District Plan (2018). 

 
9.36 Part b of policy WAS3 seeks to provide a defined boundary between the 

development site and the land to the southwest which will be retained 
in the Green Belt. The Landscape Strategy seeks to provide a clear 
boundary, likely to be meadow planting and subject to condition it is 
considered that the proposal complies with policy WAS3, part b and 
policies DES3 and DES4 of the East Herts District Plan (2018). 

 
9.37 Regarding biodiversity, paragraph 174 of the NPPF requires net gains in 

biodiversity, as does policy NE3, where it is feasible and proportionate 
to do so.  

 

Page 41



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
9.38 The scheme would result in the gain of biodiversity (primarily through 

the enhancement of the boundary landscaping). Comments have been 
received from the County Ecology team. The applicants have provided a 
Biodiversity Net Gain Matric and this considers that the additional 
planting will benefit the site in terms of biodiversity. The County 
Ecology Team have stated that the enhancement measures are 
welcomed and it is recommended that conditions relating to soft 
landscaping and implementation, Ecology Mitigation Strategy will 
achieve the outcomes with the submitted Biodiversity Net Gain. 

 
9.39 Part j of policy WAS3 outlines that “public spaces should have well-

designed, implemented and maintained landscaping and tree planting 
which provide structure, interest and character. Paths and green 
corridors will connect to existing green areas beyond the development 
site. Part n of the same policy states “The provision of public amenity 
greenspace (which will remain in the Green Belt) will provide a buffer 
between the housing development and the River Beane. The 
greenspace will include public pedestrian/cycle access over the 
footbridge that will cross the river and link to the new circular path (see 
criterion l). The space could also be combined with SuDs to make the 
best use of land.” 

 
9.40 Part m seeks to ensure that the bridge is delivered prior to occupation. 

The applicant has stated that this could have funding implications and 
therefore have agreed with the Environment Agency that the two 
different elements can be delivered separately. Officers, however, 
consider that the delivery of the bridge is paramount to the 
development and agreed with the applicant that no more than 30% of 
the development can be occupied prior to the delivery of the bridge. 
This would be secured by a Section 106 agreement. 

 
9.41 The proposed site layout shows that there will be a play space located 

centrally within the development. Although this is welcomed the details 
of the equipment and management will need to be secured through a 
Section 106 agreement. 

 
9.42 There will also be an area of green amenity space to the southwest 

corner of the site which will have a path leading to the proposed 
bridge.  

 
9.43 The proposals are considered to result in a development which will 

demonstrate a good standard of overall design having regards to the 
design policies in the District Plan and Neighbourhood Plans. The 

Page 42



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

architecture of the housing, landscape provisions, layout of the site and 
scale are considered to respect the character of the settlement edge 
and rural area beyond. Officers consider the planning application 
process has resulted in a number of significant improvements to the 
overall design of the housing and flatted blocks, including enhanced 
designs to specified key plots which occupy landmark locations within 
the context of the site. The provision of the bridge over the Beane is of 
a modest design which officers consider appropriate to its setting whilst 
minimising flood risk and providing alternative access for pedestrians 
and cyclists. The proposed development is in broad compliance with the 
adopted masterplan. 

 
9.44 Subject to condition and securing the Section 106 agreement it is 

considered that the proposed development is compliant with policies 
DES1, DES2, DES3 and DES4 of the East Herts District Plan (2018) and 
policies WAS3 and WAS6 of the WASNP. 

 
Amenity 

 
9.45 Policy DES4 of the District Plan seeks that proposals do not result in 

detrimental impacts to the amenity of future occupiers or neighbouring 
residents. 

 
9.46 The main source of noise would be from traffic associated with the 

Walkern Road which borders the east of the site and A602 which 
borders the north. A full noise report has been submitted alongside the 
application. The proposed development would be separated from the 
A602 by landscaping at a minimum distance of 20 metres. The 
dwellings facing Walken Road will be separated by a minimum distance 
of approximately 20m with landscaping and a road serving the 
dwellings. The Environmental Health Team have commented that the 
proposed noise would not give rise to any significant amenity for the 
future occupiers subject to conditions. 

 
9.47 A substation is proposed southeast corner of the site and is positioned 

within a landscaped area. Concerns are raised regarding the possible 
impact of noise disturbance from this to the adjoining occupiers, 
however the Environmental Health Noise team have confirmed that 
subject to a condition mitigating any noise impact the proposal is 
acceptable. 

 
9.48 It is considered that the layout, orientation, and design of the housing 

would help to ensure that they do not impact each other by becoming 
Page 43



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

overbearing or causing overshadowing or loss of light or privacy. In 
addition, the houses and gardens are considered appropriately sized 
and fit for purpose. 

 
9.49 The proposed dwellings are considered to be sufficiently located away 

from other neighbouring dwellings to prevent detrimental impacts from 
occurring. 

 
9.50 Subject to conditions, it is considered that a satisfactory level of 

amenity would be achieved for the existing occupiers of the wider 
development and the future occupiers of the proposed development, in 
accordance with policy DES4 and policy WAS6 of the WASNP in respect 
of amenity impact upon existing and future occupiers. 

 
Parking and Highways 

 
9.51 Policy TRA2 of the District Plan outlines that development should 

ensure safe and suitable access. Policy TRA3 outlines that suitable 
parking provision must be provided in line with the Council’s Parking 
SPD. 

 
9.52 The local highway authority have been consulted on the application. 

They have raised no objection to the proposal subject to conditions. 
They have commented that the applicants have had extensive 
consultation during the application in order to ensure that the access 
and wider works on highways are to be delivered in accordance with 
policy WAS3 part d which states: 

 
At the entrance of the site on Walkern Road, a scheme to reduce traffic 
speed is essential. A pedestrian/cyclist crossing point, as part of the 
circular path, to link to the opposite open green space and a new 
linking footpath along Walkern Road towards the village centre are also 
required. 

 
9.53 It is noted that the applicants have worked with the County Highways 

Team in order to deliver a safe and convenient access from the site. 
Gates were originally proposed at the entrant to the development but 
were removed after discussion with the Highways team.  

 
9.54 The highways have also confirmed that in order to deliver the highway 

works a Section 278 agreement is required and has been part of the 
negotiations relating to crossing points and speed reduction measures. 
The site is accessed via Walken Road which is considered acceptable. 

Page 44



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

The proposed cycle and pedestrian routes circulate through the site and 
connect with the existing infrastructure. 

 
9.55 The applicants have provided TRICS assessment which the local 

Highway team have assessed and agree with the data within it. They 
have confirmed that the overall package to the highways work would 
not be severe on the highway network from this development. 

 
9.56 Park k of policy WAS3 requires that a bridge is proposed to connect the 

site over the River Beane, which would further enhance the connectivity 
of the site to the wider area. In addition, as part of the wider highway 
works a pedestrian crossing to connect the bridleway (006). As noted 
previously the design of the bridge has been designed to minimise 
flooding upstream, in liaison with the Environment Agency. Modelling 
analysis has been carried out to inform the specifications of the bridge. 
The applicants have submitted a bridge evolution document to set out 
the final design. The final design will be made up of timber, metal and 
concrete. The timber overlay on a metal frame gives the bridge some 
interest and the use of wood a more natural look. The use of concrete 
and metal are not considered to reflect the character of the rural 
location. However, these materials allow for the structure to be 
supported and avoid infilling underneath the steps to avoid causing a 
flood issue upstream. The use of these materials is considered to be 
functional and practical in this instance. It is considered that the overall 
design is regarded by officers to be of an acceptable standard of design 
which will provide a major benefit of the development in accordance 
with the site allocation policy in the WASNP. 

 
9.57 There will also be the installation of tactile paving to help sight impaired 

future occupiers and will be conditioned. The bridge has been designed 
to ensure pedestrian and cyclist access is provided across the river 
Beane as an alternative route to the High Street in Watton-at-Stone. 
The route and bridge would not comprise a fully active travel route as 
the bridge contains steps to ensure there is sufficient clearance over 
the river and to manage level changes. The applicant has provided a 
robust justification for the bridge which has been designed to follow 
advice from the Environment Agency. Officers consider that the 
proposals strike the correct balance between achieving a good design 
appropriate to its rural setting, providing access for pedestrians and 
cyclists and minimising flood risk in the area. 

 
9.58 A Travel Plan has been submitted and is considered broadly acceptable. 

A condition is recommended to ensure that this is delivered. 
Page 45



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 
9.59 The overall car parking strategy for the site has been submitted as part 

of the drawings. This confirms that there will be sufficient space 
provided within the site to accommodate car parking for the respective 
dwellings. A total of 150 spaces are provided with a split of the 
following: 

 
 Car Parking SPD Units Total 
1 Bed dwellings 1.5 6 9 
2 Bed dwellings 2.0 14 28 
3 Bed dwellings 2.5 16 40 
4+ Bed 
dwellings 

3.0 24 72 

  60 149 spaces 
    

 
9.60 The car parking layout shows that the dwellings will have allocated 

parking. The maisonettes will be unallocated with visitor parking also 
being unallocated. Some of the properties will have garages which will 
be additional parking spaces. Considering the overall layout and 
proposed dwellings it is considered that the parking strategy is 
acceptable and in accordance with policy TRA3 and policy WAS6 of the 
WASNP. 

 
9.61 Cycle storage would be provided either in garages or sheds within the 

curtilage of the property, with a cycle store provided for the flats. The 
provision of this will be secured through a condition. 

 
Sustainability and Climate Change  

 
9.62 Under policies CC1 and CC2 of the District Plan, all proposals must 

demonstrate how the design, materials, construction, and operation of 
the development would minimise overheating, reduce the need for 
heating, integrate green infrastructure and minimise carbon dioxide 
emissions. 

 
9.63 Under policy WAT4 of the District Plan, development must minimise the 

use of mains water through water saving measures, the recycling of 
grey water, and reducing mains water consumption. 

 
9.64 An Energy and Sustainability Statement and checklist has been 

submitted. The development would reduce energy usage through the 
installation of highly efficient fabric, ventilation, and heating systems, 

Page 46



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

together with an air-tight build. The Statement confirms that the 
proposal would meet Building Regulations L and O which require 
developments to conserve fuel and power and prevent overheating.  

 
9.65 A range of potentially appropriate low carbon or renewable 

technologies have been considered in the Statement and it has been 
concluded that air source heat pumps and electric heating is the 
preferred and most viable technology for the site. It is noted that gas 
boilers will be used for the dwellings. 

 
9.66 The report further adds that for ventilation and cooling a detailed 

design of the plant will be designed later. This will allow for a more 
appropriate ventilation strategy in combination with other factors such 
as position of the dwelling and noise assessment. It is considered that a 
suitable condition would be appropriate to control this. 

 
9.67 It is considered reasonable to request conditions to ensure that the 

development is carried out in accordance with the Energy and 
Sustainability Statement and requiring details of the air source heat 
pumps and other plant to be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority 

 
9.68 Low and reduced water demand fittings such as taps, showers and 

water consuming appliances will be provided to individual homes 
helping to reduce water demand from the development. All dwellings 
on the site shall achieve a water conservation standard of 110 litres per 
person per day (as required by policy WAT4). A condition can be added 
to secure this. 

 
9.69 It is therefore considered that sufficient information has been 

submitted to demonstrate compliance with policies CC1, CC2 and WAT4 
of the District Plan. 

 
Flooding and Drainage and SUDS 

 
9.70 Policy WAT1 of the District Plan states that development proposals 

should neither increase the likelihood or intensity of any form of 
flooding, nor increase the risk to people or property on site and to 
neighbouring land or further downstream. Policy WAT3 of the District 
Plan states that development proposals will be required to preserve or 
enhance the water environment. 

 

Page 47



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
9.71 The parcel of land that is to accommodate the housing development 

will be within flood zone 1 which is within a low risk area. The 
southwestern parcel of land which has the river Beane running through 
it. The banks of the river are within flood zone 2, 3, 3a and 3b and the 
rest of the land will be within flood zone 1. 

 
9.72 The proposed bridge will be within flood zone 2 and 3. The bridge has 

been designed in conjunction with the Environment Agency. The 
applicants have submitted a Flood Risk Assessment and the 
Environment Agency have worked with the applicants to finalise the 
design of the bridge. The EA have now confirmed that the design is 
acceptable (from a flood risk design perspective) and therefore subject 
to conditions the proposal is acceptable. 

 
9.73 With regards SUDS the applicants have submitted a Sustainability 

Assessment, Flood Risk Assessment and Soakaway and permeability 
testing documents to support the application. The drawings show that 
an area of attenuation basin/bioswale is to be provided in the southeast 
part of the site and adjacent to the proposed central play area is a 
community green with informal play and SuDS features.  

 
9.74 The Environment Agency have confirmed that subject to conditions the 

proposal is acceptable. 
 
9.75 Affinity Water raise no objection subject to the construction works and 

operation of the proposed development site being carried out in 
accordance with the relevant British Standards and Best Management 
Practices. This can be recommended via an informative. 

 
9.76 Thames Water raise no objection subject to the developers contacting 

Thames Water in respect of surface water and therefore an informative 
is recommended. 

 
9.77 It is therefore considered that the proposal would not have an 

unacceptable impact with regards to flooding and drainage or the water 
environment, subject to conditions in accordance with policies WAT1 
and WAT4 of the East Herts District Plan (2018) and policies WAS3 part 
I and m of the WASNP.  

 
Ecology 

 
9.78 Policies NE1 and NE3 of the District Plan indicate that proposals should 

not result in detrimental impacts to biodiversity and should seek to 
Page 48



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

enhance biodiversity and create opportunities for wildlife. Policy NE2 of 
the District Plan outlines that all proposals should achieve a net gain in 
biodiversity. 

 
9.79 As stated previously the applicants have submitted a Biodiversity Net 

Gain report which concludes that there will be an uplift of around 
11.31% (habitat), 16.68% (hedgerow) and 20.08% (water course). 
This will mainly be through the enhancement of landscaping across the 
site. The Ecology Team have commented that this is welcomed and 
therefore conditions relating to Ecological Mitigation Strategy and 
lighting should be a condition for approval. 

 
9.80 Subject to conditions and the enhancement of grassland in the country 

park, it is considered that the proposal would not result in detrimental 
impacts to ecology, in compliance with policies NE1, NE2 and NE3. 

 
Infrastructure Requirements 

 
9.81 Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should 

consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made 
acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations. 
Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. Paragraph 
57 of the NPPF states that planning obligations must only be sought 
where they are necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

 
9.82 Part I of policy WAS3 requires the development to deliver community 

benefits such as the cycle and pedestrian ways over the bridge. 
 
9.83 A range of contributions have been requested by this Council to ensure 

that the infrastructure in the town can support the additional residents. 
The applicant has agreed the following contributions, which align with 
the Council requirement: 

 
• Recycling and refuse (£4,320.00) 
• Affordable Housing 40% 
• Health Care Facility 
• GP provision (£106,380.00);  
• Allotment (£10,611); 
• Community Centre and Village Hall (£41,572); 
• Parks and gardens and amenity green space (£59,146.00); 

Page 49



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

• Fitness Gym (£15,263); 
• Studio Space (£6,305); 
• Swimming Pool (£35,121); 
• Sports Hall (£34,344); 
• Bowls (£14,451); 
• Outdoor Tennis (£9,900); 
• Playing Pitches (£104,791); 
• The Childrens Play area and Natural and semi natural green space 

are provided on site and therefore no contributions are required for 
these. 

• and monitoring costs. 
 

9.84 The applicant has also agreed to pay all of the planning obligations 
requested by Hertfordshire County Council towards: 
 
• Child Services 0 - 2 (£50,105),  
• Child Services 5 - 11 (£783),  
• Special educational needs and disabilities (£63,727),  
• Library services (£20,549),  
• Youth service (£20,173),  
• Recycling centre (£5,807),  
• Waste transfer station (£6,325),  
• Fire and rescue service (£22,835),  
• Monitoring costs. 

 
9.85 It is noted that the East of England Ambulance Service have requested 

an obligation. However, due to the way they are funded, it is not 
considered that the request would meet the test within The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulation 2010 section 122. 

 
9.86 All the above contributions are proposed to be secured by heads of 

terms within the legal agreement. In accordance with policies DEL1, 
DEL2 and DEL3 of the East Herts Local Plan (2018) and policies WAS3 
part I and WAS26 of the WASNP. 

 
Other matters 
 
Waste 

 
9.87 The Waste Authority Team commented that there is sufficient turning 

area on site for bin vehicles and room within the dwellings to store 
waste and recycling materials. 

 
Page 50



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
9.88 Subject to conditions relating to delivering the storage facilities and 

routes it is considered that the proposal is acceptable from a waste 
facility point of view. 

 
Contamination 

 
9.89 The Environmental Health Team have commented that they have no 

objection to the proposal and do not request any conditions. 
 

Historic Environment 
 
9.90 The Historic Environment Unit note that the proposed development site 

is partially in an Area of Archaeological Significance identified in the 
Local Plan. This denotes an area containing cropmark evidence visible 
on aerial photographs that suggests potential prehistoric funerary and 
ritual activity, and possibly settlement evidence of likely late Neolithic, 
Bronze Age and/or Iron Age date. The most significant, within the 
development site, is that of a cropmark of a circular enclosure 
approximately 24m in diameter on the eastern side of the site, which 
probably represents the ploughed-down remains of a round barrow of 
Late Neolithic to Early Bronze Age date [Historic Environment Record 
No 7654]. This interpretation is strengthened by the results of the 
geophysical survey carried out by Magnitude Surveys, which identified 
an anomaly that has the morphological characteristics of a ring ditch, 
with a break in the signal which is suggestive of the presence of an 
entrance and possible internal features, in this area. A second 
cropmark, comprising a linear ditch c. 100m long and partly 
superimposed on the ring ditch is also present within the site [HER 
7655]. This may be of Bronze Age or later date. A further cropmark of a 
curvilinear ditch, approx. 60m long, to the east of the development site 
also may be contemporaneous with the features within the site [HER 
7656]. 

 
9.91 It is noted that the applicants have submitted a desk top study and the 

HCC Archaeology Team had requested trial trenches to be dug to 
further analysis the geophysical survey. The applicant undertook this 
exercise, and it was found that there were no archaeological assets to 
be found. The HCC Archaeology have stated that this is acceptable and 
recommend no conditions. In light of the above, it is considered that 
the proposal is in accordance with policies HA1 and HA3 of the East 
Herts District Plan (2018) and the NPPF. 

 

Page 51



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

Third Party 
 

9.92 It is noted that third party representations have been received with 
regards to the impact of the development on highway safety. However, 
as set out in the highways section the Highway authority have not 
raised any objection to the proposal and have agreed the Section 278 
works with the applicant to deliver the proposal without having a 
significant impact on the highway network. 

 
9.93 It is also recognised that the bridge design would be stepped and 

therefore not be as inclusive as a ramped bridge. However, the design 
of the bridge has been led by the Environment Agency as this will be in 
a flood zone and certain flooding mitigation measures are to be 
incorporated and taking an overall balance of delivering a bridge and 
connectivity to the wider area it is considered that the bridge design it 
acceptable. 

 
10.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion 

 
10.1 The report provides officer’s comprehensive consideration of the 

Outline planning application and its supporting documentation, 
including the further/additional information submitted and any 
representations received. The report has considered the proposals in 
light of the adopted development plan policies and other material 
considerations or representations relevant to the environmental effects 
of the proposals. 

 
10.2 In the planning balance, the most important policy is compliance with 

the criteria set out in Policy WAS3 of the Watton-at-Stone 
Neighbourhood Plan and general policies within the East Herts District 
Plan (2018) which allocates the site for 60 dwellings, which would 
contribute towards the councils 5 year housing land supply. 

 
10.3 With regards to policy WAS3 of the Neighbourhood Plan (2023) the 

table below shows how the proposal has conformed with this policy: 
 

WAS3 PROVISIONS AND 
ISSUES  

WAS3 CRITERIA MET? 

a) Given the site area and the target of 
30 units per hectare, this site is 
suitable for 60 homes; 

Yes – the scheme is for 60 
dwellings. 
 

b) A physical boundary for the village 
and Green Belt should be created to 

Yes – the submitted plans 
and conditions will ensure 

Page 52



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

form the western edge of the site 
with appropriate planting of native 
species, including field boundary 
trees, to create a clearly 
recognisable and permanent new 
boundary; 

that the proposal will 
deliver the appropriate 
boundary treatment to 
maximise biodiversity and 
landscape benefits.  
 

c) The frontage and set-back of the 
development along Walkern Road 
should follow the line of existing 
housing to the south. The space 
between Walkern Road and the 
housing must be landscaped and not 
be dominated by parking;  

Yes –The layout of the 
development facing 
Walkern Road follows the 
topography of the road 
and dwellings to the south. 
Additional landscaping is 
proposed along this 
frontage to ensure the 
housing is not dominated 
by parking.  
 

d) At the entrance of the site on 
Walkern Road, a scheme to reduce 
traffic speed is essential. A 
pedestrian/cyclist crossing point, as 
part of the circular path, to link to 
the opposite open green space and 
a new linking footpath along 
Walkern Road towards the village 
centre are also required;  

Yes – The Highway 
Authority have confirmed 
that a Section 278 
agreement between the 
parties will deliver the 
required crossing points 
and footpaths to link the 
routes to the wider village. 
In addition to this speed 
reduction changes to the 
highways are part of the 
overall package of the 
Section 278 agreement. 

e) Buildings should not be over 2 
storeys in height or 2.5 storeys 
where this aligns with the Design 
Code exceptions;  

Yes – All the proposed 
buildings will not exceed 2 
storey in height.  
 

f) The view on arrival into the village 
(Protected View 7, see Policy WAS 
18) means that the design must 
ensure that the new buildings do not 
break the horizon line (the line 
formed by the heights of existing 
buildings) of the village and also 
that the buildings and landscape add 

Yes – The view from the 
protected view 7 will be 
protected with the 
combination of the 
buildings not being more 
than 2 storey in height and 
enhancement to the 
landscaping along the 
northern and eastern 

Page 53



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

interest in the foreground of the 
view;  

boundaries, in conjunction 
with the retention of the 
existing landscaping. 
 

g) The site lies in an area of 
Archaeological Significance where 
District Plan Policy HA3 applies;  

Yes –The applicants and 
County Council 
Archaeology have been 
working together and have 
raised no objection subject 
to the recommended of a 
condition.  
 

h) A mix of house types should be 
included, and consideration given to 
ensuring positive facades are 
achieved overlooking public and 
communal space and that the 
development as a whole is 
welcoming with a well-proportioned 
hierarchy of streets and spaces.;  

Yes – The proposal will 
provide a mixture of 1 bed 
to 4 bed dwellings. The 
Urban Design Officer has 
commented that the 
amended scheme now 
provides natural 
surveillance of communal 
and public spaces from the 
dwellings and more visual 
interest within the street 
scene and space. The 
design achieves a well-
proportioned hierarchy of 
streets and spaces. 

i) An efficient, effective and well-
maintained SuDs system should be 
designed and implemented to 
ensure no polluting run-off flows 
into the River Beane and to provide 
a multi-functional recreational space, 
with high ecological value, 
overlooked by the new homes.;  

Yes – SuDs Systems have 
been designed accordingly. 
The LLFA and The 
Environment Agency have 
not raised any concerns 
regarding the application in 
terms of flooding and 
water environment. The 
Ecology Team have also 
recommend conditions to 
ensure a high ecology 
value is delivered. As 
stated previously the Urban 
Design Team have 
commented that natural 
surveillance to overlook 

Page 54



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

public spaces is now 
acceptable.  
 

j) The public spaces should have well-
designed, implemented and 
maintained landscaping and tree 
planting which provide structure, 
interest and character. Paths and 
green corridors will connect to 
existing green areas beyond the 
development site;  

Yes – The public spaces 
have been well designed 
with sensitive planting of 
trees integrated into the 
layout. Landscaping, 
maintenance and 
implementation is subject 
to condition. The retention 
of the natural features on 
the site is also 
recommended as part of 
the list of conditions. 
 

k) The development must include a 
connecting footpath that links from 
the entrance of the site to a new 
pedestrian/cycle bridge across the 
River Beane, as part of the wider 
circular path around the village (see 
Policy WAS 10);  

Yes –The submitted plans 
show that there will be a 
route through the 
development via the new 
bridge to connect with the 
circular path around the 
village. 

l) In accordance with East Herts 
District Plan Policy VILL1 III. The 
Neighbourhood Plan is 
accommodating additional 
development to the policy 
requirement, which will deliver 
community benefits. Specifically, this 
development will be linked (by way 
of negative conditions and/or 
Section 106 obligations) to a new 
pedestrian/cycle bridge over the 
River Beane, across the field to the 
Stevenage Road to connect with the 
pedestrian access to Moorymead 
Close and the railway station 
provided through site WAS 4 
Stevenage Road (see Policy WAS 
10). The new pedestrian/cycle 
bridge must be designed and 

Yes – As part of the 
proposal a bridge is to be 
provided and a path linking 
the site to the bridge and 
onto Stevenage Road is 
provided. The bridge has 
been designed in 
conjunction with the 
Environment Agency. As 
part of the scheme the 
East Herts Council, Parish 
Council and Hertfordshire 
County Council have 
requested obligations in 
order for the development 
to meet a wider public 
benefit. 
  

Page 55



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

constructed to the satisfaction of the 
Environment Agency.; 

m) The Environment Agency’s approval 
of the bridge design must be 
secured before any development 
takes place on this site and a 
management plan to ensure the 
upkeep for the bridge and 
pedestrian/cycle path must be 
agreed before any part of the 
development is first occupied;  

Yes – As noted above and 
the submitted plans and 
supporting documents, the 
bridge has been designed 
in conjunction with the 
Environment Agency.  

n) The provision of public amenity 
greenspace (which will remain in the 
Green Belt) will provide a buffer 
between the housing development 
and the River Beane. The 
greenspace will include public 
pedestrian/cycle access over the 
footbridge that will cross the river 
and link to the new circular path 
(see criterion l). The space could 
also be combined with SuDs to make 
the best use of land; 

Yes – The site layout 
shows that there will be 
public amenity space 
provided as a buffer 
between the dwellings and 
Green Belt. There will be a 
public footpath through 
here linking the 
development to the bridge. 
SuDs are incorporated into 
the site greenspaces.   
 

 
10.4 The table above has considered the application against the 

neighbourhood plan policies and the East Herts District Plan (2018) and 
it is concluded that the proposal is acceptable and delivers the 
objectives of the plans as a whole. 

 
10.5 The developers will provide a range of housing with 40% being 

affordable and additional landscaping which will benefit to mitigate 
vista points from outside the site, BNG and ecology gains as well as 
creating a high-quality design.  

 
10.6 The proposal will also attract Section 106 obligations which will benefit 

the wider society. 
 
10.7 Coupled with this, the proposals are considered to be acceptable in 

relation to access and transport impacts, sustainability, drainage and 
residential amenity. Subject to financial contributions towards delivery 
of additional infrastructure, the proposals would not result in undue 
pressure upon local facilities and infrastructure. Appropriate mitigations 
for potential impacts around biodiversity / sustainability and water 

Page 56



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

management can be secured by condition. As such the scheme is 
considered to accord with all relevant District Local Plan policies, 
neighbourhood plan polices and the NPPF.  

 
11.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 That planning permission is GRANTED subject to the conditions/reasons 

and the completion of a Section 106 agreement. 
 
Draft Legal Agreement 
Financial contributions set out below: 
 
HCC Contributions 
• Childcare Service Ages 0 - 2 towards Bennington private Nursery and/or 

provision serving the development (£50,105 index linked to BCIS 
1Q2022)  

• Childcare Service Ages 5 - 11 towards Watton at Stone school and/or 
provision serving the development (£783 index linked to BCIS 1Q2022) 

• Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) towards the delivery 
of new Severe Learning Difficulty (SLD) special school places (EAST) 
and/or provision serving the development (£63,727 index linked to 
BCIS 1Q2022)  

• Library Service towards the re-provision of Stevenage Central Library 
and/or provision serving the development (£20,549 index linked to 
BCIS 1Q2022)  

• Youth Service towards sourcing a new young people's centre in 
Hertford and/or provision serving the development (£20,173 index 
linked to BCIS 1Q2022)  

• Waste Service Recycling Centre towards increasing the capacity of 
Stevenage Recycling Centre and/or provision serving the development 
(£5,807 index linked to BCIS 1Q2022)  

• Waste Service Transfer Station towards the new Eastern Transfer 
Station and/or provision serving the development (£6,325 index linked 
to BCIS 3Q2022) Fire and Rescue Service towards the new fire station 
at Hertford and/or provision serving the development (£22,835 index 
linked to BCIS 1Q2022)  

• Monitoring Fees – HCC will charge monitoring fees. These will be based 
on the number of triggers within each legal agreement with each 
distinct trigger point attracting a charge of £340 (adjusted for inflation 
against RPI July 2021). For further information on monitoring fees 
please see section 5.5 of the Guide to Developer Infrastructure 
Contributions. 

 
Page 57



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
EHDC Contributions 
• Affordable Housing – policy compliant affordable housing provision is 

required as set out in the May 2020 Affordable Housing SPD. Housing 
Strategy Officer to advise on tenure split and location within the 
development. 

• Monitoring Fee Contribution – £4,200.00 (13 x £300 + £300) - £300.00 
per EHDC financial Contribution Obligation Plus £300 – “for the 
Council’s costs of monitoring the Development over the lifetime of the 
planning obligations”. Payable prior to Commencement of Development 
and RPI Indexed from May 2020 

• Recycling Contribution - financial contribution based on a maximum of 
60 Dwellings = £4,320.00 (PLUS INDEXATION from Oct 2008 to be 
added) – “towards the Council’s costs for the provision of refuse and 
recycling containers to the Dwellings in the Development”. Payable on 
identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from October 2008 as 
per the requirements of the 2008 Planning Obligations SPD. 

• NOTE: £4,320.00 is based on 60 dwellings @ £72 per dwelling and is to 
be indexed from October 2008 – (for information only the Contribution 
with Indexation from October 2008 to December 2023 = £7,520.81).  

• Health Facilities Contribution – collected by East Herts Council – 
Contribution requirements as per their consultation response dated 
16/02/2024 - NHS England and the HWE ICB reserve the right to 
amend and request that this be reflected in any Section 106 
agreement:  

• GMS GP Provision Contribution - Total GMS monies requested: 60 
dwellings x £1,773.00 = £106,380.00 – towards increasing capacity of 
the Watton Place Clinic – Payable on 10th Occupation and RPI Indexed 
from Date of Agreement – NOTE: EHDC are the collection authority for 
the HWE ICB – see consultation response dated 16/02/2024 for full 
details of this contribution.  

• Allotments contribution – financial contribution based on a maximum of 
60 Dwellings = £10,611.00 (Allotment facilities and improvements - 
£6,519.00 Plus Maintenance (20yrs) - £4,092.00) - “towards the cost of 
facilities provision, improvements, and maintenance of the Parish 
Council allotments (situated at the rear of Glebe Court) and/or other 
allotments and community growing spaces in Watton-at-Stone.” - 
payable on identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from May 
2020. 

• Community Centres and Village Hall contribution - financial contribution 
based on a maximum of 60 Dwellings = £41,572.00 (Village Hall and 
Community Centre provision and improvements - £30,234.00 plus 
Sinking Fund (25yrs) - £3,779.00 and Maintenance (25yrs) - £7,559.00) 
– “Towards the provision of facilities, improvements, and maintenance 

Page 58



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

of Nigel Poulton Community Centre and/or the Memorial Hall (High 
Street) and/or the Scout Hut at Mill Lane and/or other community 
facilities in the Watton-at-Stone area used by the residents of the 
development” - payable on identified Occupation triggers and RPI 
Indexed from May 2020. 

• Parks and Gardens and Amenity Greenspace contribution – financial 
contribution based on a maximum of 60 Dwellings = £59,146.00 
(Parks, gardens, and amenity green spaces provision and 
improvements - £30,421.00 Plus Maintenance (20yrs) - £28,725.00) – 
“Towards the costs of provision, improvement, and maintenance of 
parks and gardens and amenity green space facilities at The Meadow 
and/or Gt Innings Green Space and/ or other public parks, gardens and 
amenity greenspaces in Watton-at-Stone as used by residents of the 
development, including landscape planting and new access features 
such as gates, pathways and interpretation signage” - payable on 
identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from May 2020 
 

Required Indoor Sport and Leisure Facilities Contributions 
• Fitness Gyms Contribution - financial contribution based on a maximum 

of 60 Dwellings = total contribution required = £15,263.00 (Fitness 
gym provision and improvements - £11,100.00 Plus Sinking Fund – 
25yrs - £1,388.00 and Maintenance (25yrs) - £2,775.00) for Fitness 
gym provision and improvements – “Towards the costs of the provision 
of fitness gym facilities at Hartham Leisure Centre as used by the 
residents of the development and/or alternative provision serving the 
Development as agreed between the Owners and the Council in 
writing.” - payable on identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed 
from May 2020.  

• Studio Space Contribution - financial contribution based on a maximum 
of 60 Dwellings = £6,305.00 (Studio Space provision and improvements 
- £4,586.00 Plus Sinking Fund – 25yrs - £573.00 and Maintenance 
(25yrs) - £1,146.00) - for Studio Space provision and improvements - 
“Towards the costs of the provision of studio space facilities at Hartham 
Leisure Centre as used by the residents of the development and/or 
alternative provision serving the Development as agreed between the 
Owners and the Council in writing” - payable on identified Occupation 
triggers and RPI Indexed from May 2020.  

• Swimming Pool Contribution - financial contribution based on a 
maximum of 60 Dwellings = £35,121.00 (Swimming Pool provision and 
improvements - £25,542.00 Plus Sinking Fund – 25yrs - £3,193.00 and 
Maintenance (25yrs) - £6,386.00) for Swimming Pool provision and 
improvements - “Towards the costs of the provision of swimming pool 
facilities Hartham Leisure Centre as used by the residents of the 

Page 59



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

development and/or alternative provision serving the Development as 
agreed between the Owners and the Council in writing” - payable on 
identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from May 2020.  

• Sports Hall Contribution - financial contribution based on a maximum of 
60 Dwellings = £34,344.00 (Sports hall provision and improvements - 
£24,978.00 Plus Sinking Fund – 25yrs - £3,122.00 and Maintenance 
(25yrs) - £6,244.00) for Sports hall provision and improvements - 
“towards the costs of provision of equipment/ facilities, improvements, 
and maintenance of the indoor community sports facilities at The Nigel 
Poulton Community Hall and/or other community halls providing indoor 
sports facilities as used by the residents of the development” - payable 
on identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from May 2020. 
 

Outdoor Sport and Leisure Facilities Contributions 
• Bowls - financial contribution based on a maximum of 60 Dwellings = 

£14,451.00 (Bowls Club facilities and improvements - £5,612.00 Plus 
Maintenance (25yrs) - £8,839.00) - “towards the costs of provision, 
maintenance and improvements including the bowling green and 
clubhouse at Aston Bowls Club and/or Datchworth Bowls Club as used 
by residents of the development” - payable on 1st Occupation/ 
identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from May 2020. 
 
NOTE: There is not a Bowls Club in Watton-at-Stone – Aston and 
Datchworth are the two nearest clubs to the development. 
 

• Outdoor Tennis – financial contribution based on a maximum of 60 
Dwellings = £9,900.00 (Outdoor tennis provision and improvements - 
£7,071.00 Plus Sinking Fund – 25yrs - £2,121.00 and Maintenance 
(25yrs) - £707.00) – “Towards the costs of provision, improvement, 
and maintenance of the outdoor tennis courts facilities , including 
relining and new nets, on the Multi-Purpose Play Area (MPPA) in 
recreation space at The Meadow open space and/or alternative 
provision serving the Development as agreed between the Owners and 
the Council in writing” - payable on identified Occupation triggers and 
RPI Indexed from May 2020. 

• Playing Pitches Contribution – total financial contribution based on a 
maximum of 60 Dwellings = £126,690.00 (amount based on Sport 
England calculations for grass and artificial pitch facilities) – “Towards 
the costs of provision, improvement, and maintenance of the sports 
pitches and cricket pitch at The Meadow open space in Watton-at-
Stone and/or towards the 3G Sports Pitch Project for new 3G playing 
pitches as outlined in the Watton-at-Stone 2017-2033 Neighbourhood 
Plan and/or alternative provision serving the Development as agreed 

Page 60



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

between the Owners and the Council in writing” - payable on identified 
Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from May 2020. 
 

On-site Facilities 
• Children’s Play and Provision for Young People – play areas to be 

provided on site, but if no on-site provision or insufficient provision 
then a financial contribution would be required: Total financial 
contribution based on a maximum of 60 Dwellings = £128,830.00 (Play 
and young people facilities and improvements - £51,608.00 Plus Sinking 
Fund – 20yrs - £51,608.00 and Maintenance (20yrs) - £25,613.00) - 
“Towards the costs of provision, improvement and maintenance of 
children’s play and young people’s facilities at The Meadow and/or Gt 
Innings Recreation Ground and/or other play areas within the village 
boundary as used by the residents of the development.” - payable on 
1st Occupation/ identified Occupation triggers and RPI Indexed from 
May 2020.  

 
NOTE: EHC do not adopt play areas on new developments and a 
financial contribution will be required if no agreed play area(s) are 
provided on site. 

• Natural and semi-natural green space – to be provided on site, but if no 
agreed on-site provision or insufficient provision then a financial 
contribution would be required: Total financial contribution based on a 
maximum of 60 Dwellings = £24,900.00 (Natural and semi-natural 
green space provision and improvements - £17,684.00 Plus 
Maintenance (20yrs) - £7,216.00) – “Towards the provision of 
improvements to the open green space at Watton Green and/or The 
Lammas and/or other green spaces used by the residents of the 
development” - payable on 1st Occupation/ identified Occupation 
triggers and RPI Indexed from May 2020. NOTE: Financial contribution 
will be required if no agreed or insufficient natural and semi-natural 
greenspace provision is provided on site. 
 

Highways 
• The Highways use the HCC’s Planning Obligations Toolkit (July 2019).  
 £2133 per ‘sustainable travel trip’ index liked by SPONS from July 2019 

(which equates to £3030 today) is considered suitable in principle. 
 
-  0.45*267 = 120 car trips to be changed from car to sustainable 

modes in the long term. 
-  120*£3030 = £363,600 

 
• 25% of the combined Section 278 works valuation (i.e. £111,500) is a 

Page 61



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 suitable reduction to apply to the headlines Section 106 figure of 

£363,600, recognising these works will have some degree of wider 
public highway benefit. That reduces the figure down to £252,100. 

• Bus Service and Accessibility Contribution’ of £252,100 index linked by 
CPT from December 2023. 
 

Non-Financial 
• The enhancement of approximately 11.31% (habitat), 16.68% 

(hedgerow) and 20.08% (water course) to achieve a net gain in 
biodiversity and management of no less than 30 years. 

• The bridge shall be completed and open to the public prior to the 
occupation of 30% or less, of the development of the dwellings. 
 

Conditions 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  
 
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of s 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by s 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved plans listed at the end of this Decision Notice. 
 
 Reason:  the approved plans, drawings and specifications. 
 
Prior to commencement: 
 
3 Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, detailed 

plans showing the existing and proposed ground levels of the site 
relative to adjoining land, together with the slab levels and ridge 
heights of the proposed buildings, shall be submitted to, and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 

 Reason: The details are required to be approved prior to the 
commencement of development to ensure that the development is 
properly related to the levels of adjoining development in the interests 
of neighbour amenity and good design in accordance with Policy DES4 
of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

Page 62



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
4 No development shall take place until a landscape and ecological 

management plan, including long-term design objectives, management 
responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas 
(except privately owned domestic gardens), has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The landscape and 
ecological management plan shall be carried out as approved and any 
subsequent variations shall be agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include the following elements: 
 
• Details of mitigation/compensation for impacts on riparian habitat 

from the bridge.  
• Details of any proposed enhancements to the river Beane.  
• Details of proposed planting and habitat creation.  
• Details of any proposed footpaths, fencing and lighting.  
• Details of any invasive species control and management.  
• Details of treatment of site boundaries and/or buffers around 

water bodies.  
• Details of how these former elements support the objectives of the 

Thames River Basin Management Plan i.e. how the proposals may 
prevent deterioration of the status or potential of surface waters 
and groundwater, and how proposals may support in achieving 
good ecological and chemical status.  

• Details demonstrating how green/blue space will be protected 
during development and managed/maintained over the longer 
term, including adequate financial provision, and a named body 
responsible for management. 
 

 Reasons: To ensure the protection of wildlife and supporting habitat. 
Also, to secure opportunities for enhancing the site’s nature 
conservation value, whilst considering and contributing towards 
achieving the aims of the Thames River Basin Management Plan in 
accordance with Paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF and Policies NE3 
and NE4 of the East Herts District Plan (2018).  

 
5 No development shall take place until a scheme has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for the 
provision of fire hydrants at the development. No dwelling shall be 
occupied until the fire hydrant has been installed as approved. 
Thereafter the fire hydrants shall be retained in their approved form. 

 
 Reason: To ensure a safety and Building and Fire Regulations in 

accordance with Policies DES5 of the East Herts District Plan September 
2018. 

Page 63



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 
6 Prior to the commencement of any part of the development hereby 

permitted apart from enabling works, details of the measures required 
to facilitate the provision of high-speed broadband connections shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The submitted details shall include a timetable and method of delivery 
for high-speed broadband for each residential unit. Once approved, 
high speed broadband infrastructure shall be implemented thereafter in 
accordance with the approved details including the timetable and 
method of delivery.  

 
 Reason: In order to ensure the provision of appropriate infrastructure 

to support the future sustainability of the development in accordance 
with policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 and the NPPF. 

 
7 Before the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a Site 

Waste Management Plan (SWMP) for the approved development shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The SWMP should aim to reduce the amount of waste 
produced on site and should contain information including estimated 
types and quantities of waste to arise from construction and waste 
management actions for each waste type during construction and 
operation of the development hereby permitted. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved SWMP for the duration 
of the development hereby permitted. 

 
 Reason: To reduce waste from construction of the site in accordance 

with Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan. 
 
8 Before commencement of the development, a ‘Construction Traffic 

Management Plan’ shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried 
out in accordance with the approved Plan. The ‘Construction Traffic 
Management Plan’ must set out: 
 
• the phasing of construction and proposed construction programme. 
• the methods for accessing the site, including wider construction 

vehicle routing. 
• the numbers of daily construction vehicles including details of their 

sizes, at each phase of the development. 
• the hours of operation and construction vehicle movements. 

Page 64



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

• details of any highway works necessary to enable construction to 
take place. 

• details of construction vehicle parking, turning and 
loading/unloading arrangements clear of the public highway. 

• details of any hoardings. 
• details of how the safety of existing public highway users and 

existing public right of way users will be maintained. 
• management of traffic to reduce congestion. 
• control of dirt and dust on the public highway, including details of 

the location and methods to wash construction vehicle wheels. 
• the provision for addressing any abnormal wear and tear to the 

highway. 
• the details of consultation with local businesses or neighbours. 
• the details of any other Construction Sites in the local area. 
• waste management proposals. 

 
 Reason: To minimise the impact of the construction process on the on 

local environment and local highway network, in accordance with 
policies TRA1 and TRA2 of the East Herts District Plan (2018) and 
guidance in the NPPF. 

 
 
Prior to any above ground construction works: 
 
9 Prior to any above ground construction works being commenced, the 

external materials of construction for the development hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and thereafter the development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity and good design in accordance with 
Policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 

 
10 Prior to commencement of above ground works, details of sustainability 

measures to be incorporated with the development including energy 
efficient construction techniques, energy efficient lighting, services and 
controls, efficient energy supply, water efficiency measures which show 
that the higher building regulations standard (G2) for water efficiency 
(110L per day) is met, compliance with Future Homes standard (unless 
otherwise agreed) shall be submitted for approval to the local planning 
authority. The development, hereby permitted, shall be implemented 
and thereafter maintained in full accordance with these details. 

 
Page 65



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 Reason: In the interests of reducing carbon dioxide emissions and 

promoting the principles of sustainable construction (East Herts 
Sustainability SPD 2021) and policy CC1 of the East Herts District Plan 
(2018).  

 
11 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved in 

accordance with the timing / phasing, details of the design of building 
foundations and the layout, with positions, dimensions and levels, of 
(a) service trenches (b) ditches (c) drains (d) other excavations on site 
insofar as they may affect trees and hedgerows on or adjoining the 
site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and thereafter the development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: To ensure the protection of trees and hedgerows to be 

retained, and in particular to avoid damage to root systems in 
accordance with Policy DES3 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
Prior to first occupation: 
 
12  Prior to the occupation of the development, measures outlined in 

Anderson Acoustics report ref. 6723_001R_5-0_WR including the noise 
barrier on the northern boundary shall be implemented in order to 
achieve internal amenity noise standards in accordance with the criteria 
of BS 8233:2014 ‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for 
buildings’. Approved details shall thereafter be permanently retained.  

 
 Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for future 

occupiers of the proposed development in accordance with Policy EQ2 
Noise Pollution and DES4 Design of Development of the adopted East 
Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
13 Prior to occupation of plots 1 - 10, 14 – 30 and 45 whose external 

spaces exceed the upper limit of external amenity noise requirements 
provided under BS 8233, the proposed public external amenity space 
immediately adjacent to these units shall be completed and made 
available for use by occupants of the aforementioned plots. 

 
 Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for future 

occupiers of the proposed development in accordance with Policy EQ2 
Noise Pollution and DES4 Design of Development of the adopted East 
Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
Page 66



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
14 The occupation of the development authorised by this permission shall 

not begin until the details of the siting, type and specification of Electric 
vehicle charging points (EVCPs) (with one EVCP provided per dwelling 
unless otherwise agreed), the energy sources and the 
strategy/management plan for supply and maintenance of the EVCPs 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. All EVCPs shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details and permanently maintained and retained. No dwelling shall be 
occupied until the EVCP serving that dwelling has been installed. 

 
 Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and to 

promote sustainable development in accordance with policy CC1 of the 
East Herts District Plan (2018) and Policies 5, 19 and 20 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
15 Prior to first occupation full details of a strategy to keep turning areas 

to be kept clear of parked vehicles or any other obstruction shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing. No 
dwelling forming part of the development shall be occupied until the 
refuse vehicle circulation route has been laid out and constructed in 
accordance with the details thus approved, and thereafter the route 
shall be maintained in accordance with those details. 

 
 Reason: To facilitate refuse and recycling collections in accordance with 

the Hertfordshire Waste Local and policy DES4 of the East Herts District 
Plan (2018). 

 
16 All dwellings within the development (except those completed to M4(3) 

requirements) hereby approved shall be completed in compliance with 
Building Regulations Optional Requirement Part M4(2) 'accessible and 
adaptable dwellings' (or any subsequent replacement) prior to first 
occupation and shall be retained as such thereafter.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is adequately 

accessible for future occupiers in accordance with policy HOU7 of the 
East Herts District Plan (2018) and WAS7 of the Watton-at-Stone 
Neighbourhood Plan (2023). 

 
17 At least 10% of all dwellings within the development hereby approved 

shall be completed in compliance with Building Regulations Optional 
Requirement Part M4 (3) 'adaptable wheelchair user dwellings' (or any 
subsequent replacement) prior to first occupation and shall be retained 

Page 67



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

as such thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
 Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is adequately 

accessible for future occupiers in accordance with policy HOU7 of the 
East Herts District Plan (2018) and WAS7 of the Watton-at-Stone 
Neighbourhood Plan (2023). 

 
18 Prior to the first occupation of any dwellings hereby approved, means 

of enclosure shall be erected in accordance with the details of all 
boundary walls, including acoustic fences or other means of enclosure 
having been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
 Reason: In the interests of amenity and good design, in accordance 

with Policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan September 2018 and 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
19 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved the hard 

surfaced areas of the development, including roads, pavements, 
driveways and car parking areas shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details and retained as 
such. 

 
 Reason: To ensure safety and satisfactory appearance in accordance 

with Policies DES4 and TRA2 of the East Herts District Plan (2018). 
 
20 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved the site 

shall be landscaped in accordance with landscaping details having been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Where relevant the details shall include full details of both hard and 
soft landscape proposals, finished levels or contours, hard surfacing 
materials, retained landscape features, planting plans, schedules of 
plants, species, planting sizes and density of planting.  

 
 Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by appropriate 

landscape design in accordance with Policies DES3 and DES4 of the 
East Herts District Plan (2018). 

 
21 Before first occupation of the development, additional plans must be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in 
consultation with the Highway Authority, which show the detailed 

Page 68



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

engineering designs and construction of the vehicle access onto Walken 
Road and associated highway works, as shown indicatively on drawing 
number 21850-300-Rev B. These works shall be constructed to the 
specification of the Highway Authority and Local Planning Authority's 
satisfaction, and completed before first occupation of the development. 

 
 Reason: To ensure the provision of a vehicle access which is safe, 

suitable, and sustainable for all highway users in accordance with 
policies TRA1 and TRA2 if the East Herts District Plan (2018) and 
guidance in the NPPF. 

 
22 Before occupation of any part of the development, additional plans 

must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, which show the 
detailed engineering designs and construction of all improvement works 
to Walkern Road as shown on drawing numbers 21850 300 Rev B and 
082203-FH-02 rev H. This includes but is not limited to: 
 
• Provision of a new footway on the western side of Walkern Road, 

northbound to the point opposite the public brideway Watton at 
Stone 006, and a suitable pedestrian crossing which provides 
visibility splays on both sides of the carriageway, in both directions 
of 1.5m X 90m, as shown on drawing number 21850/302(3) Rev B. 

• Provision of a new footway on the western side of Walkern Road, 
southbound to the point opposite the existing footway on the 
eastern side of Walkern Road, and a suitable pedestrian crossing 
which provides visibility splays on both sides of the carriageway, in 
both directions of 0.5m X 90m ,as shown on drawing number 
21850/302(1) Rev C 

• A reduction in the derestricted speed limit of Walkern Road down 
to 40mph, for a distance of circa 160 metres northwards of the 
current 30mph / National speed limit point, with supporting 
gateway feature on entry to the new 40mph speed limit buffer 
zone (as shown on drawing number 21850 300 Rev B). 

• Supporting road markings (including a new priority / give-way 
setup), signage and other associated highway features. 

• Suitable treatment at the point where the internal 
footpath/cyclepath joins High Street. 

 
These works shall be constructed to the specification of the Highway 
Authority and Local Planning Authority's satisfaction, and completed 
before first occupation. 
 

Page 69



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

Reason: To ensure users of the development can travel safely, freely, 
and sustainably to Watton at Stone centre and other key destinations in 
accordance with policies TRA1 and TRA2 and Policy WAS3 of the 
Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (2023) and guidance in the NPPF. 
 

23 Before occupation of any part of the development, additional plans 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, which show the 
detailed engineering designs and construction of pedestrian dropped 
kerbs and tactile paving points at the junction of Walkern Road / 
Lammas Road. This work shall be constructed to the specification of the 
Highway Authority and Local Planning Authority's satisfaction, and 
completed before first occupation. 

 
 Reason: To ensure users of the development can travel safely, freely, 

and sustainably to the Watton at Stone centre and other key 
destinations in accordance with policies TRA1 and TRA2 and Policy 
WAS3 of the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (2023) and 
guidance in the NPPF. 

 
24 Before occupation of any part of the development, additional plans 

must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, which show the 
detailed engineering design of raised Kassel kerbing at the existing 
(closest) High Street bus stop south-east bound. This work shall be 
constructed to the specification of the Highway Authority and Local 
Planning Authority's satisfaction. 

 
 Reason: To ensure all users of the development can travel by bus 

without disadvantage in accordance with policies TRA1 and TRA2 and 
Policy WAS3 of the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (2023) and 
guidance in the NPPF. 

 
25 Before the development hereby approved is first occupied, all on site 

vehicular areas shall be accessible, surfaced and marked in a manner to 
the Local Planning Authority’s approval so as to ensure satisfactory 
parking of vehicles outside highway limits. Arrangements shall be made 
for surface water from the site to be intercepted and disposed of 
separately so that it does not discharge into the highway.  

 
 Reason: In order to minimise danger, obstruction, and inconvenience to 

users of the highway and of the premises in accordance with policies 

Page 70



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

TRA1 and TRA2 and Policy WAS3 of the Watton-at-Stone 
Neighbourhood Plan (2023) and guidance in the NPPF. 

 
26 Prior to first occupation of any dwelling, the provision of facilities for 

cycle storage for the relevant dwelling shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved plans to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
 Reason: To promote sustainable/active travel, in accordance with 

policies TRA1 and TRA2 and Policy WAS3 of the Watton-at-Stone 
Neighbourhood Plan (2023) and in line with paragraphs 114-116 of the 
NPPF. 

 
27 At least two months before first occupation, a revised Travel Plan 

Statement shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. This 
shall consist of a written agreement with the County Council setting out 
a scheme to encourage, regulate, and promote sustainable travel 
measures for owners, occupiers, and visitors to the development in 
accordance with the provisions of the County Council’s ‘Travel Plan 
Guidance for Business and Residential Development’. The Plan shall be 
implemented in full thereafter.  

 
 Reason: To promote sustainable travel measures to the development, 

in accordance with policies TRA1 and TRA2 and Policy WAS3 of the 
Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (2023) and paragraphs 114 to 
118 of the NPPF (Dec 2023) and HCC’s LTP4 policies 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 
10. 

 
Compliance Conditions: 
 
28 All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved details. Any trees or plants that, within a period of 
five years after planting, are removed, die or become, in the opinion of 
the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of species, 
size and number as originally approved, unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives its written consent to any variation.  

 
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance of a 
reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with the approved 
designs, in accordance with policies DES3 and DES4 of the East Herts 
District Plan 2018. 

Page 71



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 
29 The development hereby approved shall be completed in accordance 

with Ecology Assessment and Briefing Note: Pre-commencement 
Ecological Mitigation Strategy produced by Ecology Solutions Ltd. 

 
Reason: To ensure the safeguard any ecological matters on site in 
accordance with policies NE1 and NE3 of the East Herts District Plan 
2018 and WAS3 and WAS19 of the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood 
Plan (2023). 

 
30 Prior to installation, a sensitive lighting scheme should be submitted for 

approval. This scheme should follow guidance from the Bat 
Conservation Trust and Institution of Lighting Professionals (2023), and 
be designed to minimise light spill, in particular directing light away 
from boundary vegetation to ensure that dark corridors remain for use 
by wildlife as well as directing lighting away from potential roost / 
nesting sites, and the adjacent River. 

 
Reason: To ensure the safeguard any ecological matters on site in 
accordance with policies NE1 and NE3 of the East Herts District Plan 
2018 and WAS3 and WAS19 of the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood 
Plan (2023). 

 
31 The development shall be carried out in accordance with Appendix F 

(Hydraulic Modelling Report, ref: JJ/VL/P20-2123/01 Rev I, dated 
29/01/24) of the submitted flood risk assessment and the following 
mitigation measures it details: 
 
• A clear span design with an inner span of 21000mm.  
• The bridge soffits set to 59mAOD.  
• The bridge deck 200mm above the soffit and the railings 1100mm 

above the bridge deck. The railings of open construction to 
address the potential for blockage.  

• The inside edge of abutments set back 5000mm from the top of 
bank on the north side of the river, and 2190mm from the top of 
bank on the south side.  

• The approach with stairs as agreed to minimise the floodplain 
affected, with stair length of 3320mm on the north side of the 
river, and 2800mm on the south side.  

 
These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to 
occupation and subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s 
timing/phasing arrangements. Drawings/plans that demonstrate that 

Page 72



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

the bridge has been delivered in line with the above mitigation 
measures and the FRA should be submitted and these measures shall 
be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding both on site (to the development 
and future occupants) and off site. To ensure the structural integrity of 
the riverbanks thereby reducing the risk of flooding. This condition is in 
line with Paragraph 167 of the NPPF and adopted policy WAT1 (Flood 
Risk Management) of the East Herts District Plan (2018). 

 
32 The noise rating level of air source heat pumps shall not exceed 35dBA 

at any neighbouring habitable room window when operating at 
maximum capacity and inclusive of any penalty for tonal, impulsive or 
other distinctive acoustic characteristics. Should it not be possible to 
demonstrate that no tonality is present, a 6dB tonality penalty shall be 
applied to the specific noise level.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for occupiers 
in the vicinity of the proposed development in accordance with Policy 
EQ2 Noise Pollution of the adopted East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
33 The level of noise (LAeq,15m) emitted from the proposed shall not 

exceed the predicted noise levels provided in Anderson Acoustics report 
ref. 6723_001R_5-0_WR when measured or calculated at 1 metre from 
the façade of the nearest noise sensitive property. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for occupiers 
in the vicinity of the proposed development in accordance with Policy 
EQ2 Noise Pollution of the adopted East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
34 In connection with all site preparation, demolition, construction, 

conversion and ancillary activities, working hours shall be restricted to 
08:00 – 18:00 hours on Monday to Friday, 08:00 – 13:00 hours on 
Saturdays, and not at all on Sundays or Bank / Public Holidays. Vehicles 
arriving at and leaving the site must do so within these working hours.  

 
Reason:  In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for nearby 
residents in accordance with Policy EQ2 Noise Pollution of the adopted 
East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
35 Best Practicable Means (BPM) shall be used in controlling dust 

emissions during all site preparation, demolition, construction and 
Page 73



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

ancillary activities. In times of exceptionally dry weather, additional 
measures should be put in place to mitigate against the spread of dust.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for nearby 
residents in accordance with Policy EQ4 Air Quality of the adopted East 
Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
36 All waste materials and rubbish associated with site preparation, 

demolition or construction shall be contained on site in appropriate 
containers which, when full, should be promptly removed to a licensed 
disposal site.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for nearby 
residents in accordance with Policy EQ4 Air Quality of the adopted East 
Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
37 Any external artificial lighting at the development hereby approved shall 

not exceed lux levels of vertical illumination at neighbouring premises 
that are recommended by the Institution of Lighting Professionals 
Guidance Note 9/19 ‘Domestic exterior lighting: getting it right!’. 
Lighting should be minimized and glare and sky glow should be 
prevented by correctly using, locating, aiming and shielding luminaires, 
in accordance with the Guidance Note.  

 
Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for the 
occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy EQ3 Light 
Pollution and DES4 Design of Development of the adopted East Herts 
District Plan 2018. 

 
38 All existing trees and hedges shall be retained, unless shown on the 

approved drawings as being removed. All trees and hedges on and 
immediately adjoining the site shall be protected from damage as a 
result of works on the site, to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with BS5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction, or any subsequent relevant British 
Standard, for the duration of the works on site and until at least five 
years following contractual practical completion of the approved 
development. In the event that trees or hedging become damaged or 
otherwise defective during such period, the Local Planning Authority 
shall be notified as soon as reasonably practicable and remedial action 
agreed and implemented. In the event that any tree or hedging dies or 
is removed without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority, it 
shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any case, 

Page 74



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

by not later than the end of the first available planting season, with 
trees of such size, species and in such number and positions as may be 
agreed with the Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure the continuity of amenity afforded by existing trees 
and hedges, in accordance with Policy DES3 of the East Herts District 
Plan 2018. 

 
39 All existing trees, shrubs, natural and historic features not scheduled for 

removal, shall be fully safeguarded during the course of the site works 
and building operations. No work shall commence on site until all trees, 
shrubs or features to be protected are fenced along a line to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority with 2.3 metre minimum height metal 
fencing (i.e., weld mesh) to BS5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, 
demolition and construction (or any updated British Standard) securely 
mounted into the ground. Such fencing shall be maintained during the 
course of the works on site. No unauthorised access or placement of 
goods, fuels or chemicals, soil or other materials shall take place inside 
the fenced area.  In the event that any tree dies or is removed without 
the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority, it shall be replaced as 
soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any case, by not later than the 
end of the first available planting season, with trees of such size, 
species and in such number and positions as may be agreed with the 
Authority. 

 
 Reason:  To ensure the continuity of amenity afforded by existing trees 

and hedges, in accordance with Policy DES3 of the East Herts District 
Plan 2018. 

 
40 A schedule of landscape maintenance for a minimum period of five 

years shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and shall include details of the arrangements for its 
implementation.  

 
Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by the proper 
maintenance of existing and/or new landscape features, in accordance 
with Policy DES3 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 
41 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), 
or any amending Order, the areas shown for landscaping on the plans 
approved shall be retained and maintained as open landscaping, and 

Page 75



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

shall not be developed, enclosed or used in any way that is detrimental 
to that character. 

 
 Reason: To ensure a high standard of design and that good quality 

landscaping is maintained, in accordance with Policies DES3 and DES4 
of the East Herts District Plan September 2018. 

 
42 All pedestrian and cycle routes, including the bridge connecting the 

wider area and through the development shall be implemented prior to 
the occupation of 30% of the development hereby permitted. 

 
Reason: to allow sustainable forms of transport and connectivity to the 
wider area in accordance with policies TRA1, TRA2 and DES4 of the 
East Herts District Plan (2018) and policies WAS3, WAS6, WAS9 and 
WAS10 of the Watton-at-Stone Neighbourhood Plan (2023). 

 
43 Concurrent with the construction of the vehicle access, permanent 

visibility splays as shown on drawing number 21850 302(2) rev C shall 
be provided. The northern splay of 2.4m X 90 metres and the southern 
splay of 2.4m X 62 metres shall have no obstruction to visibility 
between 600mm and 2 metres above the carriageway level. 

 
Reason: To ensure suitable visibility from the vehicle access, in the 
interest of highway safety in accordance with policy TRA2 of the East 
Herts District Plan (2018) and guidance in the NPPF. 

 
Informatives: 
 
1.     This permission does not convey any consent which may be required 

under any legislation other than the Town and Country Planning Acts. 
Any permission required under the Building Regulations or under any 
other Act, must be obtained from the relevant authority or body e.g. 
Fire Officer, Health and Safety Executive, Environment Agency (Water 
Interest) etc. Neither does this permission negate or override any 
private covenants which may affect the land. 

 
 2.   East Herts Council has considered the applicant's proposal in a positive 

and proactive manner with regard to the policies of the Development 
Plan and any relevant material considerations. The balance of the 
considerations is that permission should be granted. 

 
 3.    Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of 

materials associated with the construction of this development should 
Page 76



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the 
use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is 
not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further information is 
available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
4. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 

of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or 
excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a 
highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely 
blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before 
construction works commence. Further information is available via the 
website http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or 
by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
5. Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 

1980 to deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 
149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove 
such material at the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best 
practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles 
leaving the site during construction of the development are in a 
condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other 
debris on the highway. Further information is available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
6. Construction standards for works within the highway. The applicant is 

advised that in order to comply with this permission it will be necessary 
for the developer of the site to enter into an agreement with 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 
of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the 
access and associated road improvements. The construction of such 
works must be undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the 
Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in 
the public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to 
apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements. Further information is available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

Page 77

http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/


Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
 
7. Estate Road Adoption: The applicant is advised that Hertfordshire 

County Council as Highway Authority no longer adopts new highway as 
maintainable at the public expense unless a wider public benefit can be 
demonstrated. However, all internal roads should be built to adoptable 
standards. For any sections of highway that will not be adopted, the 
developer should put in place a permanent arrangement for long term 
maintenance, and at the entrance of any such residential estates, a 
road name plate should indicate that it is a private road to inform 
purchasers of their future maintenance liabilities. Further information is 
available via the website 
http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/ or by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
8. A ‘Bus Service and Accessibility Contribution’ of £252,100, payable 

before commencement, index linked by CPT from December 2023 
towards: 

 
i)  New and/or improved bus services through Watton-at-Stone, 

including but not limited to additional 907 services through the 
village. 

ii)  Development and implementation of the East Herts Local Cycling 
and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) in and around the vicinity 
of Watton-at-Stone. 

 
9. The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 

require a permit to be obtained for any activities which will take place: 
 

• on or within 8 metres of a main river (16 metres if tidal)  
• on or within 8 metres of a flood defence structure or culvert (16 

metres if tidal)  
• on or within 16 metres of a sea defence  
• involving quarrying or excavation within 16 metres of any main 

river, flood defence (including a remote defence) or culvert  
• in a floodplain more than 8 metres from the river bank, culvert or 

flood defence structure (16 metres if it’s a tidal main river) and you 
don’t already have planning permission.  

 
For further guidance please visit https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-
risk-activities/environmental-permits or contact our National Customer 
Contact Centre on 03702 422549. The applicant should not assume 
that a permit will automatically be forthcoming once planning 

Page 78

http://www.hertsdirect.org/services/transtreets/highways/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities/environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities/environmental-permits


Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 

permission has been granted, and we advise them to consult with us at 
the earliest opportunity. 

 
10. At least 21 days prior to the commencement of any site works, all 

occupiers surrounding the site shall be notified in writing of the nature 
and duration of works to be undertaken. The name and contact details 
of a person responsible for the site works shall be made available for 
enquiries and complaints for the entire duration of the works and 
updates of work should be provided regularly. Any complaints shall be 
properly addressed as quickly as possible. 

 
11. During any site preparation, demolition and construction phase the 

guidance in BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014 ‘Code of practice for noise and 
vibration control on construction and open sites’ should be adhered to. 

 
12. Cadent Gas Ltd own and operate the gas infrastructure within the area 

of your development. There may be a legal interest (easements and 
other rights) in the land that restrict activity in proximity to Cadent 
assets in private land. The applicant must ensure that the proposed 
works do not infringe on legal rights of access and or restrictive 
covenants that exist.  

 
 If buildings or structures are proposed directly above the apparatus the 

development may only take place following diversion of the apparatus. 
The applicant should apply online to have apparatus diverted in 
advance of any works, by visiting cadentgas.com/diversions. 

 
 Prior to carrying out works, including the construction of access points, 

please register on www.linesearchbeforeudig.co.uk to submit details of 
the planned works for review, ensuring requirements are adhered to. 

 
Plans 
 
082203-FH-01 Rev H Presentation Planning Layout 
082203-FH-02 Rev H Supporting Planning Layout 
082203-FH-03 Rev F Storey Heights Layout 
082203-FH-04 Rev E Tenure Layout 
082203-FH-05 Rev F Unit Types Layout 
082203-FH-06 Rev A Location Plan  
082203-FH-07 Rev F Fire Appliance Access and Refuse Strategy Layout 
082203-FH-08 Rev E Parking Layout 
082203-FH-01-MCP Rev F Materials and Characters Plan 
082203-FH-SS01 Rev B Street Scene 01 

Page 79



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
082203-FH-SS02 Rev B Street Scene 02 
082203-FH-SS03 Rev B Street Scene 03 
082203-FH-SEC01 Rev C Site Section 01 
082203-FH-SEC02 Rev C Site Section 02 
082203-4N-P1 Rev D Floor Plan - P1 
082203-4N-GR-E2 Rev B Green Corridor - Elevations - E2 
082203-4N-PA-E2 Rev D Park Edge - Elevations - E2 
082203-4N-P2 Rev A Floor Plan - P2 
082203-4N-PA-E1 Rev B Park Edge - Elevations - E1 
082203-4N-P3 Rev - Floor Plan - P3 
082203-4N-PA-E3 Rev - Park Edge - Elevations - E3 
082203-4N-GR-E3 Rev B Green Corridor - Elevations - E3 
082203-4K-P1 Rev C Floor Plan - P1 
082203-4K-ME-E1 Rev B The Mews - Elevations - E1 
082203-4K-LA-E2 Rev C Landscaped Frontage - Elevations - E2 
082203-4K-P3 Rev A Floor plan - P3 
082203-4K-GR-E1 Rev C Green Corridor - Elevations - E1 
082203-4K-GR-E2 Rev C Green Corridor - Elevations - E2 
082203-4K-GR-E3 Rev C Green Corridor - Elevations - E3 
082203-4K-P2 Rev C Floor Plan - P2 
082203-4K-LA-E1 Rev B Landscaped Frontage - Elevations - E1 
082203-4J-P1 Rev B Floor Plan - P1 
082203-4J-PA-E1 Rev B Park Edge - Elevations - E1 
082203-4J-ME-E1 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E1 
082203-4J-LA-E1 Rev A Landscaped Frontage - Elevations - E1 
082203-4J(SP1)-P2 Rev B Floor Plan - P2 
082203-4J(SP1)-LA-E2 Rev B Landscaped Frontage - Elevations - E2 
082203-4J(SP1)-ME-E1 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E1 
082203-3G-P1 Rev A Floor Plan - P1 
082203-3G-PA-E1 Rev A Park Edge - Elevations - E1 
082203-3G-PA-E2 Rev A Park Edge - Elevations - E2 
082203-3G-PA-E3 Rev B Park Edge - Elevations - E3 
082203-3G-ME-E1 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E1 
082203-3G-ME-E2 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E2 
082203-3G-ME-E3 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E3 
082203-2F-P1 Rev B Floor Plan - P1 
082203-2F-LA-E1 Rev A Landscaped Frontage - Elevations - E1 
082203-2F-(SP1)-P2 Rev - Floor Plan - P2 
082203-2F(SP1)LA-E2 Rev - Landscaped Frontage - Elevations - E2 
082203-HA4-P1 Rev - Floor Plan - P1 
082203-HA4-ME-E1 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E1 
082203-HA3-P1 Rev - Floor Plan - P1 
082203-HA3-ME-E1 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E1 

Page 80



Application Number: 3/23/2108/FUL 
 
082203-HA3-ME-E2 Rev A The Mews - Elevations - E2 
082203-B1a-ME-P1 Rev B Floor Plan - P1 
082203-B1a-ME-P2 Rev A Floor Plan - P2 
082203-B1a-ME-E1 Rev C The Mews - Elevations - E1 
082203-B1a-ME-E2 Rev C The Mews - Elevations - E2 
082203-B1b-ME-P1 Rev B Floor Plan - P1 
082203-B1b-ME-P2 Rev A Floor Plan - P2 
082203-B1b-ME-E1 Rev C The Mews - Elevations - E1 
082203-B1b-ME-E2 Rev C The Mews - Elevations - E2 
082203-B2-PA-P1 Rev C Floor Plan - P1 
082203-B2-PA-P2 Rev C Floor Plan - P2 
082203-B2-PA-E1 Rev D Park Edge - Elevations - E1 
082203-B2-PA-E2 Rev D Park Edge - Elevations - E2 
082203-GAR01 Rev B Garage 01 - Floor Plans and Elevations 
082203-GAR02 Rev B Garage 02 - Floor Plans and Elevations 
082203-GAR03 Rev B Garage 03 - Floor Plans and Elevations 
082203-GAR04 Rev A Garage 04 - Floor Plans and Elevations  
082203-CS01 Rev B Cycle Store 01 - Floor Plans and Elevations 
082203-CS02 Rev B Cycle Store 02 - Floor Plans and Elevations 
082203-BS01 Rev B Bin Store 01 - Floor Plans and Elevations 
082203-CS-BS-01 Rev C Cycle Store and Bin store 01 - Floor Plans and 
Elevations 
082203-SUB01 Rev A Substation 01 - Floor Plans and Elevations 
082203-BRDG-01 Rev B - Bridge Plan and Elevations 
1518-KC-XX-YTREE Rev A Tree Protection Plan01 
1518-KC-XX-YTREE-TCP01 Rev A Tree Constraints Plan  
2227-EXA-00-DR-L-00110 Rev 04 Rendered Masterplan 
21850 – 300 Rev B Site Access General Arrangement 
21850 - 301(1) Rev B Site Access Swept Path Analysis (Sheet 1 of 2) 
21850 - 301(2) Rev B Site Access Swept Path Analysis (Sheet 2 of 2) 
21850 - 302(1) Rev C Site Access Visibility Assessment (Sheet 1 of 3) 
21850 - 302(2) Rev C Site Access Visibility Assessment (Sheet 2 of 3) 
21850 - 302(3) Rev B Site Access Visibility Assessment (Sheet 3 of 3) 
21850 – 303 Rev B Extent of Works Plan 

Page 81



1:2500@A4

SITE AREA

DATE OF PRINT

SCALE

04 June 2024

metric scale 1:2500 on A4

PLAN TITLE

PROJECT REF

3/23/2108/FUL

Land At Walkern Road

Watton At Stone

ADDRESS

East Herts Council
Wallhields
Pegs Lane
Hertford
SG13 8EQ

Tel: 01279 655261

© Crown copyright and database rights  2024 Ordnance Survey AC0000805256

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data 
to third parties in any form

50m

Page 82



DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 19 JUNE 2024 
 
Application 
Number 

3/24/0490/HH 

Proposal External Air Source Heat Pump unit at the property 
Location 18B Bengeo Street, Hertford, Hertfordshire, SG14 3ES 
Parish Hertford Town Council 
Ward Hertford Bengeo 

 
Date of Registration of 
Application 

17 April 2024 

Reason for Committee 
Report 

Applicant is the leader of the Council 

Case Officer Elizabeth Oswick  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions set out at the 
end of this report. 
 
1.0 Summary of Proposal and Main Issues 
 
1.1 The proposal seeks planning permission for the installation of an 

external air source heat pump unit. 
 

1.2 The main considerations for the proposal are: 
 
- Principle of development  
- Visual amenity including impact upon the Hertford Conservation 

Area 
- Neighbour amenity including noise impacts. 

 
1.3 The main issue for consideration is whether the proposed development 

is appropriate at this site having regard to policies in the East Herts 
District Plan 2018, the Bengeo Neighbourhood Area Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
  
 
 

2.0 Site Description 
 
2.1 The application site is located within the settlement of Hertford and is 

occupied by a two-storey semi-detached dwelling with associated 
garden space. There is no vehicular access to the site; the site is 
accessed via foot down the driveway between nos. 18 and 22 Bengeo 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6b



Application Number: 3/24/0490/HH 
 

Street. A footpath adjacent to no.20 Bengeo Street allows access to the 
dwelling.  

 
2.2 The application site is located within the Hertford Conservation Area as 

well as the Bengeo Neighbourhood Plan Area.  
 
2.3 The planning history of the site reveals the property has benefitted from 

the construction of two-storey and single storey extensions. A site visit 
confirmed that these have been constructed.  

 
3.0 Planning History 
 
 The following planning history is of relevance to this proposal: 
 

Application 
Number 

Proposal Decision Date 

3/15/0660/HH 

Two storey and single 
storey extension and 
internal alterations to 
dwelling 

Refused 27.05.2015 

3/15/1731/HH 

Two storey and single 
storey extension and 
internal alterations to 
dwelling 

Approved 
subject to 
conditions 
 

04.11.2015 
 

 
4.0 Main Policy Issues 
 
4.1 These relate to the relevant policies in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF), the adopted East Herts District Plan 2018 (DP), the 
Bengeo Neighbourhood Area Plan.  

 
 

Main Issue NPPF DP 
policy  

NP 
policy 

Principle of Development Section 2    
Sustainability  Chapter 

14 
CC3  

Impact on character and 
appearance of the area 

Section 12 DES2 
DES3 
DES4 

HBH2 
HBH3 

Heritage Implications 
(Conservation Area) 

Section 16 HA4  

Impact on neighbour 
amenity 

Section 12 DES4, 
EQ2 

HBH2 

 
Page 84



Application Number: 3/24/0490/HH 
 

 Other relevant issues are referred to in the ‘Consideration of Relevant 
Issues’ section below. 

 
5.0 Summary of Consultee Responses 
 
5.1 Hertford Town Council: No comment. 

 
5.2 Environmental Health: Does not wish to restrict the grant of permission. 

I have assessed the noise impact of the proposed air source heat pump 
unit and can confirm that it meets the EHDC noise criteria at the 
nearest and most affected neighbouring habitable room windows.  

 
6.0 Town/Parish Council Representations 
 
6.1 Hertford Town Council provided no comment. 

 
6.2 No comments were received from the Local Ward Members. 
 
7.0 Summary of Other Representations 
 
7.1 No other representations received.  
 
 
8.0 Consideration of Issues 
 

Principle of Development 
 
8.1 The site is located within the built-up area of Bengeo, Hertford, in which 

there is no objection in principle to development.  
 

8.2 Consideration is given to the sustainability benefits of the proposed 
development. Policy CC3 outlines that the Council will permit new 
development of sources of renewable energy generation subject to an 
assessment of the impacts of the development. These impacts shall be 
assessed in the further sections of this report.  

 
8.3 The Bengeo Neighbourhood Plan does not contain policies within which 

relate specifically to this type/form of development.  
 

8.4 Therefore, there are no objections in principle to the form or type of the 
development. The proposals constitute a domestic form of heating 
technology designed to reduce carbon emissions which aligns with the 
Council’s Policy CC3 objectives to permit new development involving 
renewable energy generation. An assessment of the visual and 
environmental impacts are set out in the forthcoming sections of the 

Page 85



Application Number: 3/24/0490/HH 
 

report.  However, in principle, the proposed development is acceptable 
subject to the below detailed planning assessment. 

 
Visual amenity including impact upon the Hertford Conservation Area 
 

8.5 The air source heat pump (ASHP) shall be located to the Northeast of 
the dwelling and shall be situated approximately 0.7m from the 
elevation of the property.  The ASHP shall also be situated 
approximately 0.2m from the northern boundary of the site.  
 

8.6 The specifications of the ASHP have been identified as a PUZ-
WZ80VVAA(-BS) Ecodan R290 Monoblock Air Source Heat Pump. The 
unit has dimensions of approximately 1.02m in height, 1.05m in width 
and 0.5m in depth.  
 

8.7 The proposed drawings indicate that the unit shall be obscured by 
proposed hedging (approximately 1.1m in height) which shall act as 
both a visual and acoustic barrier.   
 

8.8 Policies HOU11 and DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 outline 
that development should be of a size, scale, siting, and design 
appropriate the character, appearance and setting of the existing 
dwelling. Due to the minimal scale of the development, it is not 
considered that the ASHP shall have any detrimental impact upon the 
character of the building, nor the wider site. The ASHP comprises 
renewable energy technology associated with the residential 
dwellinghouse and therefore comprises an integral feature/structure 
connected to the dwelling.  
 

8.9 The location of the unit is visible from the private footpath South of the 
dwelling; however, this footpath is not considered to be a public right of 
way. The footpath serves access only to the properties of nos. 18a and 
18b Bengeo Street, as well as to the rear gardens of nos. 9 and 11 
Warren Park. There is no through route on this footpath. As such, the 
unit is not considered to be widely visible within the public realm. 
Despite this, efforts have been made to mitigate the visual impact of the 
ASHP by the inclusion of hedging forward of the unit. The unit shall 
therefore not be visible to the surrounding area. Due to this obscuration, 
and isolated nature of the dwelling, it is not considered that there shall 
be any impact to the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area.  
 

8.10 In line with the above, it is not considered that there shall be any impact 
upon the character and appearance of the Hertford Conservation Area. 
Due to the location of the dwelling, isolated and set back from the 

Page 86



Application Number: 3/24/0490/HH 
 

prominent dwellings along Bengeo Street, 18b is not considered to 
have a significant contribution to the Conservation Area. This is 
supported by the fact the dwelling is not mentioned within the Hertford 
Conservation Area Appraisal. The minor scale of the development is 
unlikely to have any impact upon the dwelling’s contribution to the area. 
There shall be no visual impact through the ASHP’s implementation to 
the Conservation Area, due to it’s minimal visibility and obscuration by 
landscaping. The development is therefore considered to comply with 
policy HA4 of the District Plan.  
 

8.11 Policies HBH2 and HBH3 of the Bengeo Neighbourhood Plan relate to 
the Design and Layout of the development, as well as the landscaping 
design. The proposed landscaping (hedging) shall benefit the overall 
appearance of the site, allowing the ASHP to appear discreet in its 
setting.   
 

8.12 As outlined above, the hedging is considered to positively contribute to 
the acceptability of the proposal, mitigating any visual intrusion upon 
the landscape. As such, a condition is recommended to be attached to 
ensure the retainment of this landscaping.  
 

8.13 The development is therefore considered to comply with policies DES2, 
DES3, DES4, HOU11, and HA4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 as 
well as policies HBH2 and HBH3 of the Bengeo Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Neighbour amenity including noise impacts 
 

8.14 Policy DES4 of the District Plan seeks that proposals do not result in 
detrimental impacts to the amenity of future occupiers or neighbouring 
residents.  
 

8.15 Policy HBH2 of the Neighbourhood Plan outlines that development 
should protect the amenity and privacy of existing and future residents. 
 

8.16 As outlined above, the building is relatively isolated in its location. The 
closest neighbouring property is the attached dwelling of no.18a 
Bengeo Street.  This property is approximately 7.3m from the location 
of the ASHP. The application dwelling resides between the location of 
the ASHP and the neighbouring property. Therefore, the ASHP would 
not be visible from no.18a. 
 

8.17 Other neighbouring properties of relevance to this application include 
Westview to the Northeast of the dwelling, Highmead to the East, and 
nos. 9 and 11 Warren Park Road to the South. All of these properties 
are separated from the siting of the ASHP by large residential gardens. 

Page 87



Application Number: 3/24/0490/HH 
 

Due to this separation distance, it is believed that any impacts shall be 
mitigated (including noise impact, which shall be assessed further 
below).  
 

8.18 Due to the minimal scale of the development, the ASHP and associated 
hedging is not considered to have any adverse impacts upon the 
amenity of neighbouring occupiers by way of overshadowing, 
overbearing or overlooking.  
 

8.19 Policy EQ2 of the of the District Plan outlines that development should 
be designed and operated in a way that minimises the direct and 
cumulative impact of noise on the surrounding environment. Due to the 
noise emissions that consequently result from use of the ASHP, this 
policy is of relevance.  
 

8.20 The specifications and acoustics details of the ASHP were provided 
with this application. The Environmental Health (Noise and Light) 
Officer reviewed the submitted information and confirmed that it would 
meet the EHDC noise criteria at the nearest and most affected 
neighbouring habitable room windows. As such, it is not considered the 
development shall result in any detrimental impacts to the amenity of 
neighbouring properties by way of inappropriate levels of noise.  
 

8.21 It is possible that some noise from the plant may be audible from the 
residential gardens of the surrounding neighbouring properties through 
the operation of the ASHP. However, the Council’s Environmental 
Health Officer confirms that the technology complies with EHDC noise 
criteria for this area.  Therefore, officers consider that the noise 
emissions would not in this case contribute significantly to background 
levels of noise in the area.  
 

8.22  In line with the above, the development does not result in detrimental 
impacts to the amenity of future occupiers or neighbouring residents. It 
is therefore considered that the proposals would comply with policies 
DES4 and EQ2 of the District Plan, and policy HBH2 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan that seek to protect the amenity and privacy of 
existing and future residents.  
 
Conditions 
 

8.23 The standard three-year time limit condition has been recommended. 
 

8.24 The standard approved plans condition has been recommended to 
ensure the development is constructed in accordance with the 
approved documents.  

Page 88



Application Number: 3/24/0490/HH 
 

 
8.25 A condition has been recommended for the implementation of the 

proposed hedging forward of the ASHP unit. The hedging is considered 
to positively contribute to the acceptability of the proposal, mitigating 
any visual intrusion upon the landscape. As such, a condition is 
recommended to be attached to ensure the retainment of this 
landscaping which is shown in the submitted drawings.  
 

9.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
9.1 The site is within the built-up area of Hertford and comprises a form of 

renewable energy technology designed to reduce carbon emissions 
and as such there would be no objection in principle to development.  

 
9.2 Through the implementation of a renewable energy technology, there 

are sustainability benefits of the development which are a material 
consideration to the scheme.  

 
9.3 The development would not result in visual harm to the site nor the 

surrounding Conservation Area. The ASHP has been appropriately 
screened.  

 
9.4 It is considered that the development would not result in harm to 

neighbouring amenity from excessive noise, overbearing impacts, loss 
of outlook, overshadowing, or loss of privacy.  

 
9.5 Accordingly, is considered that the proposals accord with relevant 

policies of the District and Neighbourhood Plans and that the planning 
balance falls in favour of the development. It is therefore recommended 
that conditional planning consent be granted. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions set out 
below. 
 
Conditions 
 
1.  The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within 

a period of three years commencing on the date of this notice. 
 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended). 

 

Page 89



Application Number: 3/24/0490/HH 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans listed at the end of this Decision Notice. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans, drawings and specifications. 

 
3. The proposed hedging as displayed in drawing nos. 18B-04P and 18B-

05P shall be implemented prior to first use of the Air Source Heat Pump 
and shall be permanently retained thereafter. 

 
Reason: To protect the visual amenity of adjoining occupiers and 
reduce noise emissions associated with the Air Source Heat Pump in 
line with policies DES4 and EQ2 of the District Plan. 

Page 90



1:1250@A4

SITE AREA

DATE OF PRINT

SCALE

04 June 2024

Metric Scale 1:1250 on A4

PLAN TITLE

PROJECT REF

3/24/0490/HH

18B Bengeo Street

Hertford
SG14 3ES

ADDRESS

East Herts Council
Wallhields
Pegs Lane
Hertford
SG13 8EQ

Tel: 01279 655261

© Crown copyright and database rights  2024 Ordnance Survey AC0000805256

You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data 
to third parties in any form

20m

Page 91



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

ITEMS FOR REPORT AND NOTING

MARCH-APRIL 2024

Application Number 3/21/1669/LBC

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     3 The GatehouseHadham HallLittle Hadham SG11 2EB

Appellant Mr Angus Hudson

Proposal
Reconfiguration of internal office layout, reinstatement of a second floor, removal of internal partitions, install 

new partitions, extend existing stairway up to second floor. Insertion of 2 roof light windows on North elevation.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0264/LBC

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     Hillside Farmhouse Hillside LaneGreat Amwell  SG12 9SH

Appellant Mr Ruane

Proposal Insertion of new windows and roof lights.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0274/VAR

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     Hillside FarmhouseHillside LaneGreat Amwell SG12 9SH

Appellant Mr J Ruane

Proposal

Demolition of building attached to listed building and replacement with new Class E (g) office use building and 

glazed link, alterations/extensions to and conversion of all other existing buildings to Class E (g) office use, 

provision of 35 car parking spaces with associated landscaping and bin/cycling stores.  Variation of condition 

2 (approved plans) to planning permission 3/20/1051/FUL: amendment of plans to provide additional rooflights 

and windows.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0719/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address    The Chalk Pit The CausewayFurneux Pelham 

Appellant Mr Jeremy Hinton

Proposal
Construction of 1 detached dwelling with associated landscaping to include patio and driveway. Existing 

access to be upgraded. Creation of pedestrian access.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/0909/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     Warren Park Heritage And Craft CentreGreen TyeMuch Hadham SG10 6FF

Appellant Mr C Beecham

Proposal
Change of use of Barns 2 and 3 and Courtyard Unit 3 from Sui Generis Use to Class E (b, c, e, and g) 

including the provision of 20 additional car parking spaces

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/1107/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address    170 Stortford Hall ParkBishops Stortford CM23 5AR

Appellant Miss Wendy Collings

Proposal
Increase the amount of classes allowed and the maximum amount of people per class - Maximum of 6 clients 

at any one time, up to 5 days a week.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Page 92

Agenda Item 7



Application Number 3/22/1548/FUL

Decsn Non Determination

Level of Decision Delegated

Address   Land At Crane MeadWare 

Appellant Mr J Webster

Proposal

Proposed three storey residential block of 9 apartments (comprising one 2 bed four person dwelling and two 1 

bed two person dwellings per floor). Cycle and bin storage, creation of private balcony space, shared amenity 

space from the new block to the River Lea, landscaping hard and soft planting, car parking including visitor 

parking.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/2123/LBC

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address      Shem NicholsThe StreetAspendenBuntingford SG9 9PG

Appellant Mr S Bailey

Proposal The siting of an air source heat pump at the rear (Retrospective).

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/2613/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address      Greens FarmEast EndFurneux PelhamBuntingford SG9 0JU

Appellant G Watson & Son

Proposal
Demolition of outbuilding. Erection of annex and garden store/workshop and associated change of use of the 

land to residential

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/2635/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     The PiggeriesBenington RoadWalkern SG2 7HX

Appellant Mr. M. Kirbyshire

Proposal Erection of a rural worker's dwelling to replace existing mobile home.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/2704/PIP

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     Land At Half AcresStortford RoadStandon SG11 1LY

Appellant Mr R Jamieson

Proposal Erection of a single storey detached dwelling

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/0108/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address      Old East End HouseEast EndFurneux PelhamBuntingford SG9 0JT

Appellant Ms Jane Crossley

Proposal Erection of a detached eco-house.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/23/0149/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address      1 Desborough DriveTewin WoodTewinWelwyn AL6 0HQ

Appellant Mr And Mrs M And L Campbell

Proposal
Demolition of conservatory and erection of a single storey rear extension incorporating roof lantern and 

alterations to fenestration.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/0288/FUL

Decsn Refused

Page 93



Level of Decision Delegated

Address     Land Adjacent To Hormead CottageGreat HormeadBuntingford SG9 0NR

Appellant Andrew Digby

Proposal
Construction of a detached dwelling with detached garage/car port, new vehicular access and bridge. 

Installation of air-source heat pump.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/0924/ASDPN

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address    96 Thornbera RoadBishops Stortford CM23 3NN

Appellant Mr Baris Ozaydin

Proposal Creation of additional storey to increase the height of the dwelling from 7.4 metres to 10 metres.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/1024/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     Silver Leys Polo Club Millfield Lane Little Hadham   SG11 2ED

Appellant Bury Green Farm Limited

Proposal Continued use of land for the stationing of a mobile home (Unit B) for Bury Green Farm Limited

Appeal Decision Withdrawn

Application Number 3/23/1069/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address      Lorne CroftWellpond GreenStandonWare SG11 1NJ

Appellant Mr L Petrie

Proposal Single storey garage and gym building.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/1558/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     8 London RoadHertford HeathHertford SG13 7RH

Appellant Mr Sean O'Keefe

Proposal
Demolition of outbuilding. Removal of Conifer hedging. Single storey rear extension incorporating 5 rooflights. 

Relocation of external steps.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/1821/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address     10 Henderson PlaceEpping GreenHertford SG13 8GA

Appellant Mr S Beastall

Proposal
Demolition of existing garage and side projection and construction of part single part two storey rear and side 

extension. Construction of front porch and rear patio. Alterations to fenestration including rear juliette balcony.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/23/1894/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address    31 Vantorts RoadSawbridgeworth CM21 9NB

Appellant Mr Darren Jackson

Proposal

Removal of front bay window, rear conservatory and outbuilding. Erection of part two storey, part single storey 

rear extension and single storey front extension. Alterations to roof form to incorporate hip to gable roof 

extensions and loft conversion incorporating rear dormer. Insertion of roof light windows to front and rear, 

additional windows to side elevations and alterations to fenestration and external materials.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/23/2018/HH

Page 94



Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address    36 Cozens RoadWare SG12 7HJ

Appellant Miss Tara Cretten

Proposal
Demolition of garage.  Erection of a two-storey side extension and single storey side extension.  Insertion of 

dormer window to rear with roof light to front.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Page 95



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 5 February 2024  
by I A Dyer BSc (Eng) FCIHT 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11TH March 2024  
 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/Y/23/3319776 
3 The Gate House, Hadham Hall, Little Hadham, SG11 2EB 
• The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 against a refusal to grant listed building consent. 
• The appeal is made by Mr Angus Hudson of Sworders against the decision of East 

Hertfordshire District Council. 
• The application reference is 3/21/1669/LBC. 
• The works proposed are reconfiguration of internal office layout including reinstatement 

of a second floor, insertion of two roof lights. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Application for Costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Mr Angus Hudson of Sworders against 
East Hertfordshire District Council. This application is the subject of a separate 
decision. 

Preliminary Matters 

3. As the appeal relates to a listed building consent I have had special regard to 
section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 (the Act).  

4. Since the determination of the application, the Government published a revised 
National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) on 19 December 2023 
and updated it on 20 December 2023. Those parts of the Framework most 
relevant to this appeal have not been amended. As a result, I have not sought 
further submissions on the revised Framework, and I am satisfied that no 
party’s interests have been prejudiced by taking this approach. 

Main Issue 

5. The main issue in this appeal is whether the proposal would preserve a  
Grade II* listed building, “The Gatehouse Range at Hadham Hall 60 Metres 
West of Hadham Hall” (Ref: 1211100) (the LB), and any of the features of 
special architectural or historic interest that it possesses. 

Reasons 

6. The LB dates from the early 16th century and is part of a manorial complex that 
has experienced significant change over time. It contains a gateway, which 
separates the building into two halves. The eastern half of the LB, which is the 
subject of this appeal, incorporates fabric associated with the construction of 
the 1440 manor house of Thomas Baud.  

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3319776
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

7. A significant part of the special interest of the building is derived from the 
principal roof trusses. These arch-braced collar trusses are atypical for the 
period and demonstrate a high level of craftsmanship.  The wider fabric of the 
building also provides an important material record of its evolution and phased 
development over time from when it was first constructed. As the appellant 
points out, very few buildings survive in any form from the mid-15th century 
and only a small number of 16th century buildings remain as intact. The 
legibility and preservation of this fabric is consequently of the utmost 
importance. Turning to external features relevant to the proposal, there is a 
cohesive use of materials with a common patina and integrated palette that 
provides visual links with the other key historic buildings within the manorial 
complex. 

8. Given the above, I find the special interest of the building, insofar as it relates 
to this appeal, to be primarily associated with the evidential and aesthetic 
value of historic construction materials and techniques that have been used. I 
find that these elements directly contribute to the special interest of the 
building. 

9. In 2007 the Council granted Listed Building Consent for internal alterations1. 
Subsequently, in 2010 a revised application2 for internal alterations was 
submitted and approved (the 2010 permission). Both permissions included 
works to create a second floor, in the 2010 permission by the insertion of a 
mezzanine. That proposal also included the insertion of three windows into the 
roof, to provide natural light for the proposed second floor. The works to install 
one of these windows have been carried out. It is common ground between the 
parties that, being partly implemented, the 2010 permission is extant. 

10. However, the 2010 permission has been in place for a considerable period of 
time without the bulk of the works being implemented. Further, the appellants 
have, over a period of time subsequent to that permission, sought to secure an 
alternative to them. I thus consider it unlikely that the appellants would 
proceed to fully implement the 2010 permission. Nonetheless current case law 
holds that “the prospect of the fall back position does not have to be probable 
or even have a high chance of occurring; it has to be only more than a merely 
theoretical prospect”. Such a theoretical possibility is sufficient, in this instance, 
to make the position a material consideration.  

11. The current proposal would insert a second floor, extending the existing 
staircase to access it, together with various other alterations to the ground 
floor and the insertion of two windows into the roof.  

12. The insertion of a second floor would reflect more closely the form of the 
building following the addition of the 17th century cross beams. However, from 
the drawings, the joists would be positioned on top of the beams, rather than 
between them as they would have been originally. Although the joints for the 
floor joists would remain clearly visible, the juxtaposition of these different 
phases would be lost as well as intact views of the earlier trusses and the wall 
plates.  Consequently, there would be a loss of legibility in terms of the historic 
phasing and a diminution of the aesthetic sweep of the collar trusses. 

 
1 Council Ref:3/07/1313/LB 
2 Council Ref: 3/10/1187/LB  

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3319776
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

13. The north elevation of the east range has a clay tile roof with a clay tile ridge. 
The roof tiles show signs of patch repairs but are relatively uniform although 
probably of late 19th or early 20th century date. The proposal would insert two 
further skylights in the north roof slope. These would be inserted between the 
rafters and, thus, no historic material would be lost. This notwithstanding, the 
north roof slope contributes positively to the aesthetic character and 
appearance of the building given the largely uninterrupted sweep of this 
elevation.   

14. The insertion of the additional windows would further disrupt the roof form and 
its appearance, both when observed from outside and within and this amounts 
to harm to the aesthetic character of the LB. Further, the additional windows 
would further undermine the visual continuity of form with the other buildings 
in the complex. The presence of existing, modern features on the roof slope 
does not justify further harm.  

15. The doors on the north elevation of the LB would be replaced with a glazed 
window. Whilst the existing doors are relatively modern, they are solid. There 
is no evidence before me to demonstrate that a glazed door has been present 
at any previous time in this location. The proposed glazed door would 
consequently be an inauthentic and alien addition lacking any clear historical 
justification. 

16. A screen in the current lobby would be relocated to a position closer to the 
main entrance and the area given over to form a reception area. A door would 
be fitted into the new, glazed screen. The screen would divide the lobby area 
without regard to any historic building layout. However, as this is the relocation 
of an existing screen with similar effect, the overall effect on the significance of 
the LB would be neutral.  

17. I note that an earlier oak staircase serving the building, which is partly 
dismantled and stored in that location, would be removed as a result. This 
would result in a loss of the earlier fabric of the building, albeit that storage of 
the materials could continue.  

18. The staircase will lead to the first floor with a kitchenette replacing one of the 
WCs and access created through a blocked former doorway to a storage area 
above the lobby and reception. This will involve the removal of a section of 
20th century walling that blocked up an historic opening. The rest of the first 
floor will remain substantially unchanged but the staircase will be continued to 
the second floor.  

19. The proposal would remove partitioning installed as part of the 1992 
conversion and reconfigure the layout with partitions featuring a large 
proportion of glazing. This would provide a greater feeling of spaciousness and 
appreciation of the earlier, more open layout of the ground floor.  

20. A disused doorway connecting the lobby to the current office would be closed 
off and become a cupboard. This doorway is modern. These changes would not 
necessitate removal of older building fabric. I am satisfied that their 
appearance and impact could be controlled by suitably worded planning 
conditions. 

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3319776
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

21. Overall, I find that the proposed development would fail to preserve the special 
interest of the listed buildings. Consequently, I give this harm considerable 
importance and weight in the planning balance of these appeals. 

22. Paragraph 205 of the Framework advises that when considering the impact of 
development on the significance of designated heritage assets, great weight 
should be given to their conservation. Paragraph 206 goes on to advise that 
significance can be harmed or lost through the alteration or destruction of 
those assets or from development within their setting and that this should have 
a clear and convincing justification. Given the scale of change to the external 
appearance, that the roof trusses would remain largely visible, albeit separated 
visually by a floor and that the proposal also effects how the building is 
experienced, I find the harm to be less than substantial in this instance but 
nevertheless of considerable importance and weight. 

23. Paragraph 208 of the Framework advises that this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal, which includes the securing of 
optimal viable use of listed buildings. 

24. The proposal would provide additional floorspace for the current business 
operating from the LB. However, there is no evidence before me to 
demonstrate that the business is at risk without the proposed works. 

25. Given the above and in the absence of public benefits that outweigh the harm 
that I have identified, I conclude that, on balance, the proposal would fail to 
preserve the special historic interest of the Grade II* listed building. This would 
fail to satisfy the requirements of the Act, and conflict with Policies HA1 and 
HA7 of the East Herts District Plan (2018) that seek, among other things, to 
preserve and, where appropriate, enhance the historic environment, including 
listed buildings, and ensure that development meets the tests set out in 
national policy. As a result the proposal would not be in accordance with the 
development plan, so far as it is relevant. 

26. The appellants argue that the 2010 permission, which is still extant, could be 
implemented in full and that it would have a greater adverse impact on the LB 
than the current proposal.  

27. Externally and on the proposed second floor, the current proposal and the 2010 
permission would have very similar effect. 

28. However, the 2010 permission would breach a 15th century internal wall to 
create an opening close to an existing splayed window. It would again breach 
this wall on the first floor. Given the scarcity of buildings from this period and 
the evidential value of the wall in relation to the layout and legibility of the 
1440 manor house, this fabric is clearly of exceptional historic interest. 

29. The oak staircase would be re-used to form access to the first floor. However, 
in so doing there would be further loss of historic ceiling fabric to create the 
necessary opening and a number of historic joists would be removed to create 
the stairwell to the second floor. Whilst re-using historic fabric, there is no 
evidence before me to indicate that there was, historically, a stair in this 
location. It would consequently be an inauthentic addition lacking any clear 
historical justification. 

30. Given the scale of change to the external appearance, the magnitude of loss 
and importance of the historic fabric, that the roof trusses would remain largely 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3319776
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

visible, albeit separated visually by a floor and that the 2010 permission also 
effects how the building is experienced, I also find the harm to be less than 
substantial in this instance but nevertheless of considerable importance and 
weight. 

31. In conclusion, whilst I find that the proposal would fail to preserve the special 
interest of the LB, the overall harm to the LB resulting from the current 
proposal would be less than that of the 2010 permission, were it to be 
implemented in full. However, given the prolonged intervening time period 
without full implementation, I place limited weight on the 2010 permission as a 
fall back position. I thus find that, on balance, the implementation of the 2010 
permission does not provide a clear and convincing justification for the current 
proposal, and therefore the requirements of paragraph 206 of the Framework 
are not fulfilled.  

Conclusion 

32. For the above reasons and having regard to all other matters raised I conclude 
that the appeals should be dismissed.  

I A Dyer   
INSPECTOR  

 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Costs Decision  

Site visit made on 5 February 2024  
by I A Dyer BSc (Eng) FCIHT 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11th March 2024  
 
Costs application in relation to Appeal APP/J1915/Y/23/3319776 
3 The Gate House, Hadham Hall, Little Hadham, SG11 2EB 
• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 

322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 
• The application is made by Mr Angus Hudson of Sworders for a full award of costs 

against East Hertfordshire District Council. 
• The appeal was against the refusal of listed building consent for reconfiguration of 

internal office layout including reinstatement of a second floor, insertion of two roof 
lights 

 

Decision 

1. The application for an award of costs is refused. 

Reasons 

2. Paragraph 30 of the government’s Planning Practice Guidance advises that, 
irrespective of the outcome of the appeal, costs may be awarded where a party 
has behaved unreasonably and that unreasonable behaviour has directly 
caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal 
process.  

3. The appellants are seeking a full award of costs against the Local Planning 
Authority as they consider that the Council acted unreasonably in failing to 
appropriately consider the fallback position of implementing a permission 
granted in 20101 (the 2010 permission), resulting in the expense of an 
unnecessary appeal.  

4. The Council were aware of the 2010 permission and does not dispute that it is 
implementable in the alternative to the current proposal. This is referred to in 
both the Officer’s Report and the comments of their Conservation Officer.  
However, they considered that, in view of remaining concerns regarding the 
current proposal and changes to planning policy, most importantly the 
introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework, their refusal of 
permission was justified. The Council therefore were aware and considered the 
fallback option of the 2010 permission when determining the application. 

5. The appellants have tested the Council’s decision through the appeal process. 
It will be seen that I have come to a similar overall conclusion to the Council. 
The Council have, through the provision of the Officers Report, the comments 
of its Conservation Officer and its Statement of Case, substantiated its 
argument regarding the basis of its decision.  

 
1 Council Ref: 3/10/1187/LB 

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3319776
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. I do not consider that any of the evidence provided by the appellants was 
unnecessary or that additional unnecessary or wasted expense was incurred in 
the provision of that evidence. 

Conclusion 

7. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or 
wasted expense, as described in the Planning Practice Guidance, has not been 
demonstrated.  

I A Dyer 
INSPECTOR  

 

 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decisions 
Site visit made on 23 January 2024 

by O S Woodwards BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  6 March 2024 

 
Appeal A Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3323002 

Hillside Farm, Hillside Lane, Great Amwell, Hertfordshire SG12 9SH 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission under section 73 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 for the development of land without complying with 

conditions subject to which a previous planning permission was granted. 

• The appeal is made by John Ruane against East Hertfordshire District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/0274/VAR, dated 9 February 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 24 February 2023.  

• The application sought planning permission for demolition of building attached to listed 

building and replacement with new Class E (g) office use building and glazed link, 

alterations/extensions to and conversion of all other existing buildings to Class E (g) 

office use, provision of 35 car parking spaces with associated landscaping and 

bin/cycling stores without complying with a condition attached to planning permission 

Ref 3/20/1051/FUL, dated 21 January 2022. 

• The condition in dispute is No 2 which states that: The development hereby approved 

shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans, documents and reports 

listed at the end of this Decision Notice. 

• The reason given for the condition is: To ensure the development is carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans, drawings and specifications. 
 

 
Appeal B Ref: APP/J1915/Y/23/3323013 
Hillside Farm, Hillside Lane, Great Amwell, Hertfordshire SG12 9SH 

• The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 against a refusal to grant listed building consent. 

• The appeal is made by John Ruane against the decision of East Hertfordshire District 

Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/0264/LBC, dated 7 February 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 9 February 2023. 

• The works are the retention of new windows and rooflights. •  
 

Decisions 

1. Appeal A is dismissed. 

2. Appeal B is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

The appeals 

3. The appeals are made further to a development for new and converted 

buildings in a farm complex to create a series of office buildings, with 
associated works. The appellant has installed rooflights and windows in one of 
the buildings the subject of the development – the Grade II listed ‘Barn at 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/W/23/3323002 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Hillside Farm’1 – outwith the terms of the planning permission2 and listed 

building consents3. The appellant is therefore seeking to regularise the 
unauthorised works through a new listed building consent and by changing 

condition 2 of the planning permission to refer to updated drawings. Both were 
refused by the Council and two appeals have therefore been submitted – the 
s78 appeal in relation to the s73 application to change condition 2 of the 

planning permission and the s20 appeal in relation to the listed building 
consent.   

4. The works relate to a Grade II listed building and I have therefore had special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses, in accordance with s16 and 

s66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 
amended) (the Act). 

Revised drawings 

5. Two of the rooflights have been inserted in a slightly different location to those 
as depicted on the drawings accompanying both applications. The appellant has 

submitted revised drawings to reflect the amended rooflight locations. The 
Council has not commented on the revised drawings. However, the changes are 

minor and non-material. I have therefore accepted the revised drawings4 and 
have determined the appeals on that basis.  

Descriptions 

6. The s78 appeal is in relation to a s73 application and I have therefore retained 
the original description of development, in light of the Finney5 judgment. There 

is no conflict between the proposal and the description of development.  

7. It is not possible to apply for retrospective listed building consent and the    
s20 appeal is for retention of the works. I have amended the description of 

development of the s20 appeal to reflect this.    

Insufficient information 

8. The second reason for refusal for both appeals relates to insufficient 
information having been provided regarding the detail of the proposed windows 
and rooflights. However, this has since been superseded by events because 

they have been installed and I have confirmed on my site visit that the 
submitted drawings accurately reflect the fenestration as installed. The 

appellant has also confirmed in writing the type of rooflight that has been used. 
This reason for refusal is not, therefore, a main issue for the appeals.  

Policy  

9. A revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 
was released towards the end of 2023. None of the changes are material to the 

appeals and I have therefore referred to the revised Framework where 
appropriate without having re-consulted the main parties.  

 
1 List entry number 1341856 
2 Ref 3/20/1051/FUL, dated 21 January 2022 
3 Refs 3/20/1052/LBC, dated 3 November 2022 and 3/19/1206/LBC, dated 3 October 2019 
4 For the avoidance of doubt, the drawing refs are: 217460 SP 201 Rev H; 202 Rev F; 203 Rev G 
5 John Leslie Finney v Welsh Ministers & Carmarthenshire County Council, Energiekontor (Uk) Limited 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/W/23/3323002 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Main Issue 

10. The main issue for both appeals is the effect of the unauthorised works on the 
special architectural or historic interest of the Grade II listed building, Barn at 

Hillside Farm. 

Reasons 

Significance 

11. The barn is 16th Century. It is timber framed and weatherboarded, with a brick 
plinth. The roof is made of red tiles with gable ends. The timber framed roof 

structure is extensive, attractive and largely original, or at least historic. There 
also remains a large amount of historic fabric to the walls and roof of the 
building, which is well preserved. The barn has been converted to office use as 

part of the planning permission and listed building consents. The permission 
and consents allowed for the insertion of an internal floor and internal partition 

walls and glazing. The barn has therefore lost its original use and some of its 
plan form. The approved works also include fairly substantial glazing either in 
or close by to the old entrances, but the permitted glazing elsewhere is more 

limited, relating to only a small number of relatively small windows, in a 
haphazard pattern on the elevations. 

12. The barn is physically connected to, albeit without a direct internal link, a large 
partially new and partially converted building that extends sideways from one 
of the gable ends and then forms a large U-shape around a retained but re-

landscaped courtyard area. This other building is part of the same office 
development the subject of the permission and consent. The barn’s setting has 

therefore significantly changed to be part of this office complex.  

13. The significance of the barn therefore largely relates to its large amount of 
retained historic fabric, and to the fact it can still be readily appreciated, 

intrinsically, as a historic barn, with relatively limited, and sensitively located, 
glazed insertions. In this description of its significance, I have ignored the 

rooflights and windows that have been installed and are subject to these 
appeals. Whilst existing, they are unauthorised and it is therefore incumbent 
upon me to assess the significance of the building without those works.  

The works 

14. The rooflights that have been installed outwith the terms of the planning 

permission and listed building consents number four within the lower part of 
the main roofslope on both sides, ie eight in total. The rooflights all serve the 
large first floor office area, which is largely open plan and runs both ways from 

the double height foyer, without significant interior walls. There were no 
rooflights as part of the approved permission and consents. 15 additional 

windows have also been inserted, including, at the first floor level, two to the 
south east elevation, six to the opposite elevation, and two to the gable end. At 

the ground floor level, there are five, one to the south east elevation of the 
barn, two on the opposite elevation, and two further to the gable end. 

Assessment 

15. The barn originally had few external openings. The historic openings were 
confined to the large timber entrance door and opening to one elevation and 

much smaller doors and four windows to the other elevation. The limited 

Page 105

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/W/23/3323002 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

openings made a fundamental contribution to the character and appearance of 

the barn. It is important to retain this legibility of its original use and 
appearance.  

16. Four rooflights on each roof slope is a significant intervention. They are flush to 
the roof, which limits visibility at oblique angles. However, the size and number 
of them is still prominent, even lower in the roof slope because the angle and 

height of the roof means that its entire slope is highly visible. In addition, 
whilst there is some variation in their locations, both along the roof slope itself 

and by reference to the window pattern to the main elevations, any variation is 
limited. There is a strong degree of symmetry, at odds with the character of 
the barn.  

17. The rooflights are of high quality and they match those used to the other 
building that is part of the office development. They are either positioned 

behind a retained historic rafter or have been located where a non-historic 
rafter is located and has been cut and then re-used as internal header and 
footer frames to the windows. Only a limited amount of important historic 

fabric has therefore been lost or repurposed. However, these factors do not 
fully mitigate the harmful effects of the rooflights on the character of the listed 

property.  

18. The new windows have been designed to reflect the style of those as approved. 
They are black framed, sit within the weatherboarding, and are located 

between the historic timber frame of the building. They therefore match the 
design of the approved windows and would result in a minimal loss of historic 

fabric. All the windows are relatively small and eight of them are ‘slot’ windows 
which are particularly narrow. However, the number of windows is excessive. 
As approved, only a small number of windows were allowed, which meant that 

the barn could retain its character. The windows do bring greater balance to 
the gable end but this is a harmful effect that does not reflect the need to 

retain a degree of irregularity to reflect the historic character of the barn. The 
insertions now built therefore negatively alter the character of the barn in 
comparison to the as approved scheme.  

Conclusion 

19. The works have therefore harmed the special architectural and historic interest 

of the listed building, and they fail to comply with the Framework and with 
Policies HA1 and HA7 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 (the LP), which reflect 
the Framework. 

Planning Balance 

20. The development has caused less than substantial harm to the significance of 

the listed building. A public benefit of the works is the increased light that 
would be allowed into the office floorspace. However, the first floor level is 

served by several approved windows. Whilst some are fairly small ‘slot’ 
windows, because of its open plan nature this area also borrows light from the 
foyer area which benefits from extensive approved glazing. The ground floor is 

compartmentalised into the foyer and two separate rooms to either side. The 
smaller room has a glazed partition to the foyer area and is lit by a series of 

large windows to the opposite elevation. The larger room is more separated 
from the foyer and does not benefit from meaningful borrowed light. However, 
it is lit by two approved windows in the gable end, and five other approved 

Page 106

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/W/23/3323002 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

windows to the two side elevations. The lower level of the ground floor does 

not change these considerations because this has not changed the mezzanine 
level or which rooms the consented windows serve. 

21. Therefore, all affected internal spaces already benefit from alternative light 
sources, both directly and indirectly. There is a balance to be struck between 
the practical requirement for the consented office use needing natural light and 

protection of the historic character of the barn. Whilst natural light is 
important, it is reasonable to expect the occupiers of the barn to accept, and 

indeed expect, lower daylights levels in a barn conversion compared to within a 
traditional office building. I have not been provided with any substantiated 
evidence that the additional light is required to let the office space or to ensure 

the ongoing viable use of the property.  

22. The public benefit of the works is therefore limited. In accordance with 

Paragraph 205 of the Framework, I place great weight on the harm to the 
significance of the listed building that I have identified. This harm therefore 
outweighs the public benefits and the works fail to comply with Paragraph 208 

of the Framework. 

Conclusions 

23. For the reasons above, Appeal A is dismissed. 

24. For the reasons above, Appeal B is dismissed. 

 

O S Woodwards 
INSPECTOR 

 

Page 107

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 23 January 2024  
by V Simpson BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 12th March 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3323073 

The Chalk Pit, The Causeway, Furneux Pelham SG9 0LW  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Jeremy Hinton against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/0719/FUL, dated 4 April 2022, was refused by notice dated     

2 December 2022. 

• The development proposed is a detached dwelling. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for a detached 
dwelling at The Chalk Pit, The Causeway, Furneux Pelham SG9 0LW in 
accordance with the terms of the application Ref 3/22/0719/FUL, subject to the 

conditions in the attached schedule. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. Notwithstanding the description of development on both the decision notice and 
the appeal form, this appeal has been determined on the basis that the 
proposal is that stated on the application form. 

3. On the decision notice it is indicated that the appeal site is within the Furneux 
Pelham Conservation Area. However, other application and appeal 

documentation demonstrate that the appeal site is outside of but adjacent to 
the Conservation Area (CA). I therefore proceed on that basis. 

4. I have considered the comments made by the main parties in respect of the 

revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) in determining 
this appeal.  

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are the effect of the development on; 
• the character and appearance of the area and the significance of the 

Furneux Pelham Conservation Area; and 
• whether the appeal site is a suitable location for the proposed development, 

with particular regard to the spatial strategy within the development plan. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

6. In common with the similarly sized adjacent ‘paddock’ area, the site fronts onto 
the road known as the Causeway, and is largely surrounded by trees. There are 

Page 108

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323073

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

also additional trees across the site. The tree and shrub growth afford the site 

a sense of intimacy and enclosure. This is in sharp juxtaposition with the much 
larger and open fields, to the south and west of the appeal site and on the 

opposite side of the Causeway.  

7. Much of the village of Furneux Pelham is within the Furneux Pelham 
Conservation Area (CA). The significance of the CA is partly informed by the 

many historic buildings within it, which enable the historic evolution of this 
rural village to be understood. Areas of open space and many of the roadside 

hedgerows and trees within the CA also reinforce the links between the historic 
rural village and the agricultural land beyond it. The agricultural land and fields 
surrounding the CA therefore make a positive contribution to its significance. 

They also contribute to the pleasant and verdant character and appearance of 
the area. 

8. The adjacent ‘paddock’ which is within the CA, is identified as an important 
open space within the Furneux Pelham Conservation Area Character Appraisal1 
(the CA appraisal). However, the proposed development would not encroach 

onto this land. Furthermore, there is no proposal to remove the trees and 
hedgerows along the boundary between the appeal site and the ‘paddock’. The 

qualities of this adjacent area of open space and its value to the CA, would not 
therefore be diminished following the implementation of the proposed 
development.  

9. The on-site trees and hedgerows contribute to the verdancy and distinctive 
quality of the area. Drawing number 04/C which is a proposed plan, shows the 

retention of trees within the site.  While it would be necessary to cut back the 
roadside hedgerow to secure the identified visibility splays, from the evidence, 
most of this hedgerow and the trees within it, could be retained. 

10. Only the small ‘paddock’ separates the appeal site from the built-up edge of 
the village of Furneux Pelham. Furthermore, existing trees and hedgerows 

along the site boundaries would prevent all but glimpses of the proposed 
development when approaching the village along the Causeway. Therefore, and 
subject to the retention of most of the onsite trees and hedgerows, the 

proposed development would not comprise a form of ribbon development that 
would harmfully erode the rural character of the area. Nor, given its very 

different characteristics from that of much of the nearby agricultural land, 
would it cause harm to the significance of the CA. 

11. To prevent harm being caused to either the character and appearance of the 

area or to the significance of the CA, it would be necessary to impose a 
condition requiring a landscaping scheme to be provided to and agreed upon by 

the local planning authority. If it is necessary to remove any trees or stretches 
of hedgerow, the condition would require suitable replacement provision be 

made. It would also require that retained trees be protected during the works.  

12. For the reasons given, the proposed development would not cause harm to the 
character and appearance of the area or to the significance of the CA. 

Consequently, and insofar as they relate to this main issue, the development 
would comply with policies GBR2, DES2, DES4, HA4, and INT1 of the East 

Herts Council East Herts District Plan October 2018 (the Local Plan). Amongst 
other things, these policies require development to be of a high standard of 

 
1 Furneux Pelham Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management Proposals – Adopted 2017 

Page 109

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323073

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

design and layout; to conserve the character and distinctive features of the 

landscape; and to preserve the special interest, character, and appearance of 
conservation areas. It would also comply with the parts of the Framework that 

seek to ensure that development conserves the historic environment and is of a 
high-quality of design that is sympathetic to local character and history. 

Development strategy 

13. Policy INT1 of the Local Plan provides a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Further to this, Local Plan policy TRA1, which relates to 

sustainable transport, seeks to ensure that development is primarily located in 
places that enable sustainable journeys to be made. It also requires that a 
range of sustainable transport options be available to future occupants. 

14. Within the Local Plan, Furneux Pelham is identified as a group 2 village, where 
policy VILL2 of the Local Plan provides general support for limited infill within 

the settlement.  However, the Local Plan shows that the appeal site is located 
outside of the Furneux Pelham village settlement limits, and that it comprises a 
rural area beyond the Green Belt. Local Plan policy GBR2 identifies the types of 

development that will normally be permitted in such areas. It includes 
development that constitutes the partial or complete redevelopment of 

previously developed sites in sustainable locations, where appropriate to the 
character, appearance, and setting of the site and/or surrounding area. 

15. A definition of previously developed land (PDL) is provided within the glossary 

of the Framework. Although vacant at the time of my site visit, there is a 
building on the site. Furthermore, the evidence indicates that minerals were 

historically extracted from the site, and that it was subsequently used for 
landfill waste disposal. Moreover, during my site visit waste was observed 
within the top layer of made ground, and the Council indicates that there has 

been no provision for the restoration of the site through development 
management procedures. Therefore, and based on the evidence and my on-site 

observations I have been unable to establish that any of the exclusions 
specified within the Framework PDL definition apply. I therefore have no reason 
to conclude that the site is not PDL, and so proceed on the basis that it is.  

16. The evidence indicates that Furneux Pelham contains a range of services and 
facilities. These include a school; pub; church; village hall; shop; doctors 

surgery; and post office, as well as bus stops from which busses to nearby 
towns can be secured. Therefore, and although the appeal site is located a 
short distance outside of the village boundary, this does not necessarily mean 

that the site is in an unsustainable location for residential development.  

17. Albeit a snap-shot in time, during my site visit I found the Causeway to be a 

very lightly trafficked road, with good forward visibility, and I have no reason 
to doubt that these circumstances were a-typical. Furthermore, and despite the 

stretch of road closest to the appeal site being subject to a 60mph speed limit, 
the submitted speed survey demonstrates vehicles travelling significantly 
slower than the speed limit past the site. For these reasons, and given the 

proximity of the appeal site to local services and facilities within the village, the 
absence of street lighting or pavement alongside parts of the causeway, is 

unlikely to discourage or prevent future occupiers from accessing these 
services and facilities by means other than by private car. 

Page 110

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323073

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

18. I have already concluded that the development would not cause harm to the 

character and appearance of the area. As such, and for the reasons previously 
given, the appeal site is a suitable location for the proposed development, with 

particular regard to the spatial strategy within the development plan. 
Consequently, the development would comply with policies GBR2, INT1 and 
TRA1 of the Local Plan. It would also accord with the Framework where it 

promotes sustainable development and seeks to support the government’s 
objective to significantly boost the supply of homes. 

19. As the appeal site lies outside of the settlement boundary of Furneux Pelham, 
and there is no adopted neighbourhood development plan, Local Plan policy 
VILL2 does not lead me away from my previous findings.  

Other Matters 

20. Given that the appeal site is within the rural area beyond the Green Belt and on 

the basis that it is PDL, there is no policy-based requirement for the 
development to constitute infill development.  

21. Planning permission was refused for residential development on the ‘paddock’ 

(application reference 3/19/0379/FUL). However, that site is within the CA, and 
identified within the CA appraisal to be an important open space to be 

protected. These considerations do not apply in this case, and as such the two 
schemes are not directly comparable. 

22. If suspected or actual human remains were to be found during any site 

clearance or excavation works, then this would be a police matter. 

23. Notwithstanding the presence of plants throughout the site, the restoration of 

the land and any associated removal of contaminants, would bring 
environmental benefits to both the ground and water environment.  

Conditions 

24. Some of the Council’s suggested conditions have been amended for clarity and 
to meet the six tests within paragraph 56 of the Framework. Further conditions 

have also been added.  

25. The statutory condition which specifies the time-period for the implementation 
of the permission, is imposed. For clarity, a plans condition is also added which 

identifies the plans to which the permission relates.  

26. Materials and landscaping conditions are imposed to protect the character and 

appearance of the area and the distinctiveness and significance of the CA. 
Furthermore, and because the trees and hedgerows within the site could be 
affected by the initial works, it is necessary for one of the landscaping 

conditions to be a pre-commencement condition.  

27. A condition is also required to ensure that the development would not cause 

harm to the biodiversity value of the site. 

28. To protect human health and the environment from contaminants within the 

site, a condition is imposed requiring that a remediation scheme be submitted 
to and approved by the local planning authority. This needs to be a pre-
commencement condition, to ensure that any ground clearance or excavation 

works would not cause harm to human health or the environment. 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323073

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

29. To ensure that the development does not cause harm to highway safety, a 

condition is needed to secure the provision and retention of visibility splays at 
the access between the site and the Causeway. However, given the size of the 

site and its comparative topography with the adjacent road, conditions 
preventing the occupation of the dwelling before the proposed parking and 
manoeuvering spaces are provided, or which would prevent the discharge of 

surface water onto the highway, are not necessary. Furthermore, and because 
it is covered by other legislation, there is no need for a condition preventing 

materials from being deposited on the highway during the works. 

Conclusion 

30. For the reasons given above, and having regard to the development plan as a 

whole and any other relevant material considerations, I conclude that this 
appeal should be allowed and planning permission be granted. 

 

V Simpson  

INSPECTOR 

 
 

Schedule of conditions 
 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans: Site location plan dated 28 March 
2022, 04/C, 05/A, 06/A, and site sections 08. 

3) The development hereby permitted shall not begin until a scheme to deal 

with contamination of land, ground gas, and controlled waters has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

scheme shall include all of the following measures, unless the local 
planning authority dispenses with any such requirement specifically in 
writing; 

• a supplement to the Phase II Geoenvironmenal Ground 
Investigation report prepared by agb environmental dated 29 

March 2021, with respect of ground gas production and 
controlled waters on site. This supplement shall detail all 
additional investigative works and sampling on site, together 

with the results of the analysis, undertaken in accordance with 
BS 10175:2011 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites 

– Code of Practice. The report shall include a detailed 
quantitative human health and environmental risk assessment; 
and 

• a remediation scheme detailing; how the remediation will be 
undertaken; what methods will be used and what is to be 

achieved; the end point of the remediation and how this will be 
validated; and any ongoing monitoring. 

The development shall subsequently be undertaken in accordance with 

the approved details. 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323073

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

 

If during the works, contamination is encountered which has not been 
previously identified, then development works shall cease until the 

additional contamination has been fully assessed, and an appropriate 
remediation scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. The development may then be recommenced 

and undertaken in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling, a validation report detailing 
the proposed remediation works and quality assurance certificates to 
show that the works have been carried out in full accordance with the 

approved methodology shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. Such details shall include the results of any 

post-remedial sampling and analysis to demonstrate that the site has 
achieved the required clean-up criteria, together with documentation 
detailing what materials have been removed from the site.  

4) No development shall commence until there shall have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority a landscaping 

scheme. The scheme shall identify; 
• details of measures to protect the retained trees and hedgerows 

within the site, throughout the course of development;  

• if any trees or sections of hedgerow are required to be removed 
to facilitate the provision of the visibility splays or to prevent 

harm to highway safety, details of proposed replacement 
planting; 

• soft landscaping proposals; and  

• an implementation programme.  
The development shall subsequently be undertaken in accordance 

with the approved details. 

5) No development above slab level shall commence until details of the 
materials to be used on the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall 

subsequently be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

6) If, within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development, 
any trees or plants that are planted or retained in accordance with 

condition 4, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased, 
these shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 

size and species. 

7) No structure, erection, shrubs, trees, or other vegetation, that would 

exceed 0.6metres in height, shall be placed or allowed to grow within the 
visibility splays detailed on drawing number 04/C. 

8) The development shall be undertaken and subsequently occupied in 

accordance with the precautionary working methods and low-impact 
lighting measures identified within table 3 of the preliminary ecological 

assessment produced by Arbtech and dated 26 February 2022. 

End of conditions 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 23 January 2024  
by V Simpson BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 08 March 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3321041 

Warren Park Heritage and Craft Centre, Unclassified Road U42 North East 
from Stanstead Hill to Great Hadham Road, Green Tye, Hertfordshire   
SG10 6FF  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr C Beecham against the decision of East Hertfordshire District 

Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/0909/FUL, dated 27 April 2022, was refused by notice dated 6 

February 2023. 

• The development proposed is the change of use of Barns 2 and 3, and Courtyard Unit 3 

from Sui Generis Use to Class E (b, c, e and g) including the provision of 20 additional 

car parking spaces. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. Since the appeal was lodged, a revised National Planning Policy Framework 
(the Framework) has been published. This has not raised any new matters 

which are determinative in this appeal. 

3. The Council’s delegated officer report, which is a publicly accessible document, 
shows that the application was assessed against several policies contained 

within the East Herts Council East Herts District Plan October 2018 (the Local 
Plan). These policies included TRA1, which relates to sustainable travel.  

Although there is no reference to policy TRA1 within the decision notice, the 
appellant has addressed it within their submissions, and this policy is directly 
relevant to the main issue in this appeal. No parties would therefore be 

prejudiced by my consideration of this policy. 

Background and Main Issue 

4. The appeal site is within the Green Belt.  Notwithstanding this, the car parking 
spaces would be formed within the otherwise developed and well-enclosed 
appeal site. As such, and based on the evidence before me, both this element 

of the scheme and the proposed change of use of buildings, would preserve the 
openness of the Green Belt and would not conflict with the purposes of 

including land within it. Therefore, the proposed development would not be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3321041

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. That being the case, the main issue is whether the appeal site is a suitable 

location for the proposed development, with particular regard to its accessibility 
by means other than by private car.  

Reasons 

6. The appeal site is within an otherwise rural countryside location. It is some 
distance from the edge of the closest settlements, and over 1mile from the 

edge of the built-up area of Bishops Stortford.  

7. A series of buildings occupy the appeal site. From both the evidence and my 

observations on site, these are at least partially, in use for commercial and 
business purposes.  

8. Local Plan policy ED1 supports new employment uses where they are in a 

sustainable location where access can be achieved by a choice of sustainable 
transport. Policy ED2 of the Local Plan provides general support for proposals 

that would support the sustainable growth and expansion of existing 
businesses in the rural area. However, it requires such proposals to be 
appropriately and sustainably located. Policy ED2 also provides general support 

for proposals that would consist of a change of use in the rural area, from one 
employment generating use to another. Notwithstanding this, both policies ED1 

and ED2 also require that proposals do not conflict with other Local Plan 
policies. 

9. Policy TRA1 of the Local Plan seeks to both improve accessibility and promote 

sustainable transport in the district, and one of the aims of this policy is to 
minimise the need to travel.  In accordance with this aim, the policy requires 

development proposals to primarily be located in places that enable sustainable 
journeys to be made to key services and facilities, and, to help aid carbon 
emission reduction. It also requires that a range of sustainable transport 

options be available to users.  

10. Paragraph 109 of the Framework acknowledges that opportunities to maximise 

sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas. It also 
guides that significant development should be focused on locations that either, 
are, or can be made, sustainable, by limiting the need to travel and offering a 

genuine choice of transport modes.  

11. The main parties agree that the authorised uses of barns 2 and 3 include that 

for car restoration and storage purposes. As such, the use of these buildings 
could undoubtedly lead to vehicle movements to and from the site. However, 
no compelling evidence regarding the number of vehicle movements that could 

be reasonably anticipated, from both the permitted and proposed uses of these 
buildings and the courtyard 3 building, has been provided.  

12. Both the maximum amount of floor space and the specific building which could 
be used for the sale of food and drink for consumption mostly on the premises, 

could be controlled via a condition. Notwithstanding this, and even if it is 
intended that access to the ‘café’ area be provided only through unit 2, no 
mechanism has been put before me to ensure that the exterior doors facing 

barn 3 would not be used.  Furthermore, and while it may be intended that the 
café be ancillary to other business’s and enterprises on the site, I have no 

reason to doubt that such provision would also attract additional custom and 
vehicle movements to the site.  

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3321041

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

13. A wide range of users could potentially occupy the buildings if this development 

were permitted, and different types of businesses or enterprises would likely 
result in varying levels of associated traffic generation. However, in the 

absence of details of likely vehicle generation, and given the considerable 
number of additional car parking spaces proposed, I cannot conclude that the 
implementation of the proposals would not result in a significant increase in 

movements to and from the site.  

14. Pedestrian and public transport infrastructure and services to the appeal site 

are very limited. There are no dedicated pedestrian routes along either the 
unnamed road from which the site is accessed or the sections of the B1004 
closest to the site. Furthermore, the evidence indicates that the nearest bus 

stop and railway station are located on the outskirts and town centre of 
Bishops Stortford respectively. These are at considerable distances from the 

appeal site. It is possible that some additional movements to the site would be 
at least partially via the Public Right of Way (PRoW) network. However, given 
distance of the nearest settlements; the terrain; the lack of PRoW connectivity 

to the site itself; and the lack of streetlighting or a dedicated footway on the 
roads close to the appeal site, pedestrian access is unlikely to be a realistic or 

favoured option for many.   

15. There are cycle storage facilities within the appeal site, and some of the 
additional movements to and from the appeal site could be via bicycle. 

However, the nearby road network does not include designated cycle lanes, 
and as such, and for similar reasons to those outlined for pedestrians, this 

mode of transport is also unlikely to be frequently or commonly used. 

16. Even if the travel plan submitted pursuant to a condition of planning permission 
reference 3/19/0670/VAR was subsequently agreed by the Council, that 

document was produced regarding an alternative scheme from that subject of 
this appeal. In this case, and given the absence of compelling evidence on 

matters such as; likely staff and customer numbers; where such staff and 
customers are likely to travel from; and with what frequency, I cannot conclude 
that a travel plan would be effective in encouraging future users of the 

proposed development to use more sustainable modes of transport than 
private car.  As such, and even if measures such as lift sharing or the use of a 

private minibus service were to be promoted, I cannot be confident that these 
measures would prevent most additional journeys to the site being via private 
car.  

17. For the reasons given, the appeal site is not a suitable location for the 
proposed development, with particular regard to its accessibility by means 

other than private car. Consequently, it would conflict with policies ED1, ED2 
and TRA1 of the Local Plan. It would also conflict with paragraph 109 of the 

Framework.  

18. Policy TRA3 of the Local Plan relates to vehicle parking provision. As such, this 
policy is not directly relevant to the main issue in this case. 

 

Other Matters 

19. The authorised use of barns 2 and 3 is very restricted. Therefore, I accept that 
it is likely to be easier to secure tenants for these buildings if their permitted 
use was to be widened to encompass Class E (b), (c), (e) and/or (g). However, 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3321041

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

the level of detail regarding previous attempts to market these buildings is 

extremely limited, and as such I am unable to conclude that there is no 
demand for the occupation of these buildings as per their authorised use.  

20. The diverse range of small businesses currently occupying parts of the appeal 
site contribute to the rural economy. They also help to preserve heritage crafts 
and to increase public awareness and/or appreciation of them. Nevertheless, 

on the evidence before me, the dismissal of this scheme would not necessarily 
cause harm to the viability of the small businesses currently operating out of 

the buildings on the site, or, to the long-term viability of the Warren Park 
Heritage and Craft Centre as a whole. Furthermore, and even if the appellant 
were to use part of the income generated from the use of the buildings subject 

of the proposed change of use, to subsidise the on-site heritage craft 
enterprises, no mechanism has been put before me to ensure that this would 

continue. I therefore accord these considerations very limited weight. 

21. Policy ED2 of the Local Plan and paragraph 88 of the Framework provide 
general support for proposals that support the rural economy. Framework 

paragraphs 85 and 87 also indicate that significant weight should be placed on 
the need to support economic growth and productivity, and, that planning 

decisions should recognise the specific locational requirements of different 
sectors.  

22. The implementation of the proposed development is likely to contribute to the 

rural economy by the creation of additional employment and increased 
expenditure. However, the extent or amount of any such economic benefit 

cannot be established from the evidence. Furthermore, and while customers or 
staff using one business would be reasonably likely to provide custom or 
support for other on-site businesses, it has not been demonstrated that the 

proposals necessarily require a countryside location such as that afforded by 
the appeal site.  For these reasons, only medium weight is accorded to the 

economic benefits that could result from the implementation of the proposed 
development. 

23. Although also relating to land and buildings at Warren Park Heritage and Craft 

Centre, the proposed development subject of application reference 
3/17/2723/ful differs from that in this appeal. Furthermore, that earlier 

application was determined before the Council adopted the Local Plan. For 
these reasons, the schemes are not directly comparable.  

Conclusion 

24. The proposed development would conflict with the development plan when 
taken as a whole. There are no material considerations, either individually or in 

combination that outweigh the identified harm and associated development 
plan conflict. I therefore conclude that this appeal should be dismissed. 

V Simpson  

INSPECTOR 
 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 7 February 2024 

by P B Jarvis BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:12.03.2024 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3327791 
170 Stortford Hall Park, Bishop’s Stortford, CM23 5AR 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Miss Wendy Collings against the decision of East Herts District 

Council.  

• The application Ref 3/22/1107/FUL, dated 25 May 2022, was refused by notice dated  

16 February 2023. 

• The development is to increase the amount of classes allowed and the maximum 

amount of people per class – maximum 6 clients at any one time, up to 5 days a week. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Procedural Matters 

2. It has been confirmed that the increase in the number of classes and number 

of clients attending those classes sought by this appeal has already taken place 
and been in operation for some time.  I have therefore determined the appeal 

on this basis.  

3. Since the appeal was lodged an updated version of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, December 2023, (the Framework) has been issued.  However, the 

relevant parts the Framework have not materially changed therefore it was not 
necessary for the parties to be consulted directly.  In any event, I note that the 

date of final comments was after the date of its publication.   

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is the effect on the living conditions of neighbouring properties 

due to noise and disturbance arising from increased frequency of vehicular 
movements and comings and goings of clients.  

Reasons 

5. The appeal site is located in a residential area in the outskirts of the town and 
comprises is a semi-detached residential property.  The area to the front of the 

dwelling has been paved over and provides parking for 6-7 cars.  It is located 
at the end of a cul-de-sac adjacent to the turning area at the end.  The 

surrounding properties are similar semi-detached properties with a long terrace 
facing towards the turning area at the end of the cul-de-sac.   This built form 
provides a relatively continuous built frontage around the cul-de-sac with 

dwellings having off-street parking to the front or side of the dwellings.  

Page 118

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327791 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. The existing use, a pilates studio, operates out of a log cabin at the end of the 

garden of the property.  It was originally granted permission to operate as such 
in 2016 and is subject to conditions that restrict the use to a maximum of 4 

classes a week (one a day) for up to four people in each class.  The appeal 
seeks to increase the use to two classes a day, for up to 5 days a week to a 
maximum of 10 classes with the maximum number of clients per class 

increased to 6.  The Appellant confirms that this increased use is already taking 
place and two classes a day are held between 09.00 and 15.30 hrs with a 45 

minute gap between them to avoid any overlap between clients and traffic.  It 
is also confirmed that occasional private classes also take place.   

7. I have been referred to an earlier appeal decision in 2015 which related to the 

use of the log cabin as a pilates studio for a maximum of 11 times per week 
with a maximum of six clients at any one time1.  It was dismissed on the basis 

that it would result in a level of associated movements and noise at odds with 
the quiet character of the area and which would adversely affect the living 
conditions of neighbouring occupiers, contrary to Policies ENV1 and ENV24 of 

the East Herts Local Plan Second Review 2007.  

8. Since that time, a new local plan, the East Herts District Plan 2018 (EHDP) has 

been adopted though the relevant policies, DES4 and EQ2, take a similar 
approach to the above policies in seeking to avoid significant detrimental 
impacts on the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties and land and 

ensure that environments are not harmed by, amongst other things, noise and 
disturbance and that development operates in a way that minimises the direct 

and cumulative impact of noise on the surrounding environment.  I have also 
been referred to the Bishop’s Stortford Town Council Neighbourhood Plan (1st 
Revision) 2021-2033.  However, the Council has not cited conflict with any 

relevant policies in their decision and I would agree that none are relevant to 
the main issue identified above.    

9. The changes now sought result in a more than doubling of the number of 
classes in any week and an increase in the maximum number of clients from 16 
to 60.  This represents a very significant increase in the number of people 

visiting the site.  In particular, whilst the numbers attending individual classes 
is not significantly increased, the total number of classes would be more than 

double the current permitted number of classes.  There are also further private 
individual classes.   

10. The resulting increase in the frequency of classes means that there is a 

corresponding increase in the times at which any related disturbance takes 
place.  Whilst noting that the classes would take place between 09.00-15.30 

hours, thus avoiding the times when the comings and goings of the residents 
themselves are most likely to be concentrated, it does mean that there is the 

potential for additional disturbance at times when residents might expect to 
enjoy a reasonable level of peace and quiet, commensurate with the relatively 
tranquil area in which the appeal site is located.       

11. Comments from neighbours are mixed, with support and objections.  The 
supporting comments, including from residents of properties at the end of the 

cul-de-sac facing towards the appeal site, note that the increased level of use 
has not resulted in any disturbance or adverse effects and the classes take 
place when most people are at work.  However, the occupier of the attached 

 
1 APP/J1915/W/15/3039146 

Page 119

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327791 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

semi-detached property has objected noting that they work from home on a 

regular basis for the majority of the week.   The living room windows of this 
neighbour are directly adjacent to the driveway on the appeal site which 

extends across the whole of the site frontage with no dividing or screening 
feature or ‘buffer’ between the two properties.  This relationship can be 
distinguished from the other neighbours which all have a level of separation 

from the appeal site.  Notwithstanding the lack of objection from the Council’s 
Environmental Health section, the increased level of use has undoubtedly had 

an impact.   

12. The Inspector dealing with the previous appeal noted in that case that the 
number of comings and goings generated by the use would be significant in the 

context of the low level of existing activity in the area, particularly given the 
movement of people and vehicles being concentrated in the short intervals 

between certain daily sessions.   It was concluded that the level and pattern of 
activity would be at odds with the tranquil character of the area.  The situation 
before me is somewhat different in that the gap between classes would be 

increased and classes would not take place during the evening.  However, the 
overall level of activity would be similar and remains at odds with the tranquil 

character of the area.  This would be the case despite the current permitted 
use which in comparison occurs only once a day.         

13. In respect of parking, I note that a proportion of current clients walk or cycle to 

the premises.  Whilst this is not something that could be controlled by 
condition, it does seem to indicate that it is unlikely that there will always be 

the same number of cars visiting the site as clients.  In any event, I note that 
the maximum number of vehicles that can be accommodated on the site is six, 
in addition to the Appellant’s own car, such that the on-site parking would be 

adequate.    

14. Taking into account all the above factors, I find that the increased level of use 

has a harmful effect on the living conditions of the residents of neighbouring 
properties such as to render it unacceptable.  It thus conflicts with EHDP 
Policies DES4 and EQ2.  

15. I have taken into account the policies of the Framework which in particular 
seek to support sustainable development by enabling working from home and 

encourage uses which provide a local service that contributes to the local 
economy and wellbeing of the local community.  Whilst these are positive 
benefits of the development, they do not outweigh the harm identified above.  

Conclusion  

16. I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.   

P B Jarvis 

INSPECTOR 

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 13 March 2024  
by David Smith BA(Hons) DMS MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 26 March 2024  

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3319338 

Land at Crane Mead, Ware, SG12 9FF  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a failure to give notice within the prescribed period of a decision on 

an application for planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Unique Floors Limited against East Hertfordshire District Council. 

• The application Ref is 3/22/1548/FUL. 

• The development proposed is a new three storey residential block comprising one 2 bed 

four person dwelling and two 1 bed two person dwellings per floor with a total of 9 

apartments.  The scheme will also include cycle and bin storage, creation of private 

balcony space as well as shared amenity space from the new block to the river lea, 

landscaping hard and soft planting, car parking including visitor parking. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed and planning permission refused. 

Main Issues 

2. These are: 

• The effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance of 
the area, including a non-designated heritage asset (Weir Keepers Cottage); 

• The effect on land designated as Local Green Space; 

• Whether the proposed development would be suitably located having regard 
to the risk of flooding; and  

• The effect on biodiversity.  

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

3. The appeal site is an undeveloped and unkempt piece of land adjacent to the 
towpath that runs along the River Lee Navigation.  There is a footpath along its 

western side that links to the towpath.  It is situated between two blocks of 
flats at Loxley Court and Coopers Court.  The area of Crane Mead has an 
industrial history but over recent years much of that activity has been replaced 

by residential development. 

4. The scale of the proposed three-storey block would be consistent with its 

surroundings.  The design takes its cue from the adjoining buildings with 
pitched roofs, an irregular plan form and the use of light red and yellow bricks.  
Whilst not especially inspiring or redolent of a waterfront location, this 

approach is an appropriate one due to its similarity with the immediate 

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3319338

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

neighbours.  Furthermore, there would be a reasonable space around the 

proposal compared to the other high-density buildings nearby. 

5. However, the detailed execution of the facades would be disappointing.  In 

particular, the fenestration in the front gable would be small and mean and so 
would give rise to a poorly proportioned elevation.  The side walls would be 
prominent in views along the footpath but they would be mundane with little 

articulation or visual interest.   

6. More significantly, the proposal would be much closer than Loxley and Coopers 

Courts to the River Lee Navigation.  There are other waterside buildings near it 
and a decent sized area would be kept between the building and the waterway 
as amenity space.  However, the alignment of the proposed building would 

noticeably and oddly protrude beyond the adjoining buildings.  It would be seen 
in this context rather than in relation to the bend in the river.  In view of this, 

and notwithstanding the comparable design, the proposal would not sit at all 
comfortably between the flatted buildings on either side.   

7. The Ware Neighbourhood Plan identifies Weir Keepers Cottage at Tumbling Bay 

as a non-designated heritage asset as it makes a positive contribution to the 
historic setting of the River Lee Navigation.  This modest building has recently 

been renovated.  Whilst attractive in appearance, its main significance is due to 
the long-standing linkage with the adjacent weir and the Navigation.   

8. The proposal would bring about a change to the wider setting of the cottage, 

even though it would be on the opposite bank.  Some views of it across the 
appeal site would be obstructed.  However, glimpses would still be possible and 

this vista is not so special that it should be retained at all costs.  Indeed, 
because of their separation, the proposed building would not spoil the setting 
of the cottage or dilute the appreciation of its associations with the water.  As 

its significance would not be harmed, there would be no conflict with Policy W3 
of the Neighbourhood Plan or with Policy HA2 of the East Herts District Plan.     

9. Nevertheless, the proposal would harm the character and appearance of the 
area due to its siting and aspects of the detailed design.  As it would not be of 
a high standard of design and layout to reflect and promote local 

distinctiveness, there would be conflict with District Plan Policy DES4.  It would 
also be at odds with Neighbourhood Plan Policy W2 which seeks to reflect the 

character of Ware through high quality design. 

Local green space 

10. Policy W13 of the Ware Neighbourhood Plan includes the appeal site within a 

larger area of land alongside the River Lee Navigation which is designated as 
Local Green Space.  Appendix 1 contains analysis of the value of this area 

which is said to make a vital contribution to the open vista along the Lea Valley 
between the Town Bridge and Hardmead Lock.  The appeal site adds to its 

attributes in this respect and is also a green wedge of undeveloped land 
between the blocks on either side.  This provides a pleasing contrast to the 
surrounding built form. 

11. The National Planning Policy Framework explains that the designation of Local 
Green Space allows communities to identify and protect green areas of 

particular importance to them.  This is what has happened through the 
Neighbourhood Plan.  District Plan Policy CFLR2 establishes that development 

Page 122

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3319338

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

will only be permitted if it is consistent with the function, character and use of 

the Local Green Space to which it relates.  The substantial three-storey building 
proposed fails that test as it would significantly reduce the important open 

character of the land and fill the gap that it creates.  All of its existing qualities 
would be irrevocably lost contrary to the intentions of local policy.  

12. The Framework observes that policies for managing development within a Local 

Green Space should be consistent with those for Green Belts.  This is reflected 
by Policy W13.  However, given that the proposal falls foul of the policy in the 

District Plan there is no need to undertake a separate exercise to assess this. 

13. To sum up, the proposed development would significantly harm the function, 
character and use of the Local Green Space between Crane Mead and the River 

Lee Navigation.  It would not accord with Policy CFLR2.  

Risk of flooding 

14. Because of its proximity to the River Lee Navigation, the appeal site is at risk of 
fluvial flooding.  There is nevertheless no record of it having flooded since 1968 
and the Environment Agency’s flood maps indicate that the risk of flooding is 

low.  It benefits from flood defences.  However, the land lies within flood zones 
2 and 3a which are defined in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) on Flood 

risk and coastal change as having a medium and high probability of flooding.   

15. The Framework establishes that inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at 

highest risk.  In this respect, greater attention should be given to national 
policy than past events.  Because of its location, the proposal should be subject 

to a sequential test as stated in District Plan Policy WAT1.  This aims to steer 
new development to areas with the lowest risk of flooding from any source.   

16. Details about the sequential test are included in the PPG.  It should show that 

there are no reasonably available, lower-risk sites that are suitable for the 
proposed development.  However, no such exercise has been undertaken and 

there is nothing to indicate that no part of the District is within flood zone 1.   
As a result, the proposal would not accord with the expectations of either 
national policy or Policy WAT1.  

17. In response to the Environment Agency, the appellant produced an Addendum 
to the original Flood Risk Assessment.  However, even if compensatory 

floodplain storage could be achieved, this does not alter the failure to first 
undertake a sequential test.  The PPG confirms that even where a flood risk 
assessment shows the development can be made safe throughout its lifetime 

without increasing risk elsewhere, the sequential test still needs to be satisfied.   

18. In conclusion, because of the absence of a sequential test, there can be no 

confidence that the proposal would be in an area at the lowest risk of flooding 
for development of this kind.  To accept the proposed flats here would be 

wholly contrary to the intentions of both local and national policy.  Therefore, 
the proposed development would not be suitably located having regard to the 
risk of flooding and would conflict with Policy WAT1. 

Biodiversity 

19. At the time of the survey for the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal the appeal 

site comprised short, improved grass with a small area of semi-mature shrubs 

Page 123

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3319338

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

and trees.  It was therefore generally of low ecological value with no signs or 

evidence of protected, priority or rare species.  The Appraisal makes various 
recommendations and concludes that these would result in a biodiversity net 

gain.  Landscaping would be undertaken.  

20. However, vegetation has been cleared from the site.  A local resident indicates 
that a small copse was removed in 2020.  Furthermore, the site is now 

overgrown with scrub, brambles and signs of natural regeneration.  Policy NE2 
of the District Plan generally expects all proposals to achieve a net gain in 

biodiversity as measured by a locally approved metric.  It is unclear what the 
‘baseline’ for assessment should be and no formal calculation of the overall 
implications for wildlife and habitats has been undertaken.  Given the specific 

requirements of Policy NE2 this amounts to a further objection to the proposal. 

21. It has not been clearly shown that the effect on biodiversity would be a positive 

one and the proposed development would not comply with Policy NE2 in this 
respect.  Furthermore, it has not been demonstrated how negative impacts 
would be minimised and biodiversity net gain achieved in line with Policy W12 

of the Neighbourhood Plan.    

Other Considerations 

22. The latest position statement indicates that the Council can demonstrate a 
housing supply of 5.57 years against its five-year requirement of 5,560.  The 
appellant’s only observation in this respect is that most of the housing is not 

deliverable until after 2026 and is subject to planning approvals being given. 

23. The bulk of the supply (4,765 homes) has planning permission and can be 

expected to be delivered within five years.  The Council has provided evidence, 
including information from developers, about the progress being made in 
respect of eleven allocated sites where there is no planning permission.  It has 

taken a pragmatic approach and expects that 1,126 dwellings will be delivered 
from these sources by 2028.  The appellant does not suggest that “clear 

evidence” of delivery has not been provided.  Even if there is slippage then the 
supply requirement is comfortably exceeded.   

24. In any case, as the appeal site is within an area at risk of flooding and is Local 

Green Space these provide clear reasons to refuse the development proposed.  
Therefore, even if there were no five-year housing land supply, the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development at paragraph 11 d) of the 
Framework would not apply.  Nevertheless, the indications are that the supply 
of housing in East Hertfordshire exceeds Government expectations. 

25. The proposal would create nine additional residential units which the appellant 
is ready to implement.  These would be located within the urban area of Ware 

and would conform with District Plan Policy DPS2 which seeks to direct 
development in the District to sustainable locations.  It would also contribute to 

the figures for windfall development and the town of Ware is expected to 
accommodate a proportion of this as set out in Policy WARE1.   

26. None of the other matters raised in representations, including parking 

provision, congestion and the impact on adjoining occupiers, amount to 
objections to the scheme for the reasons given in the report to Committee. 

 

Page 124

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3319338

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

Final Balance 

27. The proposed development would add to the supply of housing and its location 
within Ware would be in line with the spatial strategy for the distribution of new 

housing across the District.  However, there are significant objections in terms 
of the adverse effect on the character and appearance of the area and on an 
area of Local Green Space.  Due to the absence of a sequential test, it has not 

been shown that the proposal would be suitably located having regard to the 
risk of flooding from the River Lee Navigation and biodiversity enhancements 

have not been demonstrated.  The housing supply position does not provide a 
compelling reason to set these objections aside.   

Conclusion 

28. Therefore, the proposal would not accord with the development plan as a whole 
and the material considerations in favour do not outweigh this finding.  For the 

reasons given, the appeal should not succeed. 

 

David Smith  

INSPECTOR 

 

 
 

Page 125

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 16 October 2023 

by R Aston BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 25 March 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/Y/23/3320291 

Shem Nichols, The Street, Aspenden, Buntingford, Hertfordshire SG9 9PG 

• The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 against a refusal to grant listed building consent. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Simon Bailey against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref:  3/22/2123/LBC, dated 27 November 2019, was refused by notice 

dated 6 February 2023. 

• The works proposed are the siting of an air source heat pump at the rear. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. As the proposal relates to a listed building in a conservation area, I have had 
special regard and paid special attention to the requirements of sections 16(2) 

and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(the Act) in my determination of this appeal. 

3. The application form confirms the proposal was installed in October 2019 and I 

was able to observe it in place at my visit. In accordance with the provisions of 
the Act an appeal against the refusal of works to a listed building that have 

taken place should not be regarded as being retrospective and is for 
regularisation. I have determined the appeal on this basis.  

4. In the banner heading above I have used the description of the proposal from 

the Council’s decision notice as it does not contain superfluous wording and is 
more accurate. However, I have deleted the term retrospective for the reason 

given above. I have also deleted the description of the site address used on the 
application form as it is not necessary to accurately identify the appeal site’s 
address. 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are whether the proposal preserves the special architectural 

and historic interest of Shem Nichols, a Grade II listed building, and its setting 
and whether the proposal preserves or enhances the character or appearance 
of the Aspenden Conservation Area (the ACA). 

 
 

 
 

Page 126

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3320291 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Shem Nichols 

6. Shem Nichols was listed in 1984 and dates from the late 17th century. It is 

timber framed on a stuccoed sill, plastered with varied basketwork pargetting 
above a black weatherboarded apron. The listing refers to a steep old red tile 
roof, but I observed the building sat under a thatched roof. This appears to 

have been the original roof material and the new roof was installed by the 
appellant although no details of the consent for those works are before me.  

The building has been extended to the rear with a single storey rear 
breezeblock extension under a slate roof, constructed in the late 1990s. 
Internally the building contains exposed joists and framework and in the early 

20th century was home to Shem Nichols, a Cooper.  

7. The special interest of the listed building, insofar as it relates to this appeal, is 

primarily associated with the architectural and historic value it possesses as a 
repository of past building traditions and technologies. Further, the modest rear 
garden provides an intimate setting to the building complementing its historic 

function as a rural worker’s dwelling and allowing a close appreciation of its 
architectural interest and significance. 

8. The air source heat pump is located at ground floor level next to the rear 
elevation of the extension and is therefore only visible from within the rear 
garden. Whilst the appellant has suggested that the proposal would not harm 

the listed building because it would not be more widely visible, listed buildings 
are safeguarded for their inherent architectural and historic interest 

irrespective of whether or not public views of the building can be gained. 

9. A rectangular metal box sitting on black plastic feet, with white metal housing 
and central black fan blades set behind a black grille, it has two grey electrical 

socket boxes located behind the unit and is attached to the rear elevation of 
the extension, with thick black wires providing power and an isolator switch for 

the unit. Black insulated piping underneath a narrow metal grille with black 
plastic cable ties at regular intervals, runs along the external side and rear wall 
of the building at ground level to connect the unit to its internal hot water 

cylinder. 

10. Externally, with an immediate backdrop of the rear elevation, the unit’s size 

and appearance sits in jarring visual contrast with the traditional materials and 
appearance of the building, in particular its yellow finished plaster, 
weatherboarding and thatch. Whilst at ground level and notwithstanding its 

black colour, in juxtaposition to the weatherboarded apron of the building the 
pipework, insulation and metal grille is harmfully discordant in its appearance 

and extent. 

11. Internally, the hot water cylinder is positioned at the top of the cellar stairs and 

planed timber batons and copper piping have been fixed directly onto the 
exposed framework and plaster. The cylinder and its fixings are also visible 
from the rear garden through an original ground floor window. Further, an 

irregular hole has been made through the lath and plaster to connect the piping 
from the cylinder to the unit. This has resulted in some minor damage to the 

historic fabric of the building.  

Page 127

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3320291 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

12. The building has been extended to the rear and as the unit is a further and 

incongruous addition in proximity to the original elevation, and unduly 
prominent from within the rear garden, it detracts from the ability to appreciate 

the significance of the building’s special architectural interest from within its 
immediate setting to the rear. 

13. For these reasons, the proposal fails to preserve the special architectural and 

historic interest of the listed building and its setting, thus, it fails to satisfy the 
requirements of the Act, the National Planning Policy Framework (the 

Framework) and development plan policies insofar as relevant. 

Aspenden Conservation Area 

14. Despite the harm that is being caused to the listed building, I must assess 

harm to the conservation area as a whole. The significance of the ACA is mainly 
derived from its range of historic buildings spread intermittently on both sides 

of The Street, the architectural and rural quality of which is enhanced by a 
recreation ground, extensive tree cover and two small streams, with the 
principal stream running parallel to the street on its southern side. It has the 

Grade I listed 11th century St Mary’s church as a prominent focal point and  
contains both individual and groups of listed buildings ranging from the 15th 

century to the 18th century. It also contains more modern residential 
development. 

15. The buildings vary considerably in age and design with the character of The 

Street derived mostly from the rural character and spacious, wooded setting. 
On the northern side of the road at this point there are smaller dwellings, 

generally sited closer together in groups and set back from the highway, with 
some behind flint walling. These are interspersed by larger detached dwellings 
on larger plots. Dwellings on the southern side sit at a lower level and are set 

back from the highway. 

16. Despite my findings in relation to the listed building the proposal is not visible 

apart from within the rear garden area of the property. This limits any 
experience of it to that area and from limited parts of the adjoining dwelling, 
Shems Barn. The combination of its location and size results in a neutral effect 

on the character and appearance of the ACA, as a whole and preserves its 
significance. 

Balancing exercise 

17. The Framework advises that when considering the impact of development on 
the significance of designated heritage assets, great weight should be given to 

their conservation. I find the harm to the listed building to be less than 
substantial in this instance but nevertheless of considerable importance and 

weight. 

18. Energy options in a historic settlement may well be limited, and the proposal 

avoids the burning of fossil fuels which allows the appellant to reduce their 
carbon footprint and contribute to efforts against climate change. This is a 
public benefit but is limited given the scale of the proposal. The fact that it is 

the most suitable size for the property and was installed by an approved trader 
is a technical consideration and of little weight in terms of the listed building 

considerations.  

Page 128

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/Y/23/3320291 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

19. Whilst the appellant refers to the unit being less obtrusive than an original oil 

burner and external oil tank, no details are before me so I cannot be certain 
that the effects of those on the special interest of the building would have been 

greater. Moreover, I observed the former location of the oil tank was adjacent 
to the side boundary, sited deeper into the garden and is likely to have been 
screened by planting. On the evidence before me it would have been likely to 

have lesser effects than the air source heat pump before me. 

20. Despite the installer considering this to be the most appropriate location for the 

unit there is no detailed justification or reasoning before me that alternative, 
and less prominent locations were considered. The appellant has also 
suggested a wooden box to house the unit, but I must determine the appeal on 

the evidence before me and details of any such mitigation do not form part of 
this appeal. Because I could not therefore be conclusive regarding its potential 

effects it would not be appropriate to impose a condition to secure such 
mitigation. Overall, the less than substantial harm I have identified is not 
outweighed by the public benefits cited. 

Conclusion 

21. For the above reasons and having regard to all other matters raised I conclude 

that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Richard Aston 

INSPECTOR 

Page 129

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 12 March 2024  
by Nick Bowden BA(Hons) Dip TP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 09 April 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3323512 

Greens Farm, East End, Furneux Pelham, Hertfordshire SG9 0JU  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by G Watson & Son against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref is 3/22/2613/FUL. 

• The development proposed is replacement of existing outbuilding with new annex and 

garden store/workshop. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for replacement of 
existing outbuilding with new annex and garden store/workshop at Greens 
Farm, East End, Furneux Pelham, Hertfordshire SG9 0JU in accordance with the 

terms of the application, Ref 3/22/2613/FUL, subject to the conditions in the 
attached schedule. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was revised in 
December 2023. As the changes do not materially affect the main issues in this 

case, the parties have not been invited to make further comments. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are: 

a) the effect of the proposed development on the character and appearance 
of the area, 

b) whether the proposed development would be ancillary to the existing 
dwelling, and 

c) whether the proposed development would be adaptable to climate 
change. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

4. The appeal site is set towards the eastern end of the dispersed and linear 

village of Furneux Pelham which, in the general vicinity, is characterised by 
detached homes in generously sized plots with a cluster of working farm 
buildings set to the immediate rear of the site. Beyond these buildings, the 

area is otherwise open to gently rolling fields.  

Page 130

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323512

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. The site itself comprises a small, broadly rectangular, parcel of land that sits 

adjacent to Greens Farm. It is bounded by hedges and trees of varying size 
and maturity to all sides. The proposed annex and garden store building would 

be set within this parcel following a loose ‘building line’ between Greens Farm 
and Farmcroft next door.  

6. The proposed building has a low profile, is clearly subordinate to the main 

dwelling at Greens Farm and is effectively screened to all sides by existing 
buildings and landscaping. Even without the screening, the proposed building 

would still be neat and diminutive in its context. For these reasons, I conclude 
that the proposed development would not be harmful to the character and 
appearance of the area and would comply with policies GBR2, DES4 and 

HOU12 of the East Herts Local Plan 2012 (EHLP). These policies, amongst other 
things, promote a high standard of design and layout to reflect and promote 

local distinctiveness.  

7. It has been nominated by the Council that the land is in agricultural use. This is 
not disputed by the appellant. However, I am mindful that this piece of land is 

very small in modern agricultural terms, and unlikely to contribute greatly to 
any rural enterprise. Moreover, it is in proximity to the main dwelling and, from 

my site visit, appeared to have more of an affiliation with this home, than to 
the remainder of the agricultural land beyond. I have noted that the appellant 
owns and operates the farm and that the proposed building would facilitate this 

for the foreseeable future, in conjunction with other family members, being 
mindful of the appellants health. Given these matters and given that I have not 

found any harm to the character of the area, any loss of productive agricultural 
land would be minimal.  

Ancillary use 

8. Policy HOU13 of the EHLP sets out the requirements for residential annexes to 
be permitted. In summary these must have a clear functional link to the main 

dwelling, not dominate the existing dwelling and be appropriate in design terms 
with sufficient vehicle parking.  

9. The proposed building is modest in size. It features a single bedroom, 

bathroom and living area in addition to a garden workshop, shed and log store. 
The level of living accommodation provided is 54 square metres which, 

although comfortably above the minimum Nationally Described Space 
Standard, is far from excessive in terms of overall size or scale; particularly 
when considered in the context of the ‘parent’ dwelling at Greens Farm. In any 

case, this is not a test of the policy requirement.  

10. The proposed building would be set in an area which is only accessible via the 

garden to Greens Farm. The annex would, in the configuration proposed, have 
no direct access to the highway with parking provision being available to the 

side, on the existing driveway. Although the parcel of land in question is 
separated from the main dwelling by a low fence and hedges, it is nevertheless 
very close to it. There is a clear functional link between the two. As such, I 

conclude that the proposed annex would be ancillary to the main dwelling and 
the development complies with policy HOU13 of the EHLP. This is subject to a 

condition to ensure the building is not severed from Greens Farm and is 
occupied in connection with it.  

 

Page 131

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323512

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Climate change adaptability 

11. The appellant submitted a Sustainability Statement (SS) with the appeal. The 
Council has not directly commented upon this; however, it had the opportunity 

to do so. The SS provides examples of sustainability measures which could be 
incorporated into the development in order to achieve compliance with policies 
DES4, CC1, CC2 and WAT4 of the EHLP. These policies all address matters 

relating to climate change and sustainability measures that can be incorporated 
into development.  

12. However, the SS does not specify which of these example measures are to be 
implemented in the development. Even so, given the small scale of the 
proposed development, it could comply with the provisions of these policies to 

render it sufficiently adaptable to climate change. Therefore, subject to a 
condition, the development can comply with policies DES4, CC1, CC2 and 

WAT4 of the EHLP.  

Other Matters 

13. I have noted that the main dwelling, Greens Farm, is a grade II listed building. 

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires me to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting 

of this heritage asset. Given the small scale of the proposed development, 
context and its subordinate nature; there would be no material harm to the 
setting of this nearby listed building. 

Conditions 

14. I have imposed the recommended conditions of the Council, with modifications 

and corrections, to accord with the Planning Practice Guidance. Condition 1 is a 
general time limit condition. Condition 2 is to accord with the approved plans 
for certainty. Condition 3 is imposed to ensure a satisfactory external 

appearance and to ensure the development of the site is not detrimental to the 
appearance of the area and being mindful of this rural location and the 

proximity to the heritage asset. Condition 4 is imposed to restrict the 
occupancy of the annex such that it remains ancillary to Greens Farm and does 
not result in the creation of a new dwelling and to comply with policy HOU13 of 

the EHLP.  

15. I have imposed a further condition, number 5, relating to sustainability 

measures and to comply with EHLP policies DES4, CC1, CC2 and WAT4. Both 
parties have been consulted on this condition.  

Conclusion 

16. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the proposed development would 
not be harmful to the character and appearance of the area, would be ancillary 

to the existing dwelling and, with a condition, can be adaptable to climate 
change. The development, therefore, complies with the policies of the 

development plan, read as a whole, and material considerations do not indicate 
that a decision should be made other than in accordance with the development 
plan. The appeal is allowed. 

Nick Bowden  

INSPECTOR  

Page 132

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3323512

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Schedule of Conditions 

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun within a 
period of three years commencing on the date of this decision. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans – 350 001, 350 002, 350 003. 

3. Prior to any above ground construction works being commenced, the external 

materials to be used in the construction of the development shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the 

development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

4. The outbuilding shall only be used for purposes incidental to the enjoyment of 
the dwellinghouse known as Greens Farm. The building shall not be used as an 

independent residential dwelling. 

5. Prior to any above ground construction works being commenced, details of the 

sustainability measures to be incorporated into the design of the building shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These 
sustainability measures shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 

approved details.  

End of Schedule 

 

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 7 February 2024 

by P B Jarvis BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:27.03.2024 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/23/3331929 
Lorne Croft, Wellpond Green, Standon, Ware, Herts SG11 1NJ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr L Petrie against the decision of East Herts District Council.  

• The application Ref 3/23/1069/HH, dated 7 June 2023, was refused by notice dated  

3 August 2023. 

• The proposed development is the erection of a single storey garage and gym building. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.   

Preliminary Matters 

2. The Council’s decision notice infers that the site is in the Green Belt.  However, 
having fully reviewed all the submitted documentation, it is clear that the site 

lies in the ‘Area Beyond the Green Belt’.  I have therefore determined the 
appeal on this basis.  

3. At the time of my site visit, I saw that a driveway had been installed along the 

southern boundary giving access to a large hardstanding in the south-east 
corner of the appeal site. It is unclear whether these works relate to the 

development before me, therefore, I have proceeded on the basis that the 
appeal relates to the proposed development as indicated on the submitted 
drawings.  

4. A revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was published 
in December 2023. However, the relevant policies have not materially changed 

therefore I have not sought further comments from the parties.   

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are the effect of the proposed development on:  

• the character and appearance of the area; and  

• ecology and biodiversity, having particular regard to the site’s location 

within the Nags Head Field Local Wildlife Site.  

 

 

  

Page 134

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3331929 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons  

Character and appearance 

Existing 

6. Wellpond Green, which is referred to in the Standon Parish Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 2017-2033 (SNP) as a ‘hamlet’, is located in a rural area to 
the east of the larger village of Standon.  It consists of a number of 

predominantly large, detached dwellings set within extensive grounds generally 
accessed off the main village lanes.  It has a somewhat dispersed built form set 

within an open ‘green’ setting with many mature trees and established 
vegetation.   

7. Lorne Croft lies towards the northern edge of the hamlet, accessed via a small 

track off one of the main routes running through the village.  It comprises a 
large two storey dwelling, to the immediate south-east of which is located a 

large, detached outbuilding containing a pool and other ancillary uses.  Two 
further outbuildings lie to the north of these, one just to the north of the 
dwelling and the other some distance away towards the northern boundary of 

the appeal site.  These buildings are all sited towards the western side of the 
extensive appeal site with the central and eastern parts being open and 

undeveloped.   

8. I have been referred to an earlier appeal decision1 for a proposed dwelling in 
the north-east part of the appeal site in which the Inspector describes the 

‘precise’ appeal site in that case as having an open and verdant character.  The 
current site in question, which lies in the south-east corner of the appeal site to 

the south of the above, can be similarly described as having an open character.  
Whilst there is some established vegetation around its perimeter, this is not 
particularly dense and adds to its natural character.   

Proposed 

9. Policy GBR2 of the East Herts District Plan (2018) (EHDP) which relates to the 

‘Rural Area beyond the Green Belt’, sets out a number of types of development 
that will be permitted provided they are compatible with the character and 
appearance of the area.  The policy and supporting text explain that these rural 

areas are highly valued, particularly for their open and largely undeveloped 
nature, and contribute to the countryside resource.   

10. Of the types of development included, the relevant ones with regard to the 
proposal and the submitted evidence are: (d) the replacement, extension or 
alteration of a building; and (e) limited infilling within previously developed 

sites in sustainable locations.  However, (d) does not apply as the proposal is 
for a new building, not a replacement, and the proposed location of the building 

is some distance from the existing dwelling and could not reasonably be 
described as an extension to it.  In respect of (e) the EHDP does not clarify a 

definition for such sites, but the Framework Glossary (Annex 2) includes a 
definition for previously developed land which is that occupied by a permanent 
structure including the curtilage, the exception in respect of residential gardens 

only relating to built-up areas.  Whilst the appeal site would accord with this 
definition, it also states that it should not be assumed that the whole of the 

curtilage should be developed.   

 
1 Ref APP/J1925/W/20/3252844, dated 25 November 2020 

Page 135

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3331929 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

11. The EHDP does not include a definition of ‘infilling’ in the context of Policy 

GBR2.  However, whilst the supporting text to EHCP Policy VILL3 (which relates 
to Wellpond Green as it is not identified as a Group 1 or 2 village) states that 

these villages are viewed as the least sustainable locations, the policy itself 
allows for limited infill development where identified in an adopted 
Neighbourhood Plan.  Such development is also subject to requirements which 

seek, amongst other things, that development relates well to the village, is of 
an appropriate scale and in keeping with its character.  Policy SP9 of the SNP 

allows for limited infill provision for housing in Wellpond Green and states that 
the definition of ‘infill’ requires that any new property contributes to the 
character of the street scene.   

12. The proposed outbuilding would be of considerable size, its footprint appearing 
to be larger than that of both the existing dwelling and the large outbuilding 

which adjoins it. Although it would be of relatively low single storey height, it 
would nevertheless appear as a disproportionately large building introducing a 
substantial built form into the currently open garden area towards the eastern 

boundary of the appeal site, some distance from the existing buildings.  In such 
a location it would not be within nor contribute to the ‘street scene’.   

13. Whilst there is a large, detached dwelling and outbuilding on the property 
immediately to the south, these buildings appear as part of the wider group to 
the south of the appeal site.  The proposed building and hardstanding area to 

the front, which would extend built development north of this, would encroach 
into the open areas beyond that group.  Its separation from the existing 

buildings on the appeal site would serve to exacerbate its visual encroachment 
into these open areas.  The gravel drive would be less visually imposing due to 
its surface finish and location but nevertheless would result in the loss of 

further natural areas.  

Conclusion 

14. Therefore, the proposal is not for a new property, nor would it comprise 
‘infilling’ within any existing built form or group of buildings on or adjoining the 
site, but would introduce built development within an open, undeveloped part 

of the appeal site.  As set out above, its built form and extent would detract 
from the existing open character of the site and surrounding rural area. It 

would therefore conflict with EHDP Policies GBR2, VILL3, DES2, DES3, DES4 
and HOU11 which, in addition to the above aims, seek to ensure that 
development conserves or enhances landscape character, and that outbuildings 

are of a scale, form and siting appropriate to the setting of the existing 
dwelling and surrounding area and generally appear as a subservient addition.  

It would also conflict with SNP Policy SP13 which seeks to ensure that 
development is responsive to its context and setting. 

Ecology and biodiversity 

15. The Council has stated that the site is located within the ‘Nags Head Field’ Local 
Wildlife Site (ref: 33-022) (LWS). However, the appellant has shown that the 

appeal site is approximately 400m from the land of the (former) Nags Head 
Public House and its associated fields.  In these circumstances, I sought further 

clarification from the Council which confirms the exact location of the above 
LWS.  From this, it is clear that the appeal site does lie within the LWS, which, 
despite its name, is not directly related to the site referred to by the Appellant.  

The LWS is an old hay meadow that supports grassland with a high diversity of 

Page 136

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3331929 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

grass and herb species surrounded by old, mixed species hedges with a 

number of native trees.        

16. Given the extent of the proposed development and the current natural and 

undeveloped appearance of the wider site there is the potential for there to be 
a significant impact in this regard.  The proposal is not accompanied by a 
detailed ecology assessment or similar prepared by a suitably qualified person, 

nor is there any information or other survey work which identifies the 
biodiversity value of the site or the impact that the proposal would have on it.  

Whilst I note that the proposal is accompanied by a detailed planting scheme, 
including a number of native species as well as other biodiversity features, in 
the absence of any assessment as noted above, it is not possible to conclude 

that the proposal would provide an appropriate level of mitigation and / or 
compensatory measures as necessary.  

17. I therefore find that it has not been demonstrated that the proposal would not 
be harmful to the ecology and biodiversity interests of the site and in particular 
to the LWS.  It would thereby conflict with EHDP Policies NE1 and NE3 which 

seek, amongst other things, to ensure that proposals avoid impacts on sites of 
nature conservation value and aim to enhance biodiversity and create 

opportunities for wildlife, demonstrating how the biodiversity value will be 
improved.  It would also conflict with Policy SP6 of the SNP which seeks to 
protect sites of wildlife interest.  

Other Matters  

18. I note that the gym area within the proposed building is intended to meet the 

specific needs of a member of the family, although no detailed information has 
been provided in this regard.  I have had regard to Section 149 of the Equality 
Act and the Human Rights Act but find that a refusal of permission is 

proportionate having regard to the harm that arises as set out above. 

19. The Appellant also suggests that the building would provide secure storage but 

there is little information to support such a need and this factor provides little 
justification to outweigh the harm identified.       

20. I have also had regard to other relevant parts of the Framework but find that 

the proposal conflicts with its environmental objectives, in particular to 
recognise the intrinsic character of the countryside, to ensure development 

responds to its context and to conserve and enhance the natural environment 
by protecting and enhancing sites of biodiversity value. 

Conclusion 

21. I therefore conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.   

P B Jarvis 

INSPECTOR 

Page 137

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          1 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 1 March 2024 

by S. Hartley BA(Hons) Dist.TP (Manc) DMS MRTPI MRICS 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  5TH March 2024 

  
 Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/23/3335999 

8 London Road, Hertford Heath, Hertfordshire SG13 7RH  

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against 

a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Sean O’keefe against the decision of East Herts Council.  

• The application Ref 3/23/1558/HH, dated 10 August 2023 was refused by notice dated  

6 October 2023. 

• The development proposed is the demolition of an existing outbuilding, the removal of 

conifer hedging and the construction of a single storey rear extension along the northern 

boundary. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Procedural Matters 

2. The National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (the Framework) was amended  
on 19 December 2023. The amendments made did not have a material bearing 

upon the main issues in this appeal, and it was therefore not necessary to seek 
comments from the main parties upon it. Where I have referred to the 

Framework, it is that of the December 2023 version. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are the impact of the proposal upon (i) the character and 

appearance of the host property and that of the area and (ii) the living 
conditions of the occupiers of No. 6 London Road by reason of daylight and 

outlook. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

4. The appeal property forms part of a terrace of properties in a mainly residential 
area which includes a mix of house types. Attached to it on one side is a 

property divided into apartments and with a car sales and repair garage 
beyond it, while on the other side is a dwelling. The mix of building styles, with 
a preponderance of two storey properties with double pitched roofs, adds 

distinctly and positively to the character and appearance of the area. 

Page 138

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3335999 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. The host property has a rear amenity space where the boundary with No. 10 

London Road extends outwards in a straight line from the house, but where the 
boundary with No. 6 London Road is at an angle, extending close to, and in 

front of, the rear elevation of the latter property. The rear amenity space of No. 
6 London Road is therefore limited.  There is a conifer hedge along this 
boundary with a height of some 3.2 metres. The host property includes a 

detached, single storey, outbuilding in its rear amenity space. Elbow Lane runs 
past the rear amenity spaces of the terrace. 

6. The proposed development, which would include the demolition of the existing 
outbuilding and the removal of the conifer hedging, is for a single storey, 
double pitched annexe for an office, a double bedroom and a shower/wc, to be 

constructed along the skewed boundary with No. 6 London Road. It would be 
linked to the host property with a building of lesser height than the main 

annexe and would have a natural timber stained cladding, contrasting with the  
proposed black stained timber cladding for the main part of the annexe and 
where the latter part would have a zinc roof.  

7. While the proposal would be relatively extensive in its linear form, by its limited 
height when compared to the host property and by its siting to the rear of the 

property, it would appear as a subservient addition to it. 

8. It would not be visible from London Road itself, nor would it affect the front 
elevation of the property which adds distinctively to the character and 

appearance of the area. Few if any glimpses of it would be seen from Elbow 
Lane and while the loss of the conifer trees might be noticeable, I have no 

evidence before me to suggest that they are protected. Moreover, there is 
already an existing outbuilding in the rear amenity space. Overall, the 
proposed development would not cause harm to the character and appearance 

of the host property or that of the area. 

9. Therefore, I conclude that the proposal would accord with policies HOU11, 

DES4 and VILL1 of the East Herts District Plan 2018 (DP) which require a high 
standard of design for all development, including extensions, appropriate to the 
character and appearance of the existing dwelling and its surrounding area.  

Living conditions  

10. The rear amenity space to No. 6 London Road is sited on the north side of the 

proposed annexe, while the rear elevation of the property itself is to the 
northwest of it.  

11. The boundary is marked on the appellant’s side by a line of conifer hedging 

with a height of approximately 3.2 metres. The proposed annexe at its highest 
point would be of a similar height. 

12. On my site visit, I was able to note that there is a gap in the conifer hedge 
which allows limited additional light to a rear window in No. 6 London Road.  

13. However, the proposed development would be single storey which would limit 
any material loss of daylighting. Even if there were any such loss, as the rear 
elevation is to the north-west of the proposed annexe, any such adverse 

impact would be likely to be limited to that part of the day towards the 
evening, rather than for the whole of the day and so would be acceptable in 

planning terms.  

Page 139

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3335999 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

14. On balance, therefore, when considering and comparing the impact of the 

proposed development and the current situation, I find that there would not be 
a significant deterioration in daylighting to the adjoining property and its rear 

windows. 

15. Despite the above, the proposed development by its skewed position, would be 
very close to the rear elevation of No. 6 London Road. I appreciate that there is 

already an outbuilding along the boundary and on the appellant’s land, but this 
is sited further down the garden boundary, while the proposed development 

would be located along virtually all of the boundary. I appreciate too that the 
occupiers of the adjoining property have not objected to the proposed 
development. However, I must also consider the impact of the development 

upon possible future occupiers of the neighbouring property. 

16. Furthermore, the proposed annexe would be no nearer to the rear elevation of 

the adjoining property than the conifer hedge and would have a similar height. 
In addition, I was able to see on my site visit that there is a fence of some 2.5 
to 3 metres high, very close to the ground floor windows of the adjoining 

property, between it and the conifer hedge.  

17. The impact of the hedge and the proposed development would not be the 

same. When comparing the two, the hedge has a softer, greener, impact and 
with a gap in it and some movement, whereas the proposed development 
would have a more static effect with a feeling of greater, unchanging 

overbearing permanence. 

18. For these reasons, I consider that the proposed development would have an 

unacceptably overbearing impact upon the outlook for the occupiers of No. 6 
London Road. 

19. Therefore, I conclude that the proposed development would not accord with 

policy DES4 (c) and policy VILL1 of the DP which require development to avoid 
significant detrimental impacts upon the amenity of occupiers of neighbouring 

properties and land. 

Conclusion 

20. I have concluded that the proposed development would be subservient to the 

host property and would assimilate satisfactorily into the character and 
appearance of the dwelling and the area. I have also concluded that the impact 

in terms of daylight would not be significant. However, its impact in terms of 
the outlook from the rear of the adjoining property would be too enclosing and 
overbearing.   

21. For this latter reason, I conclude that the development would not accord with 
the development plan for the area taken as a whole and there are no material 

considerations that indicate the decision should be made other than in 
accordance with the development plan. Therefore, the appeal should be 

dismissed. 

S. Hartley 

INSPECTOR 

Page 140

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 
 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 6 March 2024 

by Andrew Dale   BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  5th April 2024 

 

 

Appeal Ref. APP/J1915/D/23/3336160 
10 Henderson Place, Epping Green, Hertford SG13 8GA  

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Steve Beastall against the decision of East Hertfordshire District 

Council. 

• The application ref. 3/23/1821/HH, dated 26 September 2023, was refused by notice 

dated 21 November 2023.  

• The development proposed is “Demolition of existing garage and side projection and 

construction of part single part two storey rear and side extension. Construction of front 

porch and rear patio. Alterations to fenestration including rear juliette (sic) balcony.”  
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary matters 

2. The description of the proposed development in the heading above is taken 
from the Council’s decision notice. It is more accurate than the one provided on 

the application form.   

3. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined 

in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The development plan includes the East Herts District Plan 
2018 (DP). The National Planning Policy Framework is a material consideration 

in planning decisions. The revised versions of that document published in 
December 2023 do not materially differ from earlier versions, insofar as the 

planning policy context around the main issue in this appeal is concerned. 

Main issue   

4. The appeal site is located within the Green Belt. The Council found that the 

proposed development would not infringe the relevant local and national 
policies aimed at protecting Green Belt land. I see no reason to disagree. Thus, 

the sole main issue is the effect of the proposed development upon the 
character and appearance of the host dwelling and the surrounding area. 

Reasons 

5. The appeal property is a 2-storey detached house that is sited towards the end 
of a short row of detached houses located along Henderson Place, a narrow 

Page 141

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3336160 
 

 

 

2 

lane in Epping Green. The surroundings of the appeal site are otherwise 
resolutely rural in character. There are clear views of the front of the house 

from the lane.   

6. The attractive front façade of the main 2-storey part of the house is 
symmetrical being balanced around a central first floor advanced gable which 

overhangs an open porch below. A single storey wing containing a double 
garage and utility room is attached to the northern gable end. This wing would 

be demolished under the appeal scheme and be replaced by the part single, 
part 2-storey rear and side extension. 

7. Although matching bricks and slates would be used, what is proposed would be 

a major alteration as the 2-storey addition would be of significant bulk and 
mass being over 6 m wide. This would represent a percentage increase in the 

width of the dwelling’s main 2-storey front elevation of about 60%. Despite its 
lower ridge height and position 1.3 m back from the existing front wall face, I 
share the Council’s concern that the 2-storey extension would appear as an 

insufficiently subservient addition to the dwelling as required by DP Policy 
HOU11 criterion (a) and would distort the symmetrical appearance of no. 10 to 

an unacceptable degree.                         

8. No. 10 has a pitched roof with conventional gable ends. The hipped end to the 
2-storey extension would look out of place and further unbalance the property, 

as would its lower eaves height with the first floor fenestration being set below 
the lines of the corresponding windows in the existing dwelling. These factors 

would all serve to add to the unsympathetic form and design of the extension. I 
would not take issue with the well-judged use of a flat roof at single storey 
level in itself but the proposed ground floor extension would be as wide as the 

original rear elevation when viewing from the rear, would wrap around the 
corner of the 2-storey extension and would overlap the rear walls of that 

extension and the original dwelling. All this would be unfortunate in design 
terms and would unduly emphasize the expanse of flat roof.  

9. In all, unlike the obviously subordinate existing single storey wing to the 

northern side of no. 10, the appeal proposal would visually dominate and 
radically change the character and appearance of the existing dwelling, 

particularly when seen in public views from the front. The resulting building 
would take on an unduly bulky, unbalanced and disjointed appearance which 
would detract from its simple and balanced architectural character and disrupt 

its pleasant setting in the row of dwellings along Henderson Place. 

10. Whilst the appellant says several similar extensions have been approved in the 

vicinity and that his proposal is consistent with these precedents, I have only 
been presented with details for 11 Henderson Place where extensions were 

approved under application ref. 3/18/1829/HH. In that case, the appellant 
focusses upon the comparative floor area increases of nos 10 and 11. The 
appeal scheme and the approved scheme at no. 11 would produce percentage 

increases in floor area of about 34% and 32% respectively. 

11. Whilst those results are very similar, their principal and most relevant use is in 

determining whether a proposal would amount to disproportionate additions 
over and above the size of the original building for the purposes of applying 
Green Belt policy. They have limited relevance in assessing wider design 

Page 142



Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3336160 
 

 

 

3 

considerations and in particular whether a high standard of design that is 
appropriate to the character and appearance of the dwelling and its 

surroundings is achieved. The scheme approved at no. 11 is materially different 
to what is proposed at no. 10 in design terms and it is an established planning 
principle that each scheme should be considered on its own merits.  

12. I find on the main issue that the proposed development would harm the 
character and appearance of the host dwelling and the surrounding area. As 

the development would not be an example of a high standard of design that 
reflects and promotes local distinctiveness, would fail to respect the character 
of the site and the surroundings and would not appear as a subservient 

addition to the host dwelling, there would be conflict with the aims of Policies 
DES4 and HOU11 of the DP. There would also be a failure to adhere to the 

overarching design themes of the National Planning Policy Framework insofar 
as they relate to achieving well-designed and beautiful places. 

13. I have noted that the scheme was prepared after the refusal of an earlier 

planning application (ref. 3/23/0493/HH) for extensions and that an attempt 
has been made to address the Council’s reasons for refusal of that application. 

I accept that there would be no adverse impacts on the amenity and living 
conditions of neighbouring occupiers. Sufficient on-site parking provision would 
remain available. The larger windows being proposed at the same time for the 

existing dwelling may allow for solar gain in the home, alongside improvements 
to outlook and daylighting conditions. I have also taken account of the absence 

of objections from local residents and the Parish Council. Whilst I give some 
weight to these other considerations, I have come to the view that they are not 
sufficient to outweigh the harm that I have described. Any revisions to the 

plans would need to be considered by the Council in the first instance.    

 Conclusion 

14. My finding on the main issue is decisive to the outcome of the appeal. There is 
conflict with the development plan. The harm cannot be mitigated by the 
imposition of planning conditions and it is not outweighed by other material 

considerations. For the reasons given above and taking into account all other 
matters raised, I conclude that this appeal should not succeed. 

 

Andrew Dale    

INSPECTOR 

Page 143



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 15 April 2024 

by Chris Couper BA (Hons) Dip TP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  24TH April 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/24/3339132 

31 Vantorts Road, Sawbridgeworth, Hertfordshire CM21 9NB 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Darren Jackson against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council.  

• The application Ref, 3/23/1894/HH, dated 5 October 2023, was refused by notice dated 

20 December 2023. 

• The development proposed is described as removal of front bay window, rear 

conservatory and outbuilding. Erection of part two storey, part single storey rear 

extension and single storey front extension. Alterations to roof form to incorporate hip 

to gable roof extensions and loft conversion incorporating rear dormer. Insertion of roof 

light windows to front and rear, additional windows to side elevations and alterations to 

fenestration and external materials.  
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the removal of a 

front bay window, rear conservatory and outbuilding; the erection of a part two 
storey, part single storey rear extension and a single storey front extension; 
alterations to the roof form to incorporate hip to gable roof extensions and a 

loft conversion incorporating a rear dormer; the insertion of roof light windows 
to front and rear, additional windows to the side elevations and alterations to 

the fenestration and external materials at 31 Vantorts Road, Sawbridgeworth, 
Hertfordshire CM21 9NB in accordance with the terms of the application,      

Ref 3/23/1894/HH, dated 5 October 2023, subject to the following conditions:   

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from 
the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: 3350/06/44 and 3210/08/43. 

3) Prior to the commencement of the development above floor level, details of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 

planning authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

4) The proposed second floor window opening to the right side elevation as 
shown in drawing no.3210/08/43 shall be fitted with obscure glass to a 
minimum degree of obscurity level 3 and non-opening up to 1.7m from the 

floor level of the room it serves, and shall be permanently retained as such.   

 

 

Page 144

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/24/3339132 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Procedural Matter 

2. I have taken the description of the proposal from the appeal form, as that is 
what the appellant has used in his statement, and it corresponds with the 

description given by the Council in its decision.       

Main Issue 

3. The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the character and 

appearance of the area. 

Reasons 

4. The host property is prominently positioned at the junction of Vantorts Road 
with Fairway.  It is orientated with its principal elevation facing Vantorts Road 
and it is therefore in that streetscene that the property is mainly viewed.  The 

houses on this stretch of Vantorts Road, particularly to the south of its junction 
with Fairway, are set back from the road often behind landscaped frontages, 

and are very varied in terms of their style, form, proportions and finishes.   

5. I observed on my visit that, in many cases, neighbouring houses are of a 
markedly different size and form.  That includes nearby examples of bungalows 

next to hipped or gabled two storey houses, as illustrated at Figures 2 and 3 of 
the appellant’s statement.  Although the roofscape is very varied, seen from 

the highway differences between neighbouring houses’ ridge heights are often 
less perceptible, owing to the angle of view, and changes in levels.   

6. The proposal would include a light-coloured finish throughout, along with 

extensive glazing, which would give the resultant building a cohesive, 
contemporary appearance.  Whilst the host’s ridge height would be raised by 

around 0.5 metre, and its hipped roof would be changed to a gable, in the 
diverse context of the area, the resultant increased mass would not appear 
incongruous.   

7. The adjacent bungalow at 33 Vantorts Road (‘No 33’) has been extended 
upwards to provide accommodation within its roofspace.  Compared to No 33, 

as a result of this scheme the host would have a similar gabled form, but would 
have a taller ridge.  However, there would be a gap above ground floor level 
between these two houses due to No 33’s flat-roofed garage.  Given the varied 

juxtaposition of built form in Vantorts Road, the scheme would not result in an 
awkward relationship between these neighbouring properties.  For all the above 

reasons, it would not have an overly dominant appearance in the streetscene. 

8. The scheme would not therefore harm the character and appearance of the 
area.  Amongst other things, and in general terms, Policy HOU11 of the East 

Herts District Plan (October 2018) (‘EHDP’) sets out that house extensions 
should be of a size, scale, mass, form and materials appropriate to the 

character, appearance and setting of the existing dwelling and/or the 
surrounding area, and that they should generally appear subservient.   

9. Given the proposed raised ridge, the scheme cannot be said to be fully 
subservient to the host, but for the above reasons, the resultant dwelling would 
have an appropriate appearance which would respect its context.  It would not 

therefore conflict with the overall thrust of that policy; nor with EHDP Policy 
DES4’s requirement for a high standard of design, which respects the character 

of the area, and promotes local distinctiveness. 

Page 145

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/24/3339132 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

10. Turning to the matter of conditions, I have imposed the standard time limit 

condition and, in the interests of certainty, a condition requiring that the 
development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.   

11. The application form indicates that external materials are specified on the 
submitted drawings, but no such details are provided there.  In the interests of 
good design, a condition is therefore necessary requiring the submission of 

those details.  Finally, in order to protect the adjacent occupiers at No 33 from 
overlooking from the proposed secondary bedroom window, my condition No 4 

is also necessary.    

12. In conclusion, the scheme would not harm the character and appearance of the 
area, and having regard to all other matters raised, the appeal is therefore 

allowed. 

Chris Couper 

INSPECTOR 

Page 146

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 
 
 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 6 March 2024 

by Andrew Dale   BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  5th April 2024 

 

 

Appeal Ref. APP/J1915/D/24/3336925 
36 Cozens Road, Ware, Hertfordshire SG12 7HJ 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Tara Cretten against the decision of East Hertfordshire District 

Council. 

• The application ref. 3/23/2018/HH, dated 27 October 2023, was refused by notice dated  

11 December 2023.  

• The development proposed is “Demolition of garage. Erection of a two-storey side 

extension and single storey side extension. Insertion of dormer window to rear with roof 

light to front.” 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary matter 

2.   Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined 
in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise. The development plan includes the East Herts District Plan 
2018 (DP). The National Planning Policy Framework is a material consideration 

in planning decisions. The revised versions of that document published in 
December 2023 do not materially differ from earlier versions, insofar as the 
planning policy context around the main issue in this appeal is concerned.        

Main issue   

3. The main issue is the effect of the proposed development upon the character 

and appearance of the dwelling and the locality. 

Reasons 

4. Paired with no. 34, the appeal property is a semi-detached, two-storey house. 

They lie at the southern end of a row of semi-detached houses on the eastern 
side of Cozens Road. No. 34 is at the end of this row. 

5. Public footpath 12 progresses eastwards up the field to the rear of the appeal 
property and the neighbouring houses. Consequently, the rear elevations of 
these properties are prominent from public vantage points when approaching 

from higher ground westwards along this public footpath.  

Page 147

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/24/3336925 
 

 

 

2 

 6.  No. 34 has been extended on its southern side over 2 storeys. There is an 
extensive area of open land and public footpath 12 beyond the southern side 

boundary of no. 34. No. 38 on the northern side of the appeal property has 
also been similarly extended.  

 7.  Both of those neighbouring extensions, and some others nearby, were not set 

down from the ridge or back from the front elevation so they are not truly 
subservient additions. The Council recognised this local pattern of extensions 

and consequently raised no objections to the similar lack of subservience 
identified with the proposed 2-storey side extension at the appeal property.  

 8. However, the remaining gaps, especially above ground floor level, between the 

pairs of semi-detached houses hereabouts make a positive contribution to the 
character and appearance of this part of Cozens Road and in some cases 

provide for views from the street to the vegetation or sky beyond. In this case, 
the value of the remaining gap between nos 36 and 38 is enhanced by the 
prominence of those properties when approaching along Cozens Road from the 

west from the point where it merges with Lower Clabdens. The generous size of 
the appeal property’s front driveway and the degree to which the house is set 

back from the road do little to deflect from the prominence of the location.  

 9. The house would be extended sideways over 2 storeys so as to come very close 
to the common side boundary with no. 38, thus significantly reducing the gap 

between nos 36 and 38 at first floor level. The plans show that a gap of only    
1 m would be left between the opposing gable ends. The slight stagger in the 

front building line between the 2 properties and the marginally higher land 
level of no. 38 would be insufficient to avoid the creation of a visually 
damaging terracing effect within the street scene whereby the 2 pairs of semi-

detached dwellings would become less visually distinct. This and the general 
loss of spaciousness would disrupt the character and appearance of the street 

scene and conflict with the aims for a high standard of design set out within  
DP Policy DES4 and more directly with criterion (b) of DP Policy HOU11. 

 10. That latter criterion indicates that side extensions at first floor level or above 

should ensure appropriate space is left between the flank wall of the extension 
and the common curtilage with a neighbouring property, with the general rule 

being that a space of 1 m will be the minimum acceptable. That measurement 
does not apply to the gap between the opposing gable ends themselves.    

 11.  The proposed rear roof dormer would plainly not be of limited extent and 

modest proportions as required by DP Policy HOU11 criterion (d). With no 
notable recesses from the ridge, sides and eaves of the roof, the virtually flat-

roofed dormer would extend over almost the entire rear roof slope and involve 
the continuation of the rear wall face. The proposed rear dormer would visually 

dominate the building’s rear elevation and roof form. Having the appearance of 
a bulky large box, it would also leave the house with an awkward asymmetrical 
side profile. The property would take on a top-heavy appearance, giving the 

impression of having a full third storey. This would be a step in the wrong 
direction in terms of design, massing, shape, character, scale and proportion in 

comparison to the existing house and the semi-detached pair as a whole.  

 12.  It would be apparent from neighbouring back gardens and public footpath 12 
that the rear dormer would be out of keeping with the form and scale of the 

Page 148



Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/24/3336925 
 

 

 

3 

host property and amount to an overly bulky addition, particularly as the rear 
roof slopes of the closest neighbouring houses along Cozens Road remain 

without any form of dormer. This part of the scheme also conflicts with          
DP Policy DES4 and more directly with criterion (d) of DP Policy HOU11.  

    13.  Even if matching materials were to be used, the design flaws of the 2-storey 

side extension and rear dormer window I have referred to above would persist. 

    14.  The appellant has submitted photographs of a number of side extensions which 

have resulted in reduced spacing between houses and of various sizeable roof 
dormers. I saw these properties on my site visit but not all of the extensions 
and dormers are necessarily good examples to follow. Some of them are also a 

considerable distance away from the appeal site.  

  15.  With the exception of 7 Cozens Road, where the erection of side and rear 

extensions is underway pursuant to ref. 3/22/2102/HH, I do not have the 
planning history of those other properties before me, so I have no evidence of 
the Council recently granting planning permission for the examples highlighted 

and therefore considering them acceptable. They may well have variously come 
about through historic planning decisions or permitted development rights. 

They do not justify the appeal scheme in the face of the harm it would cause. 
The site context for 7 Cozens Road, a prominent corner plot opposite the 
appeal property, is different to the relationship presented by nos 36 and 38 and 

insofar as I am aware that scheme did not propose a sizeable roof dormer.  

    16.  The field behind no. 36 has been selected to form part of the large scale WARE2 

development project, now covered under application ref. 3/22/2406/FUL. From 
the limited details before me, if the application were to be approved and the 
development eventually go ahead, public open space and tree planting are 

likely to feature around the line of public footpath 12. The rear dormer may 
well be viewed from a wide range of public vantage points in this scenario.      

  17.  I find on the main issue that the proposed development would harm the 
character and appearance of the dwelling and the locality and conflict with the 
most relevant DP policies to which I have already referred. Good design is also 

a cornerstone of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

  18.  I acknowledge that the appellant wishes to create a family home with modern 

living space for a growing family and for working from home. The scheme 
would also address the inadequacies of the damaged and leaking garage and 
improve the energy efficiency of the house as a whole. I have also taken 

account of the absence of objections from local residents and the Town Council. 
Whilst I give weight to these other considerations, I have come to the view that 

they are not sufficient to outweigh the harm that I have described.  

  19.  My finding on the main issue is decisive to the outcome of this appeal. There is 

conflict with the development plan. The harm cannot be mitigated by the 
imposition of planning conditions and it is not outweighed by other material 
considerations. For the reasons given above and taking into account all other 

matters raised, I conclude that this appeal should not succeed. 

Andrew Dale    

INSPECTOR 

Page 149



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Hearing held on 21 February 2024  

Site visit made on 21 February 2024 
by H Jones BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 18 March 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3327490 

The Piggeries, Benington Road, Walkern, Hertfordshire SG2 7HX  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr M Kirbyshire against the decision of East Hertfordshire District 

Council. 

• The application Ref is 3/22/2635/FUL. 

• The development proposed is the erection of a rural worker's dwelling to replace 

existing mobile home. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. In December 2023, a revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(the Framework) was published. The Council and the appellant have been given 
the opportunity to comment on the revised Framework. I have had regard to 

the revised Framework in my decision. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are: 

 
• whether the development would be inappropriate development in the 

Green Belt having regard to the Framework and any relevant 
development plan policies; 
 

• the effect of the development on the openness of the Green Belt; and 
 

• if the development is inappropriate development in the Green Belt, 
whether the harm, by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm, 
would be clearly outweighed by other considerations so as to amount to 

the very special circumstances required to justify the proposal. 

Reasons 

Whether the development would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

4. The Framework sets out that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to 
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open and that the essential 

characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. The 
Framework identifies that the construction of a new building in the Green Belt 

should be regarded as inappropriate, unless it would constitute one of the 

Page 150

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327490

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

exceptions set out in paragraph 154. Certain other forms of development are 

also not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness 
and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These are 

listed at paragraph 155. The Framework goes on to state that inappropriate 
development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be 
approved except in very special circumstances. Policy GBR1 of the East Herts 

District Plan 2018 (LP), states that proposals within the Green Belt should be 
considered in line with the Framework. 

5. At the hearing, both parties confirmed that the development would amount to 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. I have no reason to disagree with 
that position.   

The effect of the development on the openness of the Green Belt 

6. The appeal site is situated within the countryside to the east of Stevenage and 

to the south of Walkern. It is adjacent to and accessed from Benington Road. 
The site contains various agricultural buildings, areas of hardstanding, a mobile 
home and a field. The mobile home has a garden area beside it which is 

enclosed by a low fence and which contains a shed, amongst other items. 
There are trees, hedgerows and other means of enclosure within the site and to 

its edges.    

7. The proposed dwelling would be set back from Benington Road, sited on a 
parcel of land which forms a part of the field within the site. This parcel of land 

is separated from the other parts of the field by metal barriers. Unlike much of 
the rest of the field, this parcel of land presently has very little grass cover. It 

also contains a large mound of stones. With accommodation set across 2 floors 
including 3 bedrooms, a study, a family and dining room and a separate 
lounge, the proposed dwelling would be a building of quite significant size. This 

would be the case even though the dwelling proposed now is smaller than that 
proposed within a previous planning application1. Upon completion of the 

proposal, built development would be introduced onto this parcel of land of a 
scale far exceeding anything it currently contains. Consequently, a reduction in 
the openness of the Green Belt would result.  

8. At the hearing, the appellant submitted to me that a large garden would not be 
necessary and is not proposed. The submitted plans do not define a garden to 

serve the proposed dwelling as such but do indicate a hardstanding and areas 
of planting beside it. As a family home, I expect some domestic paraphernalia 
would accompany the dwelling at times. Washing lines, chairs and a table and 

children’s toys being likely examples. Their presence would contribute further 
to the effects of the development upon the Green Belt’s openness. However, I 

have no reason to conclude that any paraphernalia would be particularly 
extensive nor spread over a large area. The effects of the paraphernalia would 

be likely to be far more limited than that of the dwelling itself. 

9. The section of Benington Road adjacent to the site is not served by footpaths 
and during my visit vehicles were travelling along it at quite high speeds. I felt 

it would be unsafe to spend time on the road, to walk along it to the bridleway 
adjacent to the site’s southern boundary or further afield. This affected my 

ability to assess precisely in which views beyond the site the dwelling would or 
would not be visible.  

 
1 Planning application reference 3/22/1214/FUL 

Page 151

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327490

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

10. Despite these limitations, many passers-by would be travelling by car and likely 

quite quickly. Some screening of the proposed dwelling from Benington Road 
would be provided by the existing landscaping and buildings. Mature trees 

between the site and bridleway to the south would also provide screening in 
views from this route. As a result and in the absence of substantive evidence to 
the contrary, I find that the proposed dwelling would be unlikely to appear very 

prominently in views from public vantage points beyond the site.  

11. Despite my findings on visual prominence, it would nevertheless be the case 

that the development would lead to a loss of openness of the Green Belt, 
principally because of its spatial effects.    

Other considerations 

12. The Framework states that inappropriate development in the Green Belt should 
not be approved except in very special circumstances. Such circumstances will 

not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt, by reason of 
inappropriateness and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. 

13. In the countryside, policy HOU5 of the LP sets out that dwellings for rural 
businesses will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances and where 

certain criteria are met. This includes a requirement to demonstrate 3 tests. 
Firstly, that the dwelling is essential to the needs of the business. Secondly, 
that the enterprise has been established for at least 3 years, is financially 

viable and should remain so and thirdly, that no other accommodation within 
the site/holding or the locality is currently suitable, available or could be made 

available. Amongst other matters, policy 10 of the Walkern Parish 
Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2033 (NP) states that single rural homes will only be 
supported where there is a demonstrable need for them to be located in the 

countryside. 

14. These development plan policies are very reflective of the advice at paragraph 

84 of the Framework which states that isolated homes in the countryside 
should be avoided unless there is an essential need for the rural worker to live 
permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside. 

15. At the hearing, the Council confirmed that its objections did not include an 
assertion that the enterprise was not established, was not viable or was not 

likely to remain so. The Council consider that the second test contained within 
policy HOU5 is met and I have no reason to disagree.   

16. Together, the written evidence and the discussions held at the hearing show 

me that of the various farming activities undertaken, it is that related to calving 
which would require the most intensive supervision. During the lead-up to 

calves being born, the birth itself and a period there afterwards, the day-to-day 
management of the cows and calves would require particular attention and 

would not be limited to normal working hours. During these times, the 
appellant’s presence on site to assist with the essential care of the animals at 
short notice would be important. This presence would enable, amongst other 

matters, close attention to be paid to the heifers for signals of the on-set of the 
birth process and to the calves to ensure they are feeding and healthy. The 

proposed dwelling, sited so close to the existing buildings where the cows are 
housed at times and the proposed nursery field where the new-born calves and 

Page 152

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327490

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

their mothers would be first kept, would maximise the appellant’s ability to 

supervise the animals. 

17. A camera is positioned on an agricultural building within the site which is linked 

to the appellant’s phone. The camera has a very broad field of vision. 
Therefore, some technology is being used by the appellant to assist with 
calving. Whilst the appellant explained to me his reservations with the use of 

technology, I am not satisfied that the potential assistance it would bring has 
been fully explored. For example, the issue of rain affecting the clarity of the 

camera’s vision could be resolved by the installation of further cameras in more 
sheltered positions.  

18. Following the discussions at the hearing it is clear to me that an all-year-round 

approach to calving is not being adopted. Instead, spring-time calving is 
undertaken. I heard some diverging evidence regarding how long the calving 

period lasts. The Council’s understanding was that it is between 6-7 weeks 
long. The appellant referenced a 12-week critical pregnancy period for the 
heifers whilst it was confirmed that, on average, calves would be in the nursery 

field for around 28 days. Regardless, I find that the calving period of the 
enterprise is seasonal. This is the case even though the size of the enterprise’s 

herd has recently increased.  

19. Other principal activities undertaken at the farm such as haylage, the grazing 
and supplementary feeding of the animals together with their visual checking, 

would not necessitate the same degree of intensive oversight. Therefore, 
outwith of the calving period, there would be significant spells in the year 

where there would not be the requirement for the same degree of animal 
supervision. Farming activities which would require a less urgent response 
would be the focus of the enterprise. 

20. The land which the appellant farms is also somewhat dispersed. Therefore, 
although the calves and heifers would be kept close to the proposed dwelling 

for a period, many of the other farming activities undertaken take place on land 
which is a quite considerable distance from the proposed location of the 
dwelling. The dwelling would not be within sight and sound of all of this land 

limiting the benefit of its siting and occupation.  

21. For these reasons, to have the proposed dwelling permanently is not a 

proportionate response to the needs of the business. The dwelling is not 
essential to the needs of the farming enterprise.  

22. I recognise that crime is of a concern to the appellant and I have been 

provided with some evidence of rural theft in Hertfordshire. The existing 
camera already provides a means of surveillance and some deterrent to crime. 

Opposite the site there are houses, including one within which some of the 
appellant’s family resides. I expect the presence and orientation of these 

dwellings also provides a deterrent. I have no substantive evidence before me 
of what other means have been explored to bolster the site’s security. I expect 
that there are a range of actions which could be taken or installations made 

which would assist in this regard. Consequently, the dwelling proposed is not 
essential in order to keep the enterprise secure. 

Page 153

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327490

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

23. Planning permission2 was previously granted for overnight welfare 

accommodation within an agricultural building at the farm. However, the 
activities undertaken at the farm at that time differed to those undertaken 

now. The accommodation proposed was smaller in scale and by reason of being 
housed within an existing building, its effects upon the openness of the Green 
Belt are not comparable with that which would result from the appeal proposal. 

Moreover, the accommodation has been destroyed by a fire. For these reasons, 
that the Council previously granted planning permission for a form of living 

accommodation at the farm is not of meaningful weight in my determination.  

24. At the hearing, the appellant explained that he had been living within the 
aforementioned welfare accommodation and that once that was destroyed, the 

mobile home was brought onto the site around 7 years ago. The appellant also 
stated that the mobile home has been his only residence for the last 5 years. 

During discussions, the appeal parties agreed that the mobile home does not 
have planning permission.  

25. In this appeal, it is not my role to determine whether the use of the mobile 

home is lawful. This can only be formally determined by a lawful certificate 
application. However, the evidence before me that the mobile home is lawfully 

occupied is not compelling. In the circumstances, I only ascribe limited weight 
to its presence. Even though the appellant may have been living within the 
mobile home all of the time for several years, given my above findings on the 

operations of the farm, the reasons for him doing so now do not stem from the 
essential needs of the enterprise. For these reasons, that the appellant has 

been residing within the existing mobile home does not demonstrate an 
essential need for the dwelling nor weigh in favour of the proposal to any 
significant degree. 

26. Furthermore, the proposed dwelling would also be larger than the existing 
mobile home by reason of its length and depth whilst it would also be 

considerably taller. Given its size, the proposed dwelling would have a greater 
effect upon the openness of the Green Belt than the existing mobile home. Any 
betterment derived from the dwelling’s aesthetic in comparison to the 

somewhat utilitarian mobile home would be outweighed by the increased level 
of harm that would be wrought upon the openness of the Green Belt. 

Consequently, the appeal scheme would also be the more harmful development 
within the Green Belt. 

27. In regard to alternative accommodation, the appellant’s more substantive 

submissions relate to the lack of and prohibitive cost of family homes to buy 
within settlements in the local area. I have identified above that the permanent 

family dwelling proposed is not a proportionate response to the needs of the 
enterprise and that such a dwelling is not essential to the needs of the business 

on such grounds. 

28. Therefore, any alternative accommodation options could encapsulate a broader 
range of accommodation. This could include smaller and shorter-term forms of 

accommodation, including those which would entail the adaptation of an 
existing building. Such options could have more limited effects upon the 

openness of the Green Belt. A thorough exploration of such alternatives has not 
taken place. 

 
2 Planning permission reference 3/16/0188/FUL 

Page 154

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327490

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

29. For the reasons given above, it has not been demonstrated that there is an 

essential business need for the agricultural worker’s dwelling proposed nor that 
there is no other accommodation which is currently suitable, available or could 

be made available to serve the needs of the business. The proposal therefore 
conflicts with policy HOU5 of the LP and policy 10 of the NP. It also conflicts 
with the advice of paragraph 84 of the Framework. 

30. In coming to this view, I acknowledge that those keeping and caring for 
livestock are governed by legal requirements such as the Animal Welfare Act 

2006 and the Welfare of Farmed Animals (England) Regulations 2007. 
However, I am satisfied that in the absence of planning permission for the 
development that the animals could still be appropriately and responsibly 

looked after, without conflict with imposed duties and welfare standards. 

31. If the appellant were to reside permanently within the proposed dwelling on 

site rather than off-site for any durations, the need for a commute to work 
would be avoided. Even so, given the appeal site’s isolation from settlements, 
there would still likely be the need to undertake frequent journeys via private 

vehicle to access services and facilities. Furthermore, as some of the land 
farmed is quite far from the appeal site, vehicular trips would still be needed to 

tend to it. The benefit which would be derived from limiting the need for 
private vehicular trips would, therefore, be modest. I also have no substantive 
evidence that the farming enterprise could not grow or expand without the 

dwelling proposed.  

32. Subject to the imposition of conditions as necessary, the development would 

not harm the living conditions of existing or future occupiers, would preserve 
existing landscaping features and would result in no conditions detrimental to 
highway safety. The development would also use water efficiently and be 

adequately adapted to the threat of climate change. However, the absence of 
harm in relation to these matters is a neutral factor in my determination and 

does not weigh in favour of the proposal. 

33. Appeal decisions relating to other forms of agricultural workers accommodation 
have been submitted in evidence. Although I have had regard to these and 

considered the submissions of both appeal parties in respect of them, I have 
formed my own view on this appeal based on the evidence before me and 

taking account of the particular circumstances of the case.  

34. The evidence before me indicates that the Council cannot demonstrate 5 years’ 
worth of housing land supply. Paragraph 11(d) of the Framework is therefore 

engaged. In providing only a single dwelling, the boost to housing supply would 
be very modest. Furthermore, the dwelling would be occupied by an 

agricultural worker and would not therefore provide housing for home-seekers 
more generally. The weight I attribute to the proposal’s contribution to housing 

supply is limited as a result. 

35. Consequently, having regard to all of the above, the proposal would constitute 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt which is, by definition, harmful to 

it. Further harm to the Green Belt would be caused by its effects upon 
openness. I attribute substantial weight to this harm. 

36. As a whole, the other considerations in this case do not clearly outweigh the 
harm that I have identified. Consequently, the very special circumstances 
necessary to justify the development referenced at paragraph 153 of the 

Page 155

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327490

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Framework, do not exist. Having regard to paragraph 11(d)(i) this provides a 

clear reason to refuse the development. As policy GBR1 of the LP requires that 
proposals are considered in line with the Framework, it follows that the 

proposal also conflicts with this policy.  

37. Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 provides that everyone has the right to 
respect for their private and family life, their home and their correspondence. 

The appellant has submitted that he and his family have been living separately 
and that the proposed dwelling would provide a means for the family to live 

together on the site. In dismissing the appeal, this particular means cannot 
take place. However, it is also the case that living together as a family has 
already not been taking place and in that sense, circumstances would not alter 

as a result of my decision. I have attached substantial weight to the harm that 
the development would cause to the Green Belt. The Article 8 rights are 

qualified and any interference with them in this instance would accord with the 
law and be in pursuance of a well-established and legitimate aim: the 
protection of the Green Belt. The protection of the public interest cannot be 

achieved by means that are less interfering with their rights. It is proportionate 
and necessary to refuse to grant planning permission.    

Conclusion 

38. The proposal conflicts with the development plan and the material 
considerations do not indicate that the appeal should be decided other than in 

accordance with it. I therefore conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

H Jones  

INSPECTOR 

 
  

Page 156

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3327490

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

 

APPEARANCES 
 

FOR THE APPELLANT: 
 
Mark Kirbyshire   Appellant 

Alison Young    Alison Young Planning Associates 
James Dunn    RSK ADAS Ltd  

 
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 
 

Maya Cullen    Senior Planning Officer 
Rachael Collard   Development Management Team Leader 

Neil Button    Strategic Sites Team Leader 
 
 

 

Page 157

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 23 January 2024  
by V Simpson BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  12 March 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3322745 

Land at Half Acres, Stortford Road, Standon, Herts, SG11 1LY  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant permission in principle. 

• The appeal is made by Mr R Jamieson against the decision of East Hertfordshire District 

Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/2704/PIP, dated 14 December 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 7 February 2023. 

• The development proposed is the erection of a single storey detached dwelling. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The proposal is for permission in principle. Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

advises that this is an alternative way of obtaining planning permission for 
housing-led development. The permission in principle consent route has 2 

stages: the first stage (or permission in principle stage) establishes whether a 
site is suitable in-principle and the second (‘technical details consent’) stage is 
when the detailed development proposals are assessed. This appeal relates to 

the first of these stages. 

3. The scope of the considerations for permission in principle is limited to location, 

land use, and the amount of development permitted. If permission in principle 
were to be granted, all other matters would subsequently be considered as part 
of a technical details consent application.  

4. The main parties have indicated that the most recent revisions to the National 
Planning Policy Framework have no relevance to this case, and I have no 

reason to take another view. 

5. Drawing number 20449-P002-1st is titled ‘feasibility plan’. For the purposes of 
this appeal, this plan is considered as an indicative plan only. 

6. In support of their appeal the appellant has provided a transport statement, 
which was not before the Council at the time it made its decision. The Council 

has subsequently indicated that it no longer wishes to defend its reason for 
refusal relating to highway safety. Given that both the Council and other 
interested parties have had the opportunity to submit representations in 

respect of the statement at the appeal stage, no parties would be prejudiced by 
my consideration of this additional information.   

Page 158

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322745

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Main Issue 

7. The main issue is whether the site is suitable for residential development, 
having regard to its location, the proposed land use, and the amount of 

development. 

Reasons 

Location, land use, and amount of development 

8. The East Herts Council East Herts District Plan October 2018 (the Local Plan) 
identifies a settlement limit for the paired villages of Standon and Puckeridge.  

It also identifies land which is within the rural area beyond the Green Belt. 
Within the supporting text to Local Plan policy GBR2, it is stated that the rural 
area beyond the Green Belt is highly valued for its open and largely 

undeveloped nature. It is also indicated that such areas provide a considerable 
and significant countryside resource, which policy GBR2 seeks to maintain by 

concentrating development within existing settlements.  

9. Policy GBR2 then identifies the types of development that will normally be 
permitted within the rural areas beyond the Green Belt. One such form of 

development is the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
sites in sustainable locations, where appropriate to the character, appearance, 

and setting of the site and/or surrounding area. Another is where it is for the 
replacement, extension, or alteration of a building, provided the size, scale, 
mass, form, siting, design, and materials of construction are appropriate to the 

character, appearance, and setting of the site and/or surrounding areas.  

10. Policy SP9 of the Standon Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan 2017-2022 

(the Neighbourhood Plan) similarly indicates that in locations outside of group 1 
and 2 villages, or where the development would not constitute limited infill 
within a specified hamlet, there will be a presumption against development. 

That is unless it would accord with the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework), or it would meet a specified rural need, including those forms of 

development identified within Policy GBR2 of the Local Plan.  

11. The appeal site which is outside of the Local Plan settlement limits of Standon 
and Puckeridge, forms part of the rural area beyond the Green Belt.  

12. The elevated and generally level appeal site is separated from nearby buildings 
and houses by areas of planting and part of a large grassed field. Furthermore, 

sizeable gaps in shrub/tree plant growth outside but close to the site 
boundaries, enable good visibility between the appeal site and parts of the 
surrounding countryside. Despite the low timber fencing along most of the site 

boundaries; the large low concrete pad within the site; and, the proximity of 
nearby built development, the site therefore, retains a pleasant and open rural 

character and appearance. 

13. A single-storey dwelling and any associated residential paraphernalia on the 

appeal site, would be prominent when viewed from surrounding land including 
the adjacent Public Right of Way. This is, in part, because of the relative 
elevation and the openness of the site.  Notwithstanding the proximity of 

nearby buildings within the village of Standon, such development would have 
an urbanising effect which would cause great harm to the rural character and 

appearance of the area. 

Page 159

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322745

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

14. Based on both the evidence and my observations, the appeal site is within 

reasonable proximity of a range of services and facilities, which are readily 
accessible by means other than private car. However, and even if the appeal 

site was deemed to represent previously developed land, or, the proposal 
represents the replacement or extension of a building, I have found that 
residential development on the site would cause harm to the character and 

appearance of the area. That being the case, the proposal would conflict with 
the development strategy for the District, as identified within the development 

plan.  

15. For these reasons, the site is not suitable for residential development having 
regard to its location, the proposed land use, and the amount of development. 

It would conflict with policy GBR2 of the Local Plan and SP9 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. For the same reasons, it would also conflict with policies 

DES2 and DES4 of the Local Plan and policy SP13 of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
Amongst other things, these policies require development to conserve, 
enhance, or strengthen the character and distinctive features of the district’s 

landscape; to retain, protect, and enhance existing landscape features which 
are of amenity value; and, to be responsive to the local setting.  

Other Matters 

16. The junction between Stortford Road and Half Acres (the junction) provides 
vehicular access to a considerable number of dwellings. A single additional 

dwelling is therefore unlikely to result in more than a small increase in the 
number of vehicles using this junction. The safety of the junction is confirmed 

within the transport statement provided by EAS Transport Planning, and I have 
no reason to find otherwise. When exiting the junction onto Stortford Road 
visibility is somewhat restricted. Although visibility could be greatly improved 

by trimming back hedges and trees on land under the control of the highway 
authority, I cannot conclude that such benefit is necessarily dependent on this 

appeal being allowed.  

17. Consideration of detailed matters, such as the surfacing of the gravel access 
track, are beyond the scope of the permission in principle stage. Nor is it 

possible to attach conditions to any consent granted for permission in principle. 

Planning balance 

18. The evidence indicates that the Council currently has a 4.41-year supply of 
deliverable housing sites. The shortfall in the supply of housing land cannot 
therefore be considered substantial.  

19. The construction of a home on the site would make a small contribution to 
housing supply within the district. Furthermore, future occupiers would have 

reasonable access to a range of local services and facilities, and the 
construction and subsequent occupation of the dwelling would contribute to the 

local economy and help to support a strong and vibrant community. However, 
given that only one dwelling is proposed, the benefits in respect of these 
matters would be small. 

20. Details of measures to improve the biodiversity value of the site have not been 
provided. As such only very limited weight can be attributed to any potential 

benefits that could result in respect of this matter. 

Page 160

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322745

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

21. That the development would not cause harm to highway safety is a neutral 

consideration. 

22. Nevertheless, the development would cause great harm to the character and 

appearance of the area, and it would conflict with the policies of the 
development plan which provide a strategy for development within the District. 
These policies are broadly consistent with the Framework, and as such the 

conflict with them attracts significant weight. 

23. The Council’s lack of a 5-year housing land supply means paragraph 11 d of the 

Framework applies. In this case, the application of policies in the Framework 
that protect areas or assets of importance, as identified in footnote 7, do not 
provide a clear reason for refusing the development. Therefore paragraph 11 d) 

ii. of the Framework is engaged. 

24. The proposals align with the parts of the Framework that seek to significantly 

boost the supply of homes. Furthermore, paragraph 70 of the Framework 
indicates that small and medium sites can make an important contribution 
towards meeting the housing requirement of an area. The development would 

also contribute towards meeting the Framework objective of building a strong 
competitive economy. However, given the small scale of the scheme, these 

considerations each attract only limited weight.  

25. Even if I were to agree that the appeal site is previously developed land, the 
development would not accord with the part of paragraph 124 of the 

Framework which states that planning decisions should give substantial weight 
to the value of using brownfield land within settlements for homes. This is 

because the appeal site is not within a settlement. As such, very limited weight 
is attributed in respect of this consideration. 

26. However, the development would be contrary to the Framework where it 

requires development to add to the overall quality of the area and be 
sympathetic to local character including the surrounding built environment and 

landscape setting. Given the level of harm I have identified, the conflict with 
the Framework in respect of this matter attracts substantial weight. 

27. Therefore, the adverse impacts of the proposed development would 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against 
the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. As a result, the proposal does 

not benefit from the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

Conclusion 

28. The proposed development conflicts with the development plan when taken as 

a whole, and there are no material considerations, either individually or in 
combination, that outweigh the identified harm and associated development 

plan conflict. I therefore conclude that this appeal should be dismissed. 

 

V Simpson  

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 161

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 23 January 2024 

by O S Woodwards BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11 March 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3324262 

Old East End House, East End, Furneux Pelham, Hertfordshire, SG9 0JT 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mrs Jane Crossley against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/23/0108/FUL, dated 20 January 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 13 April 2023. 

• The development proposed is the erection of a detached Eco-House. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed, and planning permission is granted for the erection of a 
detached eco-house at Old East End House, East End, Furneux Pelham, 

Hertfordshire SG9 0JT, in accordance with the terms of the application          
Ref 3/23/0108/FL, dated 20 January 2022, subject to the conditions in the 

attached schedule.  

Preliminary Matter 

2. The appellant submitted a revised elevation drawing with the appeal. However, 

this only updated the presentation of the proposed works and did not change 
the nature of the works themselves. I have therefore accepted the drawing and 

did not need to consult the Council on the changes.    

Main Issue 

3. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the special architectural or 

historic interest of the grade II listed building1, with regard to its setting. 

Reasons 

Significance 

4. Old East End House is a grade II listed building. It is a timber framed cottage. 
It has been significantly extended and altered, including a side extension built 

in different phases that is substantially larger than the original cottage building. 
The character of the cottage remains most legible from the front and the 

entrance drive.  

5. The cottage was originally a building of modest scale associated with a small 
subsistence small holding. This was likely the combined Plots 179, 180 and 

 
1 List entry number 1101887 and called ‘Lower Farm Cottage’ in the listing 

Page 162

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3324262 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

1812. Historic mapping shows that only a small part of the current garden was 

originally a garden area associated with the house, being the area directly 
adjacent to the house and road, ie Plot 180. As it stands now, the house has a 

large garden including outbuildings and a swimming pool, all of which is clearly 
domesticated, and which includes Plot 179. This loss of the former relationship 
to agricultural land, combined with the substantial extensions, has eroded the 

significance of the building in its setting in historic and aesthetic terms.   

6. The house was also historically associated with a barn building on the other 

side of a small courtyard to its west. However, it is now a separate dwelling, 
with separate access and a separate garden area in the former Plot 181, 
separated from the appeal property by a substantial and tall hedgerow 

boundary. Therefore, the former relationship to this building has been severed. 

7. The primary significance of the listed building is therefore its intrinsic retained 

historic fabric within the original part of the cottage. This is best appreciated in 
its setting to the front as viewed from the courtyard. This aspect of setting 
therefore provides the greatest contribution to heritage significance. Looking at 

the significance of setting to the side and rear of the building, despite the 
visible alternations to the listed building, and the changes to land use and 

internal boundaries, there is still a sense of a farm cottage surrounded by open 
space and by adjacent farm style buildings, and because the original outer 
boundaries to the small holding remain. This aspect of the setting to the 

building contributes moderately, at most, to heritage value and significance.   

Proposal 

8. It is proposed to erect a one storey house with associated vehicular access 
from the road, using an existing access point. It would sub-divide the plot to 
create a house with a separate large garden area which would include the 

existing large shed and swimming pool. Although no details have yet been 
provided, there would need to be a new internal boundary to separate the 

garden of the proposed house from the retained garden to the listed property. 
The outer boundary would remain as existing. 

Assessment 

9. The proposed house, access works and associated landscaping would be most 
apparent when viewed from the large rear garden area. The substantial 

extensions also sit between the original cottage and the proposed building, 
reducing intervisibility to the areas of greater historic interest. The proposed 
works would therefore be seen in the context of the contemporary extension 

and would not affect the primary setting of the property to the front courtyard. 
In addition, the proposed house would be one storey and would be set 

reasonably distant from the listed house. The detailed design and materials 
could be controlled by condition. The proposed access area is to the far side of 

the proposed house and would not have any meaningful impact on the 
appreciation of the listed building or its setting.   

10. The existing large garden to the listed building would be divided. However, 

because both areas would remain as gardens, the green and largely open 
character of the area would remain substantially the same. The detail of the 

 
2 See Figure 4 of the Heritage Statement, dated January 2023 

Page 163

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3324262 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

landscaping could be controlled by condition, including the boundary between 

the gardens, to ensure it would be appropriate for the setting of the building.   

Conclusion 

11. The proposal would not therefore harm the special architectural or historic 
significance of the listed building or its setting. It therefore complies with 
Policies HA1 and HA7 of the East Herts Local District Plan 2018, which require 

proposals to preserve the historic environment and to sustain the significance 
of listed buildings. It also complies with Paragraph 203 of the Framework, 

which highlights the desirability of sustaining the significance of heritage 
assets, and s66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 (as amended).  

Other Matter 

12. One letter of objection has been submitted. In addition to matters covered 

above, the objector is concerned regarding the precedent that granting 
permission might set. However, planning applications and appeals must be 
considered on their own merits. Concern is also raised regarding the effect of 

the proposal on nature. No concerns have been raised by the Council regarding 
the effect of the proposal on biodiversity and the provision of appropriate 

measures to enhance habitat and biodiversity on the site could be secured by 
condition.  

Conditions 

13. In addition to the standard time limit condition, a condition specifying the 
relevant drawings provides certainty. 

14. The Council suggested a number of conditions which I have considered and 
amended in the light of government guidance on the use of conditions in 
planning permissions.  

15. In particular, I have amended the condition in relation to noise from the 
proposed air source heat pump so that it requires the same standards as those 

set out in Class G of The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (the GPDO 2015). The requirements 
originally set out by the Council went beyond this requirement, which was 

unreasonable in light of the GPDO 2015 and because the nearest sensitive 
receptors are relatively distant from the proposed heat pump.  

16. I have also removed the requirement to provide evidence that the water use of 
the property would meet the Building Regulations 2010 (the Building Regs), 
because this would duplicate the Building Regs and is therefore unnecessary. 

Similarly, I have not imposed the electric vehicle charging point condition 
because this is a requirement of S1, Part 1, Schedule 1 of the Building Regs 

and is therefore also unnecessary.   

17. Conditions relating to landscaping, external materials and boundary features 

are necessary to protect the character and appearance of the area, and the 
special architectural and historic interest of the listed building with regard to its 
setting.  

18. The water consumption condition is necessary in achieving a satisfactory 
efficiency of water consumption in compliance with Policy WAT4 of the LP.   

Page 164

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3324262 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

19. The habitat boxes condition is necessary to protect and enhance biodiversity 

and to comply with Policy NE3 of the LP.  

20. The air source heat pump condition is necessary to protect the living conditions 

of future occupiers of the proposed dwelling, and the existing occupiers of 
neighbouring dwellings, both with regard to noise pollution.  

21. The landscaping condition is necessarily worded as a pre-commencement 

condition, as a later trigger for its submission would limit its effectiveness. 

Conclusion 

22. The principle of a dwellinghouse in this location is acceptable in land use 
planning terms. I have found no material harm arises from the proposal. The 
proposal complies with the Development Plan when read as a whole and there 

are no material considerations that indicate I should make a decision 
otherwise. Therefore, the appeal is allowed. 

 

O S Woodwards 
INSPECTOR 

  

Page 165

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3324262 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

ANNEX: CONDITIONS SCHEDULE 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 21-98-01A and 02. 

Pre-commencement 

3) Prior to commencement of development, details of landscaping shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

The details shall include: full details of soft and hard landscape proposals, 
retained landscape features, planting plans, schedules of plants, species, 
planting sizes, density of planting and implementation timetable. 

Thereafter the development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Pre-specific part of development 

4) Prior to commencement of above ground works, the external materials of 
construction for the development shall be submitted to, and approved in 

writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall 
be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

5) Prior to the commencement of above ground works, details of habitat 
boxes/structures to be installed shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be 

installed prior to the first occupation of the dwelling and maintained 
throughout the lifetime of the development. 

Pre-occupation 

6) Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of all boundary 
walls, fences or other means of enclosure to be erected shall be 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the development should be implemented in accordance with 

the approved details. 

For observation 

7) The air source heat pump must be installed so as to comply with the 

Microgeneration Certification Scheme standards, or equivalent standards, 
and be maintained as such for the lifetime of the development. 

8) The dwelling hereby approved shall be fitted out so that the potential 
consumption of wholesome water by persons occupying the dwelling will 
not exceed 110 litres per person per day. 

 

============ END OF SCHEDULE ============ 

Page 166

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 31 January 2024 

by Robert Fallon  B.Sc. (Hons) PGDipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 13th March 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/23/3323561 

1 Desborough Drive, Tewin Wood, Tewin, Welwyn, Hertfordshire, AL6 0HQ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs M & L Campbell against the decision of East 

Hertfordshire District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/23/0149/HH dated 26 January 2023, was refused by notice dated 

24 March 2023. 

• The development proposed is described on the application form as “Single storey rear 

extension”. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural matters 

2. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (‘the Framework’) was 
published on 19 December 2023. Having reviewed this document, I am 

satisfied that the policy applicable to the scheme before me remains unchanged 
from the previous Framework documents published in 20211 and 20232. As a 

consequence, I did not consider there to be a need to reconsult the parties and 
have determined the appeal in light of the new Framework document, which is 
a material consideration that should be taken into account. 

Main issues 

3. The main issues are: 

• the effect of the development on trees protected by a Tree Preservation 
Order; 

• whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green 

Belt, and if so, the effect of the development on the openness of the Green 
Belt; 

• if the development is inappropriate, whether the harm by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations, so as to amount to the very special circumstances necessary 

to justify the development. 

 

 
1 National Planning Policy Framework, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 20 July 2021. 
2 National Planning Policy Framework, Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities, 5 September 2023. 

Page 167

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3323561 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Appeal site context 

4. The appeal site falls within the Green Belt and contains an attractive detached 

bungalow set well back from the vehicular highway on a large plot. The area is 
characterised by detached dwellings of varying age, scale and architectural 
design set on spacious plots. The appeal site and wider area contains a number 

of mature trees protected by a Woodland Tree Preservation Order3 (‘TPO’), 
which give the locale a clear verdant character.  

The effect of the development on trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order 

5. There are a number of mature and attractive trees in close proximity to the 
eastern side of the proposed extension that are protected by a TPO. Although 

the scheme does not propose their removal, it was not accompanied by an 
arboricultural report that demonstrates the development would not damage 

their root systems or place undue pressure on them to be cut back in such a 
manner that would harm their health or visual appearance.  

6. The appellant states that the Council’s Landscape Officer did not object to the 

scheme, but that does not alter my view that the development would be 
harmful for the reasons I have given. I also recognise that the appellant would 

be agreeable to a suitably worded condition for tree protection, but I would not 
consider this to be appropriate as it has not been demonstrated that its 
intended purpose would be capable of being fulfilled.  

7. In view of the above, I conclude that it has not been demonstrated that the 
development would not harm TPO protected trees. The scheme would therefore 

conflict with Policy DES3 of the District Plan4, which seeks, amongst other 
things, to ensure that development proposals demonstrate how they will retain, 
protect and enhance existing landscape features which are of amenity and/or 

biodiversity value. 

8. I also find that the scheme conflicts with Paragraph 136 of the Framework, 

which seeks, amongst other things, the retention of existing trees wherever 
possible.  

Whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt, and if 

so, the effect of the development on the openness of the Green Belt 

9. Policy GBR1 of the District Plan states that planning applications within the 

Green Belt will be considered in line with the provisions of the Framework. 
Paragraph 154 of this document states that a local authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt, aside from a 

number of exceptions which include the extension or alteration of a building 
provided that it does not result in disproportionate additions over and above 

the size of the original building.  

10. Although the development would represent a significant addition to the original 

building5, it would nonetheless step down from the main roof ridgeline and 
have a subordinate character. When taken cumulatively with the modest size of 
the extension and removal of the existing conservatory, it is my view that the 

 
3 Tree Preservation Order 14 (1995) Tewin Wood 
4 East Herts District Plan, October 2018, East Herts Council. 
5 The Council states that it would be 83.3% beyond that of the original dwelling. 

Page 168

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3323561 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

overall development falls within the upper limits of what I would consider 

proportionate to the original dwellinghouse. As a consequence, I find that the 
scheme would not be a disproportionate addition to the original building, which 

means that it does not constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  

11. In view of the above, I conclude that the proposal would comply with Policy 
GBR1 of the District Plan which seeks, amongst other things, to ensure that 

Green Belt planning applications are considered in line with the provisions of 
the Framework. For the same reason, I also find that it would accord with 

Paragraph 154 of the Framework. 

Other matters 

12. The appellant states that following the scheme’s refusal, the Council gave prior 

approval consent for a single storey rear extension in the same position as the 
appeal scheme, albeit of a slightly different design. Whilst this represents a 

clear fallback position, there is no evidence before me that the impact upon the 
relevant TPO trees was considered during this application and/or whether any 
mitigation or protective measures were proposed. As a consequence, I have 

concluded that this fallback position does not justify the harm that would be 
caused to the TPO protected trees at risk in the scheme before me.  

Conclusion 

13. Although I have concluded that there is no harm in respect of the main issue 
relating to the Green Belt, I am nonetheless satisfied that the harm identified in 

respect of the main issue relating to trees is sufficient to still justify dismissal of 
the appeal. As a consequence, I conclude that the proposal conflicts with the 

development plan when taken as a whole and that other material 
considerations do not indicate that the proposal should be determined other 
than in accordance with this. 

14. All representations have been taken into account, but no matters, including the 
scope of possible planning conditions, have been found to outweigh the 

identified failures, harm and policy conflict.  For the reasons above, the appeal 
scheme should be dismissed. 

Robert Fallon   

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 169

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 14 March 2024  
by A Edgington BSc (Hons) MA CMLI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 3 April 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3322197 

Land Adjacent to Hormead Cottage, Great Hormead, Buntingford, 
Hertfordshire SG9 0NR  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Andrew Digby against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref is 3/23/0288/FUL. 

• The development proposed is Construction of a detached dwelling on land adjacent to 

Hormead Cottage (amended scheme). 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Preliminary Matters 

2. Drawings were submitted at appeal that were not part of the original 

application. The Council’s statement sets out that copies of those drawings 
were not received when the appeal was lodged. Nonetheless there is 
correspondence that indicates that the Council was given an opportunity to 

comment on those drawings in January 2024, and as such I have taken them 
into account in my reasoning. 

3. Hormead Cottage is described as The Cottage by Historic England in its listing 
and I have used this nomenclature in my reasoning. The Cottage, situated to 
the west of the appeal site, was listed in 1967 as a 17th or early 18th timber 

framed cottage with thatched roof. It was largely destroyed by fire in 2016, 
and the rebuilt form lacks the thatched roof and has altered typology. The 

photographs in the heritage statement highlight that whilst the rebuilt cottage 
fits within its rural location, it lacks the rural charm of the original. However, it 
has not been delisted and as such I am required to consider its setting and 

significance within my reasoning. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is whether the development would preserve or enhance the 
character or appearance of the Hormead Conservation Area (CA), with 
particular reference to protected woodland, and whether the development 

would have an adverse effect on the setting of the Grade II listed The Cottage.  

 

Page 170

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322197

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Heritage assets and protected woodland 

 Conservation Area 

5. Great Hormead is small rural settlement referenced in the Domesday Book and 
which may date from Roman times. The earliest map submitted, dated in the 
late 18th century, shows a small cluster of buildings, including a church, 

nucleated around a crossroads. A map from the late 19th century shows limited 
expansion along the valley bottom and the main east-west road. This map also 

indicates that the east-west road was heavily lined with trees and also shows 
significant tree cover within the appeal site and what are now adjacent plots. 
By the early 20th century, the site appears to be part of the extensive garden of 

The Cottage, and contained mixed tree cover.  

6. The maps and CA Appraisal indicate a rural village, based on an agricultural 

economy, which has retained a large proportion of period and often listed 
dwellings as well as an informal and open building pattern with long plots 
leading back from the main road, often vegetated with mature trees as far as 

the ridge line. This is reinforced by the CA Appraisal which highlights the 
predominance of thatched cottages and the importance of tree and hedgerows. 

These often frame or provide a backdrop for the built form and collectively 
provide a richly treed setting for this rural village.  

7. The appeal site is located to the west of the village core, and sits between the 

plots of The Cottage and Bridge House, both of which are fairly large detached 
dwellings set well back from the road, but which appear nestled within a 

scattering of mature trees, including those on the appeal site, when viewed 
from the road.   

8. The CA’s significance is therefore derived from the predominance of period 

buildings and intact historic fabric, and the mature vegetation associated with 
blocks of open space that punctuates the loose building pattern. The trees and 

hedgerows that are most important are indicated on the plan contained within 
the CA Appraisal. Notwithstanding that this is diagrammatic, it is nonetheless 
apparent that the appeal site has important trees in the northern half of the 

site and along its western boundary.  

Listed Building 

9. The Cottage appears to have limited historic material, and presents as a 
modern iteration of a typical rural dwelling. It sits comfortably in its rural and 
sylvan setting but has low historic or architectural value.  

10. The map regression shows that there was a semi-circular carriage drive in front 
of the Cottage from the 19th century. Although there is gated access at its 

eastern extent, this is now within the appeal site. Part of the drive is still 
evident, and there is some historic value in its spatial layout and relationship 

with The Cottage and the road, but I give this low weight. The map regression 
also indicates that at least part of the appeal site was part of The Cottage’s 
extended plot for much of its history. Notwithstanding the 21st century changes 

to The Cottage’s fabric and typology, the tall trees on the appeal site provide 
an attractive backdrop when approaching from the west. However, although 

the appeal site makes a visual contribution to The Cottage’s rural setting, which 

Page 171

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322197

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

contributes to the character and appearance of the CA, I am satisfied that the 

site makes a limited contribution only to the setting of this listed building.     

11. The significance of The Cottage is derived from its spatial relationship with the 

underlying building pattern as this reflects the settlement’s evolution. There is 
also some historic value to be derived from the remnants of the former 
carriage drive.  

 Woodland Order 

12. The appeal site, together with the plots on each side, is part of a woodland 

Tree Preservation Order (TPO) which nests within the CA. The purpose of a 
woodland order is to safeguard woodland as a whole. Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG) states that whilst some trees may lack individual merit, all 

trees within the woodland merit protection. A woodland order also includes any 
trees that regenerate naturally or are planted and as such promotes 

regeneration and sustainability.  

13. The Council’s concerns appear to be not only the direct removal of vegetation 
to accommodate construction, but that pressure may be brought to bear in the 

future to remove or severely prune more trees in order to ameliorate living 
conditions for future occupiers. BS5837:20121 notes that development should 

achieve a harmonious relationship between trees and structures, that can be 
sustained in the long term. Where the relationship between trees and a 
development is not adequately considered, this can lead to harm to root 

systems, the decline of previously healthy trees, trees needing pruning to 
accommodate the building and construction, and pressure to remove or 

severely prune specimens to allow light and daylight into rooms and across 
amenity areas. Based on my experience, I see no reason to disagree with these 
presumptions.   

Proposals and effects  

14. The development would comprise a large dormer style bungalow and detached 

garage. These would be located on rising ground beyond the stream that 
crosses the site near the road boundary. The development requires the 
creation of a road access in the existing roadside hedgerow and the vehicular 

access would traverse an area of overlapping Root Protection Zones (RPZs) 
associated with trees in the northern half of the site. There would also need to 

be a vehicular bridge over the stream. 

15. The building’s principal elevation and overall typology would sit comfortably 
within the prevailing building pattern. However, the creation of a new entrance 

and associated visibility splays would remove a long section of existing 
roadside hedgerow which currently contributes to the overt rural and informal 

setting.  

16. The construction of the dwelling and garage would require the felling of a large 

multi-stemmed sycamore as well as two birch trees, and an area of mixed 
shrubs, described as mixed box and cotoneaster in the tree survey but which 
also appears to contain saplings too small to be picked up in the tree survey. 

The sycamore to be removed has an expected life expectancy of 40+ years. It 
may be partially obscured in views from the road, but nonetheless it is a 

dominant tree within the site. I also noticed that group G1, and other trees 

 
1 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction - Recommendations 

Page 172

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322197

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

along the eastern boundary beside the stream appear to have some low 

growing branches. Ground clearances are not given in the tree survey, but it 
appeared to me that lower branches would need to be removed in order to 

provide access.   

17. The tree report sets out a very comprehensive plan for mitigating damage 
which includes the use of cellular construction and piling. Nonetheless, the 

extent of the area available for construction, which will include significant 
excavations to the rear of the dwelling, along with storage, appears very tight 

and impractical and is not entirely convincing. Moreover, even if the constraints 
of available layout could be adhered to, my concern with regard to pruning of 
canopies to provide clearance for large vehicles and construction activity 

remains.  

18. As such, whilst I acknowledge that the removal of trees or pruning to 

accommodate the development would be a small proportion of the total trees 
within the site, I am unable to conclude that there would not be damage to the 
retained trees for the reasons set out above. 

19. It is also likely that there would be more intensive maintenance across a 
proportion of the site which would preclude the establishment of new areas of 

woodland or the establishment of natural seedlings. My reasoning in this regard 
is reinforced by the habitat management proposals set out in the Biodiversity 
Net Gain (BNG) report.  

20. Moreover, my experience is that many people occupy dwellings in proximity to 
protected trees without being fully aware of the implications. I appreciate that 

there may be potential occupiers who wish to live in shady conditions and my 
previous experience of people who are intolerant of the proximity of trees or 
shade may be unrepresentative. Nonetheless, the additional maintenance 

associated with leaf litter, debris and moss growth and having inadequate light 
in the dwelling or amenity areas is not always welcomed or accepted. 

Moreover, the movement of trees in stormy weather, particularly when they 
may not be in prime condition, or have been exposed to more wind stress as a 
consequence of other trees being removed, may lead to anxiety regarding their 

stability and additional pressure to fell. Over time those concerns can outweigh 
the perceived advantages of a wooded setting.  

21. In this case, the dwelling’s principal elevation would be a few metres from the 
canopies of Sycamore (12) and Hornbeam (G11), located to the north-west. 
Both of these trees are shown on the tree survey to be considerably higher 

than the proposed dwelling’s ridge height which could be perceived as 
overbearing, particularly in stormy weather. The principal elevation would also 

face slightly to the west of north which would limit light entry even in the 
absence of nearby trees. The presence of these trees would exacerbate light 

loss within the dwelling.   

22. To the dwelling’s rear, the ground rises towards the plot boundary and the  
overshadowing effect of a very large sycamore (G18), up to 20 metres tall, on 

this boundary would be aggravated by its elevated position. Moreover, 
sycamores have dense foliage and this tree alone would be likely to cast 

extensive afternoon shade over the sunken rear terrace and the dwelling’s 
southern projection at least for part of the year. 

Page 173

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322197

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

23. As such, notwithstanding there would be few trees requiring immediate 

removal, I am unable to conclude that either in the long or the short term 
there would not be further works. Even if trees were just pruned, this could 

have an adverse effect on future health and longevity as a consequence of 
pathogen entry from pruning wounds and also increase exposure to wind throw 
for individual specimens, particularly given the condition of individual 

specimens. Moreover, at least some of the site would be likely to be 
domesticated to a greater intensity than is now the case and this would be 

likely to preclude natural regeneration. This would conflict with the purposes of 
the woodland order. The development would also fail to accord with the 
guidance set out in the Landscape Character Assessment SPD (LCA SPD), 

which states for the Hormead Wooded Plateau designation that conflicts with 
competing uses and activities in woodland areas should be avoided or resolved.  

24. The tree report sets out that the development would be obscured from the road 
by the retained trees. Notwithstanding that the trees within the site appear to 
be predominantly deciduous, the TPO covers the entire site. In any case, at my 

visit it was apparent that the tree cover allows glimpsed views across the site’s 
full depth. Moreover, the photograph that illustrates that the site would be 

screened from the road appears to have been taken from the within The 
Cottage’s plot and looks towards the east, across the site, rather than 
southwards into the site from the road frontage, as suggested. Moreover, it is 

the trees in the site’s northern half and along its western boundary that are 
identified as important in the CA Appraisal and that are most likely to be 

affected by pruning to facilitate access and potential conflict with construction 
and living conditions.  

25. I appreciate that the development would include a further tree planting along 

the road boundary to compensate for the proposed losses, but it is the spread 
of trees across the site that gives the CA its sylvan character.   

26. I do not dispute that the mosaic of managed and informal vegetation, along 
with some fruit trees and ornamental shrubs gives the site a garden 
appearance in some areas and it does not present as a typical woodland. 

Nonetheless it appears that this was the case when the TPO was made and in 
any case, the observations in this regard does not alter its protected status or 

its contribution to the CA.  

27. It is also the case that the plots of The Cottage and Bridge House have a very 
distinct garden appearance but this does not warrant the loss of trees or 

regeneration potential in an area that is currently less used or developed.  

28. The appeal statement sets out that there was no objection from the Council’s 

Conservation Officer (CO). However, the CO’s final comments state that the 
information provided has not addressed the C&UD concerns and therefore the 

previously issued comments are still relevant.  

29. It seems highly likely that the development would result in the direct and 
future indirect loss and degradation of tree cover within the plot, which are 

identified as important contributors to the character and appearance of the CA. 
It also seems likely that opportunities for natural woodland regeneration would 

be reduced. This would diminish the significance of the CA, amounting to less 
than substantial harm.   

 

Page 174

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322197

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

Listed building  

30. The development would relocate the eastern gate to the Cottage’s carriage 
drive within the visibility splay. The former relationship between The Cottage 

and the road is not particularly apparent as the full length of the former 
carriage drive does not appear to be in active use. I conclude that the 
development would have a neutral effect on the setting of The Cottage.  

Mitigation  

31. The appeal statement sets out that the development would result in a 

significant gain in hedgerow units. However, this appears to be based on the 
presumption that the roadside hedgerow would be enhanced rather than 
removed and replanted behind the visibility splay. The metric shows only  

4 linear metres of hedgerow to be lost which appears incorrect. As such the 
BNG figures may not accurately reflect the proposed situation.   

32. The argument is advanced that the roadside hedge is largely sycamore which 
has lesser value than the proposed native hedge. However, the ecology report 
notes that the roadside hedge contains hawthorn, sycamore, elder and ivy, and 

the BNG report describes it as a native hedge. Whilst I appreciate that 
sycamore is likely to have been introduced in the 16th century, and is not 

strictly a native species, this does not negate the contribution the sycamore 
component makes to local diversity or visual contribution to the CA.  

33. As such, I am unable to conclude that the development would enhance 

biodiversity to the extent suggested as a consequence of my concerns in 
relation to the BNG calculation as well as the likely future loss of trees, and  

adverse impacts on their future health. Moreover, the intensification of 
disturbance and activity in a previously lesser used site would be likely to have 
an adverse impact on the local wildlife populations. I am unable to conclude 

that this would be outweighed by the addition of trees along the road 
boundary. In any case, the visual contribution to the CA is made by trees 

across the site.  

Heritage Balance    

34. Where there is less than substantial harm to the significance of a heritage 

asset, Paragraph 208 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework) requires that that harm is weighed against the public benefits of 

the proposal, including securing where appropriate, its optimum viable use. 
Paragraph 205 of the Framework sets out that when considering the impact of 
a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 

great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.  

35. The building of a family home would have a small public benefit, which weighs 

in favour of the appeal. However, this would not outweigh the harm arising to 
the CA as a consequence of the likely loss of tree cover and reduction of key 

characteristics contributing to the significance of the CA. Moreover, the map 
regression shows that the appeal site has been undeveloped and seemingly 
part of Hormead Cottage’s extended plot for at least part of its history. I see no 

reason why its undeveloped state should not be its optimum viable use.  

36. I conclude that the development would fail to preserve or enhance the 

character or appearance of the CA, particularly with regard to protected  
woodland. This would be contrary to S72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Page 175

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322197

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

Conservation Areas Act) 1990 (the Act). It would also be contrary to Policy 

DES2 of the Local Plan which requires development to demonstrate that it  
conserves, enhances or strengthens the character and distinctive features of 

the district’s landscape, having regard to the LCA SPD where relevant. It would 
also conflict with LP Policies HA1 and HA4 which taken together require the 
preservation and enhancement of heritage assets, character and appearance, 

including having regard to local conservation area appraisals. 

37. In relation to biodiversity, I am unable to conclude that the development would 

enhance biodiversity, or safeguard trees, as required by LP Policy NE3 for the 
reasons set out above.   

Other Matters 

38. The appeal statement has indicated that the dwelling would be self-build. 
However, there is no mechanism before me to ensure that the development 

would fall within the requirements for self-build housing and consequently this 
carries very little weight in my reasoning. The argument is also advanced that 
there is a local need for family housing, but there is no supporting evidence.  

39. There is no requirement for the Council’s landscape officer to consider the 
heritage impact of the development. Statutory consultees present their findings 

to the officer who balances those responses in the overall recommendation.    

40. I acknowledge that there would be fewer trees removed than proposed in 
previous applications, but I have determined the appeal before me. In any 

case, as set out above, woodland orders are not concerned solely with the 
protection and retention of existing trees but the protection of the woodland 

cycle for long term sustainability.  

41. PPG sets out that it would be inappropriate for a woodland order to be made on 
a garden. Nonetheless the order is made and as such the woodland is 

protected. I note that I do not have a copy of the confirmation before me but 
given the site’s long planning history, which has revolved around the TPO at 

least in part, it seems to me that if the TPO had not been confirmed this would 
have been revealed before now. In any case, even if the woodland was not 
protected by the TPO, my reasoning with regard to the CA, and the great 

weight required to be attached to the conservation of heritage assets would 
lead me to the same conclusion.  

42. Interested parties have raised other concerns, including the unauthorised  
removal of trees and highway safety. However, as I have found harm in 
relation to the main issues it is not necessary for me to consider these issues  

further.  

Planning Balance and Conclusion 

43. The Council does not have a five year housing land supply. Paragraph 11d) of 
the Framework sets out that where the policies which are the most important 

for determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be granted 
unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, or the application of policies in the Framework provides 

a clear reason for refusal, particularly in relation to designated heritage assets. 

44. In this case, the polices that are most important for determining the 

application, are LP Policy DES2 which is concerned with good design and local 

Page 176

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3322197

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

distinctiveness, and LP Policies HA1 and HA4 which are concerned with heritage 

assets. There is nothing before me to indicate that these policies are 
inconsistent with the Framework and therefore in accordance with Paragraph 

225 of the Framework, I conclude that they are not out-of-date and that they 
carry full weight.  

45. Moreover, even if I gave these policies lesser or no weight, the guidance in the 

Framework gives clear reason for refusal with regard to designated heritage 
assets. 

46. Although the development would contribute one dwelling to local housing 
supply, I have concluded that this is insufficient to outweigh the harm to the 
CA. The development would therefore be contrary to the Act, the local 

development plan and the Framework and there are no material considerations 
of such weight to lead me to conclude otherwise. The appeal is dismissed.   

 

A Edgington  

INSPECTOR 

 

 
 

Page 177

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 4 January 2024 by T Bennett BA(Hons) MSc MRTPI 
Decision by Martin Seaton BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 15 April 2024 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/23/3325134 

96 Thornbera Road, Bishops Stortford, Hertfordshire CM23 3NN 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval required under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 1, 

Class AA of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended). 

• The appeal is made by Mr Baris Ozaydin against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/23/0924/ASDPN, dated 10 May 2023, was refused by notice dated 

29 June 2023. 

• The development proposed is creation of additional storey to increase the height of the 

dwelling from 7.4 metres to 10 metres.  

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Appeal Procedure 

2. The site visit was undertaken by a representative of the Inspector whose 

recommendation is set out below and to which the Inspector has had regard 
before deciding the appeal. 

Preliminary Matters 

3. Under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 1, Class AA of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended 

(the GPDO), planning permission is granted for the enlargement of a 
dwellinghouse by the construction of additional storeys, subject to limitations 

and conditions set out in paragraphs AA.1 and AA.2. An application for a 
determination for prior approval in respect of development permitted under 

Part 1, Class AA must also be made by the developer.  

4. In setting out the conditions, paragraph AA.2 (3)(a) requires before 
development that the developer applies to the local planning authority for prior 

approval as to (i) the impact on the amenity of any adjoining premises 
including overlooking, privacy and the loss of light, and (ii) the external 

appearance of the dwellinghouse, including the design and architectural 
features of (aa) the principal elevation of the dwellinghouse, and (bb)any side 
elevation of the dwellinghouse that fronts a highway. 

5. Paragraph AA.3 (3) provides that the local planning authority may refuse the 
application where it considers that the proposed development does not comply 

with – or that the developer has provided insufficient information to enable the 
authority to establish whether the proposed development complies with the 
conditions, limitations or restrictions specified in paragraphs AA.1 and AA.2.  

Page 178

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3325134

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Main Issue 

6. The main issues are whether the proposal would be permitted under the 
requirements of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class AA of the GPDO, and whether prior 

approval should be given, having particular regard to the resulting external 
appearance of the dwellinghouse. 

Reasons for the Recommendation 

Whether the proposal would be permitted under the GPDO 

7. Under paragraph class AA.3(2)(a) it states that an application must be 

accompanied by a written description of the proposed development including 
details of any works proposed.  

8. The application form and description details that the proposed roof height will 

be 10 metres. However, the existing and proposed side elevations of the 
submitted drawing 010/01 indicate a roof height that is higher, by 

approximately 0.4 metres than that which is detailed on the front and rear 
elevations. Due to this conflicting information, it is not clear what the proposed 
dimensions would be. However, in this case, the discrepancies do not prevent 

an assessment to be made as to whether the proposed development complies 
with the criteria set out in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class AA. 

9. Paragraph class AA.3(3) applies where an application to the local planning 
authority of prior approval is required by paragraph AA.2(3)(a). It confirms 
that a local planning authority may refuse an application for prior approval 

where, in its opinion, the proposal does not comply with, or the developer has 
provided insufficient information to enable the authority to establish whether 

the proposed development complies with any conditions, limitations or 
restrictions specified in paragraphs AA.1 and AA.2. 

10. Paragraph class AA.1(g)(ii) states that in the case of a terraced house, the 

height of the highest part of its roof should not exceed by more than 3.5 
metres the height of the highest part of the roof of every other building in the 

row within which it is sited. Although the application form states that the 
proposal would comply, the submitted drawing is a screenshot and not a scaled 
drawing. Furthermore, it only shows the adjoining property and not the rest of 

the properties within the terrace. It therefore fails to satisfactorily demonstrate 
that the proposal would meet these requirements.  

11. Paragraph class AA.1(h) states that the internally measured floor to ceiling 
height of any additional storey should not exceed the lower of: (i) 3 metres, or, 
(ii) the floor to ceiling height, measured internally, of any storey of the 

principal part of the existing dwellinghouse. Although the application form 
again states that the proposal would comply, the submitted drawings do not 

include a section drawing or other measurements to demonstrate compliance 
with this limitation. The submission therefore fails to satisfactorily demonstrate 

that the proposal would meet these requirements.  

12. For the above reasons, the prior approval application should be refused due to 
failure to satisfy paragraphs AA.1(g)(ii) and AA.1(h) of the GPDO. 

 

 

Page 179

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3325134

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Whether prior approval should be given 

13. I have had regard to the appellant’s submissions in respect of the matters 
relating to the prior approval. However, since the proposal would not be 

permitted development, it is not necessary to consider any further the effect on 
the impact on the amenity of any adjoining premises or the external 
appearance of the dwellinghouse. 

Other Matters 

14. The Council previously granted prior approval for an additional storey on the 

appeal property which has now expired. The appellant contends that the same 
plans were submitted for the previous prior approval. However, I do not have 
the full details of that application and in any case, it is imperative that the 

appeal is based on the documentation I have before me, which I have found to 
contain insufficient information. 

15. I have also had regard to the submissions regarding the provision of additional 
space for the appellant and his family, and the construction management 
information detailed in the grounds of appeal. However, given that the proposal 

is not permitted development, these submissions do not have any bearing on 
this determination.  

Conclusion and Recommendation 

16. For the reasons given above, the appeal should be dismissed.  

T Bennett 

APPEAL PLANNING OFFICER 
 

Inspector’s Decision 

17. I have considered all the submitted evidence and my representative’s 
recommendation and on that basis the appeal is dismissed. 

Martin Seaton 

INSPECTOR 
 

 

Page 180

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED MARCH/APRIL 2024

Head of Planning and Building Control

Application 

Number

Proposal Address Decision Appeal 

Start Date

Appeal 

Procedure

3/21/0633/FUL Demolition of the existing building and erection of a new mixed use 

development, comprising a retail/commercial unit on the ground floor; 7no. 

two bedroom flats;  6no. one-bed flats and associated car parking

  138 Fore StreetHertford 

 SG14 1AJ

Refused 

Delegated

18/04/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/0018/FUL Demolition of Saxons and all associated buildings and the construction of 9 

dwellinghouses with associated landscaping, car parking, widened site 

access and other works.

 Saxons Thorley 

  StreetThorleyBishops 

  Stortford CM23 4AS

Refused 

Delegated

10/04/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/0239/FUL Roof extension & alterations to create a second floor comprising 2 x one 

bedroom flats, part change of use of ground and first floor from class E 

(shop) to C3 (residential), two storey rear extension including new bin store 

and new entrance door to south elevation.

 38 North StreetBishops 

  Stortford CM23 2LW

Refused 

Delegated

11/04/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/0542/HH Installation of Air Source Heat pump and additional solar PV panels 16 Pishiobury 

   DriveSawbridgeworth CM21 

0AE

Refused 

Delegated

12/04/2024 Fast Track

3/23/0690/FUL Undertake landscaping and building works to a vacant plot of land to create 

equestrian facilities.  The proposals will include a new hardstanding, 

stables, riding ring, and grazing land.

 Land North East Of Lower 

  RoadGreat Amwell 

Refused 

Delegated

05/03/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/0775/FUL Change of use of land to residential curtilage and erection of a 1.8 metre 

height fence (set in by 1.5 metre) and with managed peripheral 

landscaping.

Land To The Rear Of 74, 75 And 

 76  Magnaville RoadBishops 

  Stortford CM23 4DW

Refused 

Committee

21/03/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/1149/FUL Demolition of two storey office building and erection of a new four storey 

residential block consisting of 4 one bedroom flats, 4 two bedroom flats 

and 1 three bedroom flat, incorporating first floor and second floor rear 

facing balconies and third floor terrace.

 Waterfront House Station 

  RoadBishops Stortford 

 CM23 3BL

Refused 

Delegated

20/03/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/1396/FUL Change of use of agricultural building to C3 use class for 1 residential unit, 

insert rooflight windows, replacement doors and windows. Construction of 

bike store.

 8 Pole Hole Farm Pye 

   CornerGilston CM20 2RP

Refused 

Delegated

12/04/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/1447/OUT Outline planning application (with all matters reserved except for access) 

for up to 350 dwellings, up to 4,400 sqm of commercial and services 

floorspace (Use Class E and B8), and up to 500 sqm of retail floorspace 

(Use Classes E) and other associated works including drainage, access 

into the site from the A10 and Luynes Rise (but not access within the site), 

allotments, public open space and landscaping

Land East Of The 

  A10Buntingford 

Refused 

Delegated

03/04/2024 Public Inquiry

3/23/1567/HH Demolition of side garage. Erection of part two storey, part single storey 

side extension. Construction of front porch. New dropped kerb.

   74 Heath DriveWare SG12 

0RJ

Refused 

Delegated

04/03/2024 Fast Track

3/23/1750/FUL Raising the roof height and proposed second floor extension to enlarge and 

create duplex to the existing front flat, with new second floor front and rear 

windows. New cycle rack in rear garden.

 Flat 329C North 

  StreetBishops Stortford 

 CM23 2LD

Refused 

Delegated

02/04/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/1786/HH Single storey side extension Elm 

   CottageGravesendAlburyW

  are SG11 2LW

Refused 

Delegated

12/03/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/1787/LBC Single storey side extension Elm 

   CottageGravesendAlburyW

  are SG11 2LW

Refused 

Delegated

12/03/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/1894/HH Removal of front bay window, rear conservatory and outbuilding. Erection 

of part two storey, part single storey rear extension and single storey front 

extension. Alterations to roof form to incorporate hip to gable roof 

extensions and loft conversion incorporating rear dormer. Insertion of roof 

light windows to front and rear, additional windows to side elevations and 

alterations to fenestration and external materials.

31 Vantorts 

   RoadSawbridgeworth CM21 

9NB

Refused 

Delegated

08/03/2024 Fast Track

3/23/1919/FUL Erection of a new house and the conversion of a curtilage listed outbuilding 

including inserting new windows and doors, attaching solar panels and a 

single storey link to new house. Creation of new driveway.

Land To The South-east Of The 

  BuryBury GreenLittle 

 HadhamSG11 2HE

Refused 

Delegated

22/03/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/1994/FUL Erection of 3 dwellings, detached garages, widening of vehicle entrance 

and associated landscaping.

Land Adjacent To North 

  BanksStandon RoadLittle 

  Hadham SG11 2DE

Refused 

Delegated

29/04/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/2074/HH Two storey rear extension. Insert 1 new first floor side window, 1 new side 

door and replace a ground floor rear window with bi-fold doors.

  48 Chapel LaneLetty Green 

 SG14 2PA

Refused 

Delegated

06/03/2024 Fast Track

3/23/2083/FUL Retrospective application for the, temporary use of outbuilding as C3 

dwellinghouse during construction of primary dwellinghouse

 Little Croft Ermine 

   StreetColliers End SG11 

1EH

Refused 

Delegated

27/03/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/2190/FUL Change of use and conversion of agricultural building to C3 use class for 1 

residential unit, insert rooflight windows, replacement doors and windows, 

new EV charging point. Construction of bike store.

 8 Pole Hole Farm Pye 

   CornerGilston CM20 2RP

Refused 

Delegated

12/04/2024 Written 

Representation

3/23/2214/HH Removal of rear canopy roof. Proposed loft conversion with 2 rear dormer 

windows and proposed bi-fold doors to rear elevation.

   8 MoatsideAnstey SG9 0DD Refused 

Delegated

25/04/2024 Fast Track

3/23/2258/HH Removal of chimney, attached garage and detached outbuilding. 

Construction of two storey and part single storey side and rear extension 

(to provide accommodation for elderly relatives). Addition to rear garden 

wall and retaining wall.

  128 Ware RoadHertford 

 SG13 7HR

Refused 

Delegated

11/03/2024 Fast Track

3/23/2276/HH Demolition of side garage, rear conservatory and the detached utility annex 

building. Construction of two storey side extension and single storey rear 

extension. New front door.

  4 Thorley HighThorleyBishops 

  Stortford CM23 4AR

Refused 

Delegated

28/03/2024 Fast Track

3/23/2337/HH Erection of two storey side extension incorporating rear Juliet balcony. 

Replacement of rear doors with glazed sliding doors. Garage conversion 

and replacement of existing garage door with window.

  7 CarrigansBishops Stortford 

 CM23 2SL

Refused 

Delegated

17/04/2024 Fast Track

3/23/2401/FUL Demolition of outbuildings and erection of four dwellings with associated 

garages, landscaping and vehicular access.  Erection of detached double 

garage to Bluebell Cottage.

Land Adjacent To Bluebell 

   CottageHare Street SG9 

0DY

Refused 

Delegated

23/04/2024 Written 

RepresentationPage 181



3/23/2421/HH Proposed first floor side extension with hipped pitched roof (over the 

existing single storey side projection) and new vertical board timber fence 

to obscure the ground floor side projection brickwork, with planting trained 

through a trellis. The proposed extension to be cantilevered at the rear.

33 Wychford 

   DriveSawbridgeworth CM21 

0HA

Refused 

Delegated

12/04/2024 Fast Track

3/24/0155/HH Removal of rear canopy roof and conversion of loft to habitable space with 

2 rear dormer windows and 2 front rooflights.

   8 MoatsideAnstey SG9 0DD Refused 

Delegated

23/04/2024 Fast Track

Page 182



Public Inquiry and Hearing Dates

All Hertford Council Chamber unless specified

Application Case 

Officer

Address Proposal Appeal 

Status

Procedure 

Type

Appeal Date

3/21/1451/FUL Diane 

Verona

 Barn 2 Gregorys FarmDane 

  EndHertfordshireSG12 0PH

Change of use of existing holiday letting accommodation building to single residential 

dwelling house

INPROG Hearing 09/07/2024

3/22/0714/FUL Diane 

Verona

 The White HorseWare 

    RoadWaresideWareHertfordshireS

G12 7QX

Change of use from public house (with ancillary accommodation) to single residential 

dwelling.

INPROG Hearing 25/06/2024

3/23/1447/OUT Hannah 

Weston

Land East Of The 

  A10BuntingfordHertfordshire

Outline planning application (with all matters reserved except for access) for up to 

350 dwellings, up to 4,400 sqm of commercial and services floorspace (Use Class E 

and B8), and up to 500 sqm of retail floorspace (Use Classes E) and other associated 

works including drainage, access into the site from the A10 and Luynes Rise (but not 

access within the site), allotments, public open space and landscaping

INPROG Public 

Inquiry

16/07/2024

P
age 183



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL

Major, Minor and Other Planning Applications

A
p
r-

2
4

M
a
y
-2

4

J
u
n
-2

4

J
u
l-
2
4

A
u
g
-2

4

S
e
p
-2

4

O
c
t-

2
4

N
o
v
-2

4

D
e
c
-2

4

J
a
n
-2

5

F
e
b
-2

5

M
a
r-

2
5

Total Applications 

Received 181

Percentage achieved 

against Local and 

National Targets A
p
r-

2
4

M
a
y
-2

4

J
u
n
-2

4

J
u
l-
2
4

A
u
g
-2

4

S
e
p
-2

4

O
c
t-

2
4

N
o
v
-2

4

D
e
c
-2

4

J
a
n
-2

5

F
e
b
-2

5

M
a
r-

2
5

National 

Designation 

Targets (set 

by 

Government)

Major % 100% Major % 60%

Minor and Other % 88% Minor % 70%

A
p
r-

2
4

M
a
y
-2

4

J
u
n
-2

4

J
u
l-
2
4

A
u
g
-2

4

S
e
p
-2

4

O
c
t-

2
4

N
o
v
-2

4

D
e
c
-2

4

J
a
n
-2

5

F
e
b
-2

5

M
a
r-

2
5

Total number of 

appeal decisions 

(Monthly) 6

Number Allowed 

against our refusal 

(Monthly) 2

Total number of 

appeal decisions 

(Cumulative) 6

Number Allowed 

against our refusal 

(Cumulative) 2

Cumulative Performance

( calculated from April 2024 )

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 N

o
.  7

D

P
age 184


	Agenda
	5 Minutes - 10 April 2024
	6 Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee
	East Herts Council Report
	Date of Meeting: 	19 June 2024
	Report by: 		Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building 				Control
	Report title:		Planning Applications for Consideration by the 				Committee
	Ward(s) affected:	All
	Summary
	RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:
	A recommendation is detailed separately for each application and determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out for each agenda item.
	1.0	Proposal(s)
	2.0	Background
	3.0 	Reason(s)
	4.0 	Options
	5.0 	Risks
	6.0 	Implications/Consultations
	Community Safety
	Data Protection
	Equalities
	Environmental Sustainability
	Financial
	Health and Safety
	Human Resources
	Human Rights
	Legal
	Specific Wards

	7.0 	Background papers, appendices and other relevant material
	Contact Member	Councillor Vicky Glover-Ward, Executive Member for Planning and Growth
	vicky.glover-ward@eastherts.gov.uk
	Contact Officer  	Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building Control, Tel: 01992 531656
	Report Author		Peter Mannings, Democratic Services Officer, 				Tel: 01279 502174





	6a 3/23/2108/FUL - Erection of 60 residential units (Use Class C3) with creation of access, car parking, landscaping, amenity and open space, substation, pedestrian/cycle paths and associated development. Provision of footbridge across the River Beane at Land at Walkern Road, Watton-at-Stone, Hertfordshire
	3232108FUL Plan

	6b 3/24/0490/HH - External Air Source Heat Pump unit at the property at 18B Bengeo Street, Hertford, Hertfordshire, SG14 3ES
	3240490HH Plan

	7 Items for Reporting and Noting
	Appeals Decided - March-April (inspectorate reports)
	Appeal Decision - 3319776.pdf (p.1-5)
	Decision
	1. The appeal is dismissed.
	Application for Costs

	2. An application for costs was made by Mr Angus Hudson of Sworders against East Hertfordshire District Council. This application is the subject of a separate decision.
	Preliminary Matters

	3. As the appeal relates to a listed building consent I have had special regard to section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act).
	4. Since the determination of the application, the Government published a revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) on 19 December 2023 and updated it on 20 December 2023. Those parts of the Framework most relevant to this appeal have...
	Main Issue

	5. The main issue in this appeal is whether the proposal would preserve a  Grade II* listed building, “The Gatehouse Range at Hadham Hall 60 Metres West of Hadham Hall” (Ref: 1211100) (the LB), and any of the features of special architectural or histo...
	Reasons

	6. The LB dates from the early 16th century and is part of a manorial complex that has experienced significant change over time. It contains a gateway, which separates the building into two halves. The eastern half of the LB, which is the subject of t...
	7. A significant part of the special interest of the building is derived from the principal roof trusses. These arch-braced collar trusses are atypical for the period and demonstrate a high level of craftsmanship.  The wider fabric of the building als...
	8. Given the above, I find the special interest of the building, insofar as it relates to this appeal, to be primarily associated with the evidential and aesthetic value of historic construction materials and techniques that have been used. I find tha...
	9. In 2007 the Council granted Listed Building Consent for internal alterations0F . Subsequently, in 2010 a revised application1F  for internal alterations was submitted and approved (the 2010 permission). Both permissions included works to create a s...
	10. However, the 2010 permission has been in place for a considerable period of time without the bulk of the works being implemented. Further, the appellants have, over a period of time subsequent to that permission, sought to secure an alternative to...
	11. The current proposal would insert a second floor, extending the existing staircase to access it, together with various other alterations to the ground floor and the insertion of two windows into the roof.
	12. The insertion of a second floor would reflect more closely the form of the building following the addition of the 17th century cross beams. However, from the drawings, the joists would be positioned on top of the beams, rather than between them as...
	13. The north elevation of the east range has a clay tile roof with a clay tile ridge. The roof tiles show signs of patch repairs but are relatively uniform although probably of late 19th or early 20th century date. The proposal would insert two furth...
	14. The insertion of the additional windows would further disrupt the roof form and its appearance, both when observed from outside and within and this amounts to harm to the aesthetic character of the LB. Further, the additional windows would further...
	15. The doors on the north elevation of the LB would be replaced with a glazed window. Whilst the existing doors are relatively modern, they are solid. There is no evidence before me to demonstrate that a glazed door has been present at any previous t...
	16. A screen in the current lobby would be relocated to a position closer to the main entrance and the area given over to form a reception area. A door would be fitted into the new, glazed screen. The screen would divide the lobby area without regard ...
	17. I note that an earlier oak staircase serving the building, which is partly dismantled and stored in that location, would be removed as a result. This would result in a loss of the earlier fabric of the building, albeit that storage of the material...
	18. The staircase will lead to the first floor with a kitchenette replacing one of the WCs and access created through a blocked former doorway to a storage area above the lobby and reception. This will involve the removal of a section of 20th century ...
	19. The proposal would remove partitioning installed as part of the 1992 conversion and reconfigure the layout with partitions featuring a large proportion of glazing. This would provide a greater feeling of spaciousness and appreciation of the earlie...
	20. A disused doorway connecting the lobby to the current office would be closed off and become a cupboard. This doorway is modern. These changes would not necessitate removal of older building fabric. I am satisfied that their appearance and impact c...
	21. Overall, I find that the proposed development would fail to preserve the special interest of the listed buildings. Consequently, I give this harm considerable importance and weight in the planning balance of these appeals.
	22. Paragraph 205 of the Framework advises that when considering the impact of development on the significance of designated heritage assets, great weight should be given to their conservation. Paragraph 206 goes on to advise that significance can be ...
	23. Paragraph 208 of the Framework advises that this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, which includes the securing of optimal viable use of listed buildings.
	24. The proposal would provide additional floorspace for the current business operating from the LB. However, there is no evidence before me to demonstrate that the business is at risk without the proposed works.
	25. Given the above and in the absence of public benefits that outweigh the harm that I have identified, I conclude that, on balance, the proposal would fail to preserve the special historic interest of the Grade II* listed building. This would fail t...
	26. The appellants argue that the 2010 permission, which is still extant, could be implemented in full and that it would have a greater adverse impact on the LB than the current proposal.
	27. Externally and on the proposed second floor, the current proposal and the 2010 permission would have very similar effect.
	28. However, the 2010 permission would breach a 15th century internal wall to create an opening close to an existing splayed window. It would again breach this wall on the first floor. Given the scarcity of buildings from this period and the evidentia...
	29. The oak staircase would be re-used to form access to the first floor. However, in so doing there would be further loss of historic ceiling fabric to create the necessary opening and a number of historic joists would be removed to create the stairw...
	30. Given the scale of change to the external appearance, the magnitude of loss and importance of the historic fabric, that the roof trusses would remain largely visible, albeit separated visually by a floor and that the 2010 permission also effects h...
	31. In conclusion, whilst I find that the proposal would fail to preserve the special interest of the LB, the overall harm to the LB resulting from the current proposal would be less than that of the 2010 permission, were it to be implemented in full....
	Conclusion

	32. For the above reasons and having regard to all other matters raised I conclude that the appeals should be dismissed.
	I A Dyer
	INSPECTOR

	Cost Decision - 3319776.pdf (p.6-7)
	Decision
	1. The application for an award of costs is refused.
	Reasons

	2. Paragraph 30 of the government’s Planning Practice Guidance advises that, irrespective of the outcome of the appeal, costs may be awarded where a party has behaved unreasonably and that unreasonable behaviour has directly caused another party to in...
	3. The appellants are seeking a full award of costs against the Local Planning Authority as they consider that the Council acted unreasonably in failing to appropriately consider the fallback position of implementing a permission granted in 20100F  (t...
	4. The Council were aware of the 2010 permission and does not dispute that it is implementable in the alternative to the current proposal. This is referred to in both the Officer’s Report and the comments of their Conservation Officer.  However, they ...
	5. The appellants have tested the Council’s decision through the appeal process. It will be seen that I have come to a similar overall conclusion to the Council. The Council have, through the provision of the Officers Report, the comments of its Conse...
	6. I do not consider that any of the evidence provided by the appellants was unnecessary or that additional unnecessary or wasted expense was incurred in the provision of that evidence.
	Conclusion
	7. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or wasted expense, as described in the Planning Practice Guidance, has not been demonstrated.
	I A Dyer
	INSPECTOR

	3323002 and 3323013 Appeal Decisions.pdf (p.8-12)
	3323073 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.13-18)
	3321041 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.19-22)
	Appeal Decision-3327791-Dismissed.pdf (p.23-25)
	3319338 - Appeal Decision .pdf (p.26-30)
	3320291 Final Decision.pdf (p.31-34)
	APPEAL DECISION 3323512.pdf (p.35-38)
	APPEAL DECISION- 3331929-DISMISSED.pdf (p.39-42)
	APPEAL DECISION 3335999.pdf (p.43-45)
	APPEAL DECISION 3336160.pdf (p.46-48)
	APPEAL DECISION 3339132.pdf (p.49-51)
	APPEAL DECISION 3336925.pdf (p.52-54)
	3327490 Final Decision.pdf (p.55-62)
	3322745 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.63-66)
	3324262 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.67-71)
	3323561 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.72-74)
	3322197 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.75-82)
	3325134 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.83-85)

	Appeals Lodged March-April 2024
	Appeal Hearing Dates (May 2024)
	New Cumulative Figures April 2024


